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MARICO LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED AUDITORS' REPORT
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Board of Directors of Marico Limited

1. We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements (the “Consolidated Financial Statements”) of Marico 
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries; hereinafter referred to as the “Group” (refer Note 2 to the attached consolidated 
financial statements) which comprise the consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2013, the consolidated Statement of 
Profit and Loss and the consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information which we have signed under reference to this report.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. The Company’s Management is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows of the Group 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in India. This responsibility includes the design, implementation 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those Standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by Management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

5. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion

6. We report that the consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Company’s Management in accordance 
with the requirements of Accounting Standard (AS) 21 – ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ notified under Section 211(3C) 
of the Companies Act, 1956.

7. Based on our audit and on consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements and on the other 
financial information of the components of the Group as referred to in paragraph 9 below, and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us, in our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a 
true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

 (a) in the case of the consolidated Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2013;

 (b) in the case of the consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss, of the profit for the year ended on that date; and

 (c) in the case of the consolidated Cash Flow Statement, of the cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Other Matters

8. We did not audit the financial statements of sixteen subsidiaries and a subsidiary firm included in the consolidated financial 
statements, which constitute total assets of Rs. 611.22 Crores and net assets of Rs. 194.94 Crores as at March 31, 2013, 
total revenue of Rs. 929.93 Crores, net lossof Rs.0.32 Crores and net cash inflows amounting to Rs.95.97 Crores for the year 
then ended. These financial statements and other financial information have been audited by other auditors whose reports 
have been furnished to us, and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements to the extent they have been derived 
from such financial statements is based solely on the report of such other auditors.

9. We did not audit the financial statements of three subsidiaries which constitute total assets of Rs. 125.13 Crores and net assets 
of Rs.86.31 Crores as at March 31, 2013, total revenue of Rs. 226.80 Crores, net profitof Rs.25.75 Crores and net cash 
inflows amounting to Rs.46.80 Crores for the year then ended. The unaudited financial information has been provided to us 
by the management, and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements to the extent they relate to these subsidiariesis 
based solely on such unaudited financial information furnished to us.

  For Price Waterhouse
 Firm Registration Number: 301112E
  Chartered Accountants

Uday Shah
Place : Mumbai  Partner
Date  : April 30, 2013  Membership Number : 46061
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

As per our attached report of even date.

For Price Waterhouse For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants HARSH MARIWALA Chairman and Managing Director
Firm Registration No. 301112E NIKHIL KHATTAU Director and Chairman of Audit Committee
   MILIND SARWATE Group Chief Financial Officer
UDAY SHAH HEMANGI GHAG Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
Partner  
Membership No. 46061
Place : Mumbai Place : Mumbai
Date  : April 30, 2013 Date  : April 30, 2013

 As at March 31,
  Note 2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ funds
Share capital 4  64.48  61.49
Reserves and surplus 5  1,917.02  1,081.52

 1,981.50  1,143.01
Minority Interest  35.14  24.90

Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings 6  432.63  390.67
Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 16  5.79  –
Other long term liabilities 7  0.98  0.63
Long-term provisions 8  10.47  41.93

 449.87  433.23
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings 9  358.08  371.58
Trade payables 10  478.47  358.37
Other current liabilities 11  293.27  208.19
Short-term provisions 12  110.90  77.74

 1,240.72  1,015.88

TOTAL   3,707.23  2,617.02

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Fixed assets

Tangible assets 13 (A)  461.76  373.34
Intangible assets 13 (B)  813.00  88.33
Capital work-in-progress  147.68  40.17

 1,422.44  501.84
Goodwill on consolidation 14  395.52  395.49
Non-current investments 15  38.03  29.39
Deferred tax assets (Net) 16 –  22.34
Long-term loans and advances 17  119.39  124.39
Other non-current assets 18  142.62  123.41

 2,118.00  1,196.86
Current assets
Current investments 19  113.60  266.26
Inventories 20  862.69  720.22
Trade receivables 21  196.55  208.28
Cash and bank balances 22  266.75  132.10
Short-term loans and advances 23  136.08  75.11
Other current assets 24  13.56  18.19

 1,589.23  1,420.16

TOTAL   3,707.23  2,617.02
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

As per our attached report of even date.

For Price Waterhouse For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants HARSH MARIWALA Chairman and Managing Director
Firm Registration No. 301112E NIKHIL KHATTAU Director and Chairman of Audit Committee
   MILIND SARWATE Group Chief Financial Officer
UDAY SHAH HEMANGI GHAG Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
Partner  
Membership No. 46061
Place : Mumbai Place : Mumbai
Date  : April 30, 2013 Date  : April 30, 2013

 For the year ended March 31,

  Note 2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Revenue from operations (Gross) 25  4,598.98  3,981.03
Less : Excise duty  2.80  1.36
Revenue from operations (Net)  4,596.18  3,979.67
Other income 26  37.53  32.57

Total Revenue   4,633.71  4,012.24

Expenses:
Cost of materials consumed 27 (A)  2,220.79  2,164.88
Purchases of stock-in-trade 27 (B)  116.60  17.44
Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock-in-
trade - (Increase) / decrease

27 (C)  (127.46)  (50.78)

Employee benefits expenses 28  380.56  307.29
Finance costs 29  58.02  42.39
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 30  86.62  72.52
Other expenses 31  1,379.91  1,056.44

Total Expenses   4,115.04  3,610.18

Profit before exceptional and extraordinary items and tax  518.67  402.06
Exceptional items (expenses)/ income 38  33.21  (1.75)
Profit before tax  551.88  400.31
Consists of:
- Discontinuing operations  (33.12)  (39.95)
- Continuing operations  585.00  440.26

 551.88  400.31
Tax expense:
Current tax  131.87  94.81
Less: MAT credit (entitlement) / utilisation  (13.31)  (22.33)
Less: Prior period tax adjustments –  (1.55)
Net current tax  118.56  70.93
Deferred tax charge  27.63  7.32

 146.19  78.25 
Profit after tax and before Minority interest  405.69  322.06

Consists of:
- Discontinuing operations  (37.04)  (43.78)
- Continuing operations  442.73  365.84

 405.69  322.06

Less: Minority interest  (9.83)  (4.95)

Profit for the year   395.86  317.11
Earnings per equity share (Nominal value per share Re. 1 (Re. 1)) 41
Basic  6.18  5.16
Diluted  6.17  5.15
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
   

For the year ended March 31,

 2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

A CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION AND AFTER EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS  551.88  400.31 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  86.62  72.52 

Provision for impairment relating to skin clinics in 
India / Middle East (Refer note 38(b))

 17.45  1.75 

Surplus on change in method of depreciation (Refer note 38(a))  (37.45)  –   

Reversal of impairment loss on “Fiancee” trade mark (Refer note 38(c))  (9.05)  –   

Finance costs  58.02  42.39 

Interest income  (22.91)  (17.55)

Loss on sale of assets - (net)  0.39  0.58 

(Profit) / Loss on sale of current investments (net)  (4.74)  (1.20)

Dividend income  (8.46)  (12.15)

Employees stock option charge/ (reversal)  (0.02)  (0.04)

Stock appreciation rights expenses  4.59  5.94 

Provision for doubtful debts, advances, deposits and others no longer
required written back

0.76  (1.03)   

 85.20  91.21 

Operating profit before working capital changes  637.08  491.51 

Adjustments for:

(Increase)/ decrease in inventories  (142.47)  (119.08)

(Increase)/ decrease in trade receivables  10.97  (29.84)

(Increase)/ decrease in loans and advances, other current and
non-current assets and other bank balances

 (113.13)  15.08 

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables and other current and
non-current liabilities and provisions

 149.40  153.22 

Changes in working capital  (95.23)  19.38 

Cash generated from Operations  541.85  510.90 

Taxes paid (net of refunds)  (109.99)  (110.01)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  431.86  400.89 

B CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of fixed assets  (991.51)  (102.12)

Sale of fixed assets  21.17  0.05 

Effect of translation differences on fixed assets  (7.92)  (16.71)

(Purchase) / Sale of investments (net)  148.43  (205.65)

Goodwill on consolidation  (0.02)  (1.02)

Inter-corporate deposits placed  –    (10.00)

Deposit in escrow account for acquisition  25.00  (25.00)

Advance to WEOMA Trust  (56.52)  (19.92)

Dividend income received  8.46  12.15 

Interest received  20.58  16.22 

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (832.33)  (352.00)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

As per our attached report of even date.

For Price Waterhouse For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants HARSH MARIWALA Chairman and Managing Director
Firm Registration No. 301112E NIKHIL KHATTAU Director and Chairman of Audit Committee
   MILIND SARWATE Group Chief Financial Officer
UDAY SHAH HEMANGI GHAG Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
Partner  
Membership No. 46061
Place : Mumbai Place : Mumbai
Date  : April 30, 2013 Date  : April 30, 2013

For the year ended March 31,

 2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

C CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of Share capital (ESOP + Preferencial allotment) 
after adjusting share issue expenses

 497.94  3.09 

Issue / (Redemption) of commercial papers (net)  42.50  (92.99)

Increase / (decrease) in Minority interest  0.41  (1.86)

Issue of Debentures / (redemption)  50.00  (30.00)

Other borrowings (repaid) / taken (net)  (24.00)  94.73 

Finance costs paid  (57.59)  (44.67)

Equity dividend paid (inclusive of dividend distribution tax)  (67.01)  (46.99)

NET CASH (OUTFLOW) / INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  442.25  (118.69)

D Effect of exchange difference on translation of foreign currency cash 

and cash equivalents
 2.45  (3.76)

E NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS 

(A+B+C+D)
 44.23  (73.56)

F Cash and cash equivalents - opening balance (as at April 1) (Refer note 22)  60.74  134.30 

G Cash and cash equivalents - closing balance (as at March 31) 

(Refer note 22)
 104.97  60.74 

Notes

1 The above Cash Flow statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in Accounting Standard 
3 (AS 3) ‘Cash Flow Statements’ as specified in Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules , 2006.

2 The figures for the previous year have been regrouped where necessary to conform to current year’s classification.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. The Group and nature of its operations:

 Marico Limited (herein after referred to as ‘the Company’), headquartered in Mumbai, Maharashtra, India, 

together with its subsidiaries is referred as ‘Marico’ or ‘Group’. Marico Limited carries on business in branded 

consumer products and services. In India, Marico Limited manufactures and markets products under the brands 

such as Parachute, Nihar, Saffola, Hair & Care, Revive, Mediker, Livon and Set-wet. Marico’s international portfolio 

includes brands such as Fiancée, HairCode, Camelia, Aromatic, Caivil, Hercules, Black Chic, Ingwe, Code 10, 

X-men, L’Ovite and Thuan Phat. It is present in Skin Care solutions business under the brand name Kaya in India 

and international markets and the brand name Derma Rx in Singapore and Malaysia.

2. Subsidiaries considered in Consolidated Financial Statements:

 (i) List of subsidiary companies:

Name of the Company Effective date 
for acquisition / 
incorporation

Holding 
Company

Country of 
incorporation

Percentage 
of ownership 

interest

Marico Bangladesh Limited 
(MBL)

September 6, 1999 Marico Limited Bangladesh 90 (90)

Marico Middle East FZE 
(MME)

November 8, 2005 Marico Limited UAE 100 (100)

-Kaya Middle East FZE 
(KME) (Refer Note 45 
below)

December 25, 2005 MME UAE 100 (100)

-MBL Industries Limited 
(MBLIL)

August 2, 2003 MME Bangladesh 100 (100)

-MEL Consumer Care SAE 
(MELCC)

October 1, 2006 MME Egypt 100 (100)

-Marico Egypt Industries 
Company (MEIC)

January 1, 2008 MELCC Egypt 100 (100)

-Egyptian American 
Investment & Industrial 
Development Company 
(EAIIDC)

December 19, 2006 MME Egypt 100 (100)

-Marico Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. 
(MMSB)

December 4, 2009 MME Malaysia 100 (100)

Marico South Africa 
Consumer Care (Pty) 
Limited (MSACC)

October 17, 2007 Marico Limited South Africa 100 (100)

-Marico South Africa (Pty) 
Limited (MSA)

November 1, 2007 MSACC South Africa 100 (100)

-CPF International (Pty) 
Limited (CPF)

November 1, 2007 
(Up to January 16, 
2012)

MSACC South Africa Nil * (Nil *)

Kaya Limited March 27, 2003 Marico Limited India 100 (100)
-Derma – Rx International 
Aesthetics Pte. Limited 
(DIAL)

May 22, 2010 Kaya Limited Singapore 100 (100)

-The DRx Clinic Pte. Limited 
(DCPL)

May 25, 2010 DIAL Singapore 100 (100)

-The DRx Medispa Pte. 
Limited (DMSPL)

May 25, 2010 DIAL Singapore 100 (100)

-DRx Investments Pte. 
Limited (DIPL)

May 25, 2010 DIAL Singapore 100 (100)

-DRx Aesthetics Sdn. Bhd. 
(DASB)

May 25, 2010 DCPL Malaysia 100 (100)
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Name of the Company Effective date 
for acquisition / 
incorporation

Holding 
Company

Country of 
incorporation

Percentage 
of ownership 

interest

International Consumer 
Products Corporation (ICP)

February 18, 2011 Marico Limited Vietnam 85 (85)

-Beaute Cosmetique 
Societe Par Actions (BCS)

February 18, 2011 ICP
99% equity 
held by ICP 
(Previous Year: 
99%)

Vietnam 84.15 (84.15)

-Thuan Phat Foodstuff Joint 
Stock company (TPF)

February 18, 2011 ICP
99.73% equity 
held by ICP 
(Previous Year: 
98.6%)

Vietnam 84.77 (83.81)

Marico Consumer Care 
Limited (MCCL) (Refer Note 
36)

April, 20 2012 Marico Limited India 100 (–)

-Halite Personal Care India 
Private Limited
(Refer Note 36)

May 29, 2012 MCCL India 100 (–)

  * CPF was de-registered during the previous year, which has no impact on the consolidated financial statements 

as the said company has no operations.

 (ii) List of Subsidiary firm:

Name of the Company Effective date for 
acquisition

Holding 
Company

Country of 
incorporation

Percentage 
of ownership 

interest

Wind Company May 16, 2005 MELCC Egypt 99 (99)

 (iii) The effect of the subsidiaries formed / acquired during the year is as under:

Name of the Subsidiaries Net Profit
(Rs. Crore)

Net assets
(Rs. Crore)

Marico Consumers Care Limited (Refer note 36) 3.29
(–)

747.67
(–)

Halite Personal Care India Private Limited (Refer note 36) 9.39
(–)

0.49
(–)

Total 12.68
(–)

748.16
(–)

 (iv) The Board of Directors of the Company in their Board Meeting held on March 15, 2013, approved Marico 

Limited becoming a member of The Marico Innovation Foundation (“MIF”), a company incorporated under 

Section 25 of the Companies Act, 1956 (being a private company limited by guarantee not having share 

capital) primarily with an objective of fuelling and promoting innovation in India and MIF became a wholly 

owned subsidiary of the Company with effect from the said date. Marico Limited controls the composition of 

the Board of MIF and has accordingly appointed two directors as its nominees.

  Since MIF cannot transfer funds to Marico Limited, it has not been considered for consolidation in accordance 

with Accounting Standard 21 (AS 21) ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies:

 (a) Basis of preparation of Financial Statements

  The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) 
in India under the historical cost convention on an accrual basis, except for certain financial instruments which 
are measured at fair values and are in conformity with mandatory accounting standards, as prescribed by the 
Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006, the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 and guidelines 
issued by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI).

  All assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non-current as per the Company’s normal operating 
cycle and other criteria set out in the Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956.

 (b) Basis of preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements

  The Consolidated Financial Statements relate to the Company and its subsidiaries and have been prepared on 
the following basis:

  i) In respect of Subsidiary companies, the financial statements have been consolidated on a line-by-line 
basis by adding together the book values of like items of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, after 
fully eliminating intra-group balances and unrealised profits / losses on intra-group transactions as per 
Accounting Standard (AS 21) “Consolidated Financial Statements”. The results of subsidiaries are included 
from the date of acquisition of a controlling interest.

  ii) In case of foreign subsidiaries, being Non-Integral Foreign Operations, revenue items are consolidated at 
the average rate prevailing during the year. All asset and liabilities are converted at the rate prevailing at 
the end of the year. The resultant translation gains and losses are shown separately as ‘Foreign Currency 
Translation Reserve’ under ‘Reserves and Surplus’.

  iii) The excess of cost to the Group of its investments in subsidiary companies over its share of equity and 
reserves of its subsidiary companies at the dates on which investments are made, is recognised in the 
financial statements as Goodwill, which is tested for impairment at every balance sheet date. The excess 
of Group’s share of equity and reserves of its subsidiary companies over the cost of acquisition is treated 
as Capital Reserve.

  iv) Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries consist of the amount of equity attributable 
to the minority shareholders at the dates on which investments are made by the Company in the subsidiary 
companies and further movements in their share in the equity, subsequent to the dates of investments.

  v) The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting policies for like 
transactions and other events in similar circumstances and are presented to the extent possible, in the 
same manner as the Company’s separate financial statements, except in case of Marico Middle East FZE, 
Marico Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., where costs of inventories are ascertained on FIFO instead of weighted average 
basis. These inventories represent 0.20% (0.05%) of the total consolidated inventories of the Group as at 
the year end.

 (c) Use of estimates

  The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported balances of assets and liabilities and disclosures relating to contingent 
assets and liabilities as at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of income and expenses 
during the period. Examples of such estimates include provisions for doubtful debts, future obligations under 
employee retirement benefit plans, income taxes, the useful lives and provision for impairment of fixed assets 
and intangible assets.

  Management believes that the estimates used in the preparation of financial statements are prudent and 
reasonable. Future results could differ from these estimates.

 (d) Tangible assets, intangible assets and capital work-in-progress

  Tangible assets and intangible assets are stated at cost of acquisition, less accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
and impairments, if any. Cost includes taxes, duties, freight and other incidental expenses related to acquisition 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013
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and installation. Borrowing costs attributable to acquisition, construction of qualifying asset are capitalised 
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. Other pre-operative expenses for 
major projects are also capitalised, where appropriate.

  Capital work-in-progress comprises cost of fixed assets that are not yet ready for their intended use at the year end.

 (e) Depreciation and amortisation

  I. Tangible assets

   (i) Depreciation in respect of assets of Indian entities viz, Marico Limited, Kaya Limited, Marico Consumer 
Care Limited and Halite Personal Care Limited is provided on a straight line basis at higher of the rates 
based on useful lives of the assets as estimated by the management or those stipulated in Schedule 
XIV to the Companies Act, 1956. The depreciation rates considered for the following items are higher 
than the rates stipulated in Schedule XIV to the Companies Act, 1956:

Asset Rates (p.a.)
Computer hardware and related peripherals 33.33%
Moulds 16.21%
Office equipment 10 % - 50%
Technologically advanced machinery 14.29% - 33.33%
Furniture and fixtures (including leasehold improvements) 11.11% - 12.50%
Vehicles 20%

   (ii) Depreciation in respect of assets of foreign subsidiaries is provided on a straight line basis based on 
useful life of the assets as estimated by the management here under:

Asset Rates (p.a.)

Buildings 4% - 20%

Plant and machinery 6.67% - 50%

Furniture and fixtures (including leasehold improvements) 6.67% - 50%

Vehicles 10% - 33%

   (iii) Assets individually costing Rs. 5,000 or less are depreciated fully in the year of acquisition.

   (iv) Leasehold land, including land use right included under the head Investment Property, is amortised 
over the primary period of the lease.

   (v) Fixtures in leasehold premises are amortised over the primary period of the lease.

   (vi) The Company has during the year changed the method of depreciation on certain assets (Refer note 38 (a)).

 II. Intangible assets

  Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis at the rates based on estimated useful lives of respective 
assets, but not exceeding the period given here under:

Assets Rates (p.a.)
Trademarks, copyrights and business and commercial rights and other intangibles 10% to 14.28%
Computer software 33.33% to 50%

  A rebuttable presumption that the useful life of an intangible asset will not exceed ten years from the date 
when the asset is available for use is considered by the management.

 (f) Assets taken on lease

  (i) The assets taken on finance lease are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair 
value of the leased asset and present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding amount 
is shown as lease liabilities. The principal component in the lease rental is adjusted against the lease 
liability and the interest component is charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss.

  (ii) Operating lease payments are recognised as expenditure in the Statement of Profit and Loss as per the 

terms of the respective lease agreement. Initial direct costs incurred by the Company for operating lease 
arrangements are amortised over a non-cancellable period of the agreement.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013
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 (g) Assets given on lease

  In respect of Plant and equipment given on operating lease basis, lease rentals are accounted on accrual 
basis in accordance with the respective lease agreements.

 (h) Investment property

  Investment in land use right and buildings that are not intended to be occupied substantially for use by, or in 
the operations of, the Company, have been classified as Investment property. Investment properties are carried 
at cost less amortisation. Refer note 3(e) for depreciation rates used for leasehold land and buildings.

 (i) Investments

  (i) Long term investments are valued at cost. Provision for diminution, if any, in the value of investments is 
made to recognize a decline in value, other than temporary.

  (ii) Current investments are valued at lower of cost and fair value, computed individually for each investment. 
In case of investments in mutual funds which are unquoted, net asset value is taken as fair value.

 (j) Inventories

  (i) Raw materials, packing materials, stores and spares and consumables are valued at lower of cost and 
net realizable value. However, these items are considered to be realizable at cost if the finished products 
in which they will be used are expected to be sold at or above cost.

  (ii) Work-in-process, finished goods, and stock-in-trade (traded goods) are valued at lower of cost and net 
realizable value.

  (iii) By-products and unserviceable / damaged finished goods are valued at net realizable value.

  (iv) Cost is ascertained on weighted average method and in case of work-in-process includes appropriate 
production overheads and in case of finished goods includes appropriate production overheads and 
excise duty, wherever applicable. In case of Marico Middle East FZE and Marico Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. costs 
of inventories are ascertained on FIFO instead of weighted average basis.

 (k) Research and development

  Capital expenditure on research and development is capitalised and depreciated as per the accounting policy 
mentioned in note 3(d) and 3(e) above. Revenue expenditure is charged off in the year in which it is incurred.

 (l) Revenue recognition

  (i) Domestic sales are recognised at the point of dispatch of goods to the customers, which is when substantial 
risks and rewards of ownership passed to the customers, and are stated net of trade discounts, rebates, 
sales tax, value added tax and excise duty.

  (ii) Export sales are recognised based on the date of bill of lading except, sales to Nepal which are recognised 
when the goods cross the Indian Territory, which is when substantial risks and rewards of ownership 
passed to the customers.

  (iii) Revenue from services is recognised on rendering of the services and is recorded net of discount and 
service tax.

  (iv) Interest and other income are recognised on accrual basis.

  (v) Income from export incentives such as premium on sale of import licences, duty drawback etc. are 
recognised on accrual basis to the extent the ultimate realisation is reasonably certain.

  (vi) Dividend income is recongnised when right to receive dividend is established.

 (m) Retirement and other benefits to employees

  (i) Gratuity

   Liabilities with regard to the gratuity benefits payable in future are determined by actuarial valuation at 
each Balance Sheet date using the Projected Unit Credit method. Actuarial gains and losses arising from 
changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013



39

MARICO LIMITED

they arise. Gratuity liability in respect of Marico Limited is funded and in respect of other subsidiaries 
gratuity liability is unfunded.

  (ii) Superannuation

   The Company makes contribution to the Superannuation Scheme, a defined contribution scheme, 
administered by ICICI Prudential Life Insurance Company Limited. The Company has no obligation to 
the scheme beyond its monthly contributions.

  (iii) Leave encashment / Compensated absences

   The Company provides for the encashment of leave with pay subject to certain rules. The employees are 
entitled to accumulate leave subject to certain limits, for future encashment / availment. The liability is 
provided based on the number of days of unutilized leave at each balance sheet date on the basis of an 
independent actuarial valuation.

  (iv) Provident fund

   Provident fund contributions are made to a trust administered by the Company. The Company’s liability 
is actuarially determined (using the Projected Unit Credit method) at the end of the year and any shortfall 
in the fund size maintained by the Trust set up by the Company is additionally provided for. Actuarial 
losses and gains are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the year in which they arise.

 (n) Foreign currency transactions

  (i) Transactions in foreign currencies are recognised at the prevailing exchange rates on the transaction 
dates. Realised gains and losses on settlement of foreign currency transactions are recognised in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss.

  (ii) Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities at the year end are translated at the year end exchange 
rates and the resultant exchange differences except those qualifying for hedge accounting are recognised 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

  (iii) In case of forward contracts with underlying assets or liabilities, the difference between the forward rate 
and the exchange rate on the date of inception of a forward contract is recognised as income or expense 
and is amortised over the life of the contract. Exchange differences on such contracts are recognised in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss in the year in which they arise. Any profit or loss arising on cancellation 
or renewal of forward exchange contracts are recognised as income or expense for the period.

  (iv) The Company uses forward and options contracts to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency 
transactions relating to certain firm commitments and forecasted transactions. The Company also uses 
Interest rates swap contracts to hedge its interest rate risk exposure. The Company designates these as cash 
flow hedges. These contracts are marked to market as at the year end and resultant exchange differences, 
to the extent they represent effective portion of the hedge, are recognised directly in ‘Hedge Reserve’. The 
ineffective portion of the same is recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

  (v) Exchange differences taken to Hedge Reserve account are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss 
upon crystallization of firm commitments or occurrence of forecasted transactions or upon discontinuation 
of hedge accounting resulting from expiry / sale / termination of hedge instrument or upon hedge 
becoming ineffective.

 (o) Accounting for taxes on income

  i) Current income tax expense comprises taxes on income from operations in India and in foreign jurisdictions. 
Income tax payable in India is made, based on the tax payable under the Income Tax Act, 1961. Minimum 
Alternative Tax (MAT) credit, which is equal to the excess of MAT (calculated in accordance with provisions 
of Section 115JB of the Income tax Act, 1961) over normal income tax is recognised as an asset by 
crediting the Statement of Profit and Loss only when and to the extent there is convincing evidence that 
the Company will be able to avail the said credit against normal tax payable during the period of ten 
succeeding assessment years.
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  ii) Deferred tax on timing differences between taxable income and accounting income is accounted for, using 
the tax rates and the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted as on the balance sheet date. Deferred 
tax assets on unabsorbed tax losses and unabsorbed tax depreciation are recognised only when there 
is a virtual certainty of their realisation. Other deferred tax assets are recognised only when there is a 
reasonable certainty of their realisation.

 (p) Impairment

  The Company reviews the carrying values of tangible and intangible assets for any possible impairment at 
each balance sheet date. An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of net selling price and value in use. In assessing 
the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value at appropriate discount 
rates. If at the balance sheet date there is an indication that a previously assessed impairment loss no longer 
exists, the recoverable amount is reassessed and the asset is reflected at the recoverable amount.

 (q) Employee Stock Option Plan

  In respect of stock options granted pursuant to the Company’s Employee Stock Option Scheme, the intrinsic 
value of the options (excess of market value of shares over the exercise price of the option at the date of grant) 
is recognised as Employee compensation cost over the vesting period.

 (r) Employee Stock Appreciation Rights Scheme

  In respect of Employee Stock Appreciation Rights granted pursuant to the Company’s Employee Stock 
Appreciation Rights Plan, 2011, the intrinsic value of the rights (excess of market value as at the year end and 
the Grant price) is recognised as Employee compensation cost over the vesting period after amounts adjusting 
for the difference between the amounts due from the Trust and the loan advanced to the Trust.

 (s) Utilization of Securities Premium Reserve

  The Securities Premium Reserve is utilized for paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued as fully 
paid bonus shares, writing off preliminary expenses, writing off expenses on issue of shares or debentures 
and writing of premium on redemption of any redeemable preference shares or debentures of the Company.

 (t) Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

  Contingent Liabilities are disclosed in respect of possible obligations that arise from past events but their 
existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the Company or where any present obligation cannot be measured in terms of 
future outflow of resources or where a reliable estimate of the obligation cannot be made.

  A Provision is made based on a reliable estimate when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle an obligation and in respect of which a reliable estimate can be 
made. Provision is not discounted and is determined based on best estimate required to settle the obligation 
at the year end date. Contingent Assets are not recognised or disclosed in the financial statements.

 (u) Cash and Cash Equivalents

  In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, demand deposits with banks, 
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

 (v) Earnings Per Share

  Basic earnings per share, is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity 
shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period. Earnings 
considered in ascertaining the Company’s earnings per share is the net profit for the period after deducting 
preference dividends and any attributable tax thereto for the period. The weighted average number of equity 
shares outstanding during the period and for all periods presented is adjusted for events, such as bonus 
shares, other than the conversion of potential equity shares, that have changed the number of equity shares 
outstanding, without a corresponding change in resources. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings 
per share, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted average 

number of shares outstanding during the period is adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.
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4 Share capital

          As at March 31,

2013 2012

Rs. Crore Rs. Crore

Authorised

1,150,000,000 (650,000,000) equity shares of Re. 1/- each  115.00  65.00 

100,000,000 (150,000,000) preference shares of Rs. 10/- each 100.00  150.00

Total  215.00  215.00
Issued, subscribed and paid-up
644,771,779 (614,934,387) equity shares of Re. 1/- each fully paid-up 64.48  61.49 

Total 64.48 61.49

 a Reconciliation of number of shares

  Equity Shares :

Particulars As at March 31,

2013 2012

 Number of
shares 

 Rs. Crore  Number of 
shares 

 Rs. Crore 

Balance as at the beginning of the year 614,934,387 61.49 614,399,550 61.44

Shares Issued during the year - ESOP (Refer 

note (d) below)

425,648 0.05 534,837 0.05

Preferential allotment (Refer note 35) 29,411,764 2.94 – –

Balance as at the end of the year 644,771,799 64.48 614,934,387 61.49

 b Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to shares: 

  Equity Shares: The Company has one class of equity shares having a par value of Re. 1 per share. Each 

shareholder is eligible for one vote per share held. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject 

to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting, except in case of interim dividend. 

In the event of liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company 

after distribution of all preferential amounts, in proportion to their shareholding.

 c Details of shares held by shareholders holding more than 5% of the aggregate shares in the Company

Name of Shareholder As at March 31,
2013 2012

 No. of 
Shares held 

% of 
Holding 

No. of 
Shares held

% of 
Holding 

Equity Shares of Re. 1/- each fully paid-up

HARSH C MARIWALA (As a representative of 
Valentine Family Trust)

73,376,000 11.38 73,376,000 11.93

HARSH C MARIWALA (As a representative of 
Aquarius Family Trust)

73,376,000 11.38 73,376,000 11.93

HARSH C MARIWALA (As a representative of 
Taurus Family Trust)

73,376,000 11.38 73,376,000 11.93

HARSH C MARIWALA (As a representative of 
Gemini Family Trust)

73,376,000 11.38 73,376,000 11.93

Arisaig Partners (Asia) Pte Ltd 35,353,269 5.48 35,353,269 5.75

Oppenheimer Developing Markets Fund 
(Royal Bank of Scotland)

30,483,651 4.73 30,906,283 5.03
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 d Shares reserved for issue under options :

  The Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors of Marico Limited has granted Stock Options 

to certain eligible employees pursuant to the Marico ‘Employees Stock Options Scheme 2007’ (“Scheme”). 

Each option represents 1 equity share in the Company. The Vesting period and the Exercise Period both range 

from 1 year to 5 years. 

  The Scheme is administered by the Corporate Governance Committee comprising independent Directors. The 

Scheme closed on February 1, 2013.

        As at March 31,

2013 2012

Weighted average share price of options exercised 57.85 56.98

Number of options granted, exercised and forfeited 

Balance as at beginning of the year 778,313 2,388,050

Granted during the year  –    –   

Less : Exercised during the year 425,648 534,837

         Forfeited / lapsed during the year  – 1,074,900

Balance as at end of the year 352,665 778,313

Percentage to current paid-up equity share capital 0.05% 0.13%

  The Company has applied the intrinsic value based method of accounting for determining compensation cost 

for its stock based compensation plan and has accordingly accounted Rs. (0.02) Crore (Rs. (0.04) Crore) as 

compensation cost under the ‘intrinsic value’ method (Refer note 28). Had the Company considered ‘fair value’ 

method for accounting of compensation cost, the Company’s net income and Basic and Diluted earnings per 

share as reported would have reduced to the pro-forma amounts as indicated:

Particulars For the year ended March 31,
2013 2012

Net Profit after tax as reported (Rs. Crore) 395.86 317.11

Less : Stock-based employee compensation expense (Rs. Crore) 0.31 0.32

Adjusted pro-forma (Rs. Crore) 395.55 316.79

Basic earnings per share as reported Rs. 6.18 Rs. 5.16

Pro-forma basic earnings per share Rs. 6.17 Rs. 5.15

Diluted earnings per share as reported Rs. 6.17 Rs. 5.15

Pro-forma diluted earnings per share Rs. 6.17 Rs. 5.15

  The following assumptions were used for calculation of fair value of grants:

As at March 31,
2013 2012

Risk-free interest rate - Vest 1 (%) 6.61% 6.61%

Risk-free interest rate - Vest 2 (%) 7.27% 7.27%

Expected life of options (years) 5 years 5 years

Expected volatility - Vest 1 (%) 35.32% 35.32%

Expected volatility - Vest 2 (%) 36.92% 36.92%

Dividend yield 1.20% 1.20%

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013



43

MARICO LIMITED

5 Reserves and surplus

        As at March 31,
2013 2012

Rs. Crore Rs. Crore

Securities Premium Reserve

Balance as at the beginning of the year 62.53 59.49

Add : Receipt on issue of shares on preferntial allotment basis (Refer note 35) 497.06 –

Add : Receipt on exercise of Employees Stock Options 2.42 3.03

Less: Amount adjusted towards share issue expenses (net of tax effect of Rs. 0.18) (4.53) –

Less : Premium on redemption of Debentures (net of tax effect of Rs. 0.31) (0.66) –

Add : Transferred from Employee Stock Options outstanding 0.02 0.01

Balance as at the end of the year 556.84 62.53

Debenture Redemption Reserve

Balance as at the beginning of the year 21.67 31.67

Add : Amount transferred from Surplus in the Statement of Profit and Loss 21.30 20.00

Add: Amount transferred to General Reserve on redemption – (30.00)

Balance as at the end of the year 42.97 21.67

Employee Stock Options Outstanding Account (Refer note 4 (d))

Balance as at the beginning of the year 0.02 0.07

Less : Transferred to Securities Premium Reserve on exercise of stock options 0.02 0.01

Less : Forfeited / lapsed during the year – 0.04

Balance as at the end of the year – 0.02

General Reserve

Balance as at the beginning of the year 186.85 123.19

Add : Amount transferred from Surplus in the Statement of Profit and Loss 43.63 33.66

Add: Amount transferred from Debenture Redemption Reserve on redemption – 30.00

Balance as at the end of the year 230.48 186.85

Hedge Reserve (Refer note 39 (c))

Balance as at the beginning of the year (33.92) 4.99

Adjustments during the year (18.57) (38.91)

Balance as at the end of the year (52.49) (33.92)

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Balance as at the beginning of the year (13.62) (9.86)

Exchange gain/(loss) on translation during the year 2.44 (3.76)

Balance as at the end of the year (11.19) (13.62)

Surplus in the Statement of Profit and Loss

Balance as at the beginning of the year 857.99 644.49

Add : Profit during the year 395.86 317.11

Less: Appropriations

Interim dividend 32.24 43.04

Dividend distribution tax on Interim dividend 6.27 6.98

Minority share in accumulated profits (Refer note below) – (0.07)

Transfer to Debenture Redemption Reserve 21.30 20.00

Transfer to General Reserve 43.63 33.66

Balance as at the end of the year 1,150.41 857.99

Total 1,917.02 1,081.52

 Minority share in accumulated profits of Rs. Nil (Rs. 0.07 Crore) represents adjustments relating to earlier year.
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6 Long-term borrowings

        As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Secured

Term loans

From banks

External commercial borrowing from Hongkong Shanghai Banking Corporation
(Loan carries interest @ LIBOR plus 2.1% (Previous year LIBOR plus 2.1%) and is 
secured by (i) Pledge of shares of International Consumer Products Corporation (a 
Subsidiary company) (ii) First ranking pari passu charge over all current and future 
plant and machinery of the Company and (iii) Mortgage on land and building situated 
at Andheri, Mumbai.)

276.83 274.73

The loan is repayable over a period of 6 years commencing from February 28, 2011 
as under:-
1st installment - USD 3 million - payable at the end of 36 months
2nd installment - USD 3 million - payable at the end of 42 months
3rd installment - USD 6 million - payable at the end of 48 months
4th installment - USD 6 million - payable at the end of 54 months
5th installment - USD 9 million - payable at the end of 60 months
6th installment - USD 12 million - payable at the end of 66 months
7th installment - USD 15 million - payable at the end of 72 months
Total Amount - USD 54 million

(Loan amount of USD 3 million as at March  31, 2013 has been disclosed under Other 
Current Liabilities as current maturities of long term debt (Refer Note (11))

Term loan from Citibank N.A.
(Loan carries interest @ ‘Swap Offer Rate’ plus 3% on quarterly basis and is secured 
by (i) fixed charge over all the fixed property and assets of one of the subsidiaries, 
namely, Derma – RX International Aesthetics Pte Ltd. (DIAL) including all machinery 
and equipment of its subsidiaries; (ii) shares held by DIAL in each of its subsidiaries; 
(iii) shares held by Kaya Limited in DIAL and (iv) Corporate guarantee of Marico Limited)

55.80 65.94

(Original loan amount of SGD 17 million was outstanding as at March 31, 2012 which 
was payable in 20 equal quarterly installments of SGD 0.85 million each commencing 
from March 22, 2013 and ending on December 15, 2017. Loan amount outstanding 
of SGD 3.40 million as at March 31, 2013 has been disclosed under Other Current 
Liabilities as Current maturities of long term debt) (Refer note 11)

332.63 340.67
Unsecured

Debentures

500, 10.05%, Rated Taxable Unsecured Redeemable Non-convertible debentures of 
face value of Rs.10,00,000/- each
(The above debentures were issued on March 30, 2011 and are redeemable at par 
after 30 months from the date of issue i.e. by September 30, 2013. Interest on these 
debentures is payable at an interval of 12 months. The debentures are listed on National 
Stock Exchange) (Refer Note (a) below and Note 11)

– 50.00

1,000, 8.95%, Rated Taxable Unsecured Zero Coupon Redeemable Non-convertible 
debentures of face value of Rs. 10,00,000/- each
(The above debentures were issued on February 22, 2013 at Par and are reedeemable 
at premium after 3 years from the date of issue i.e. by February 22, 2016 with a put/
call option at the end of 2 years i.e. February 20, 2015. The debentures are listed on 
National Stock Exchange). The yield on redemption is 8.95% p.a. on XIRR basis)

100.00 –

100.00 50.00
Total 432.63 390.67
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 a The scheduled maturity of long term borrowings is summarized as under:

Rs. Crores

Term 
loan from 
Citibank

ECB from HSBC 
/ SCB

Debentures Total

As on
March 31

As on
March 31

As on
March 31

As on
March 31

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Within one year (Refer Note 
11 - Current Maturities of Long 
Term Debt)

14.88 3.47 16.28 19.08 50.00 – 81.16 22.55

After 1 year but within 2 years 14.88 13.88 48.85 16.28 100.00 50.00 163.73 80.16

After 2 year but within 5 years 40.92 41.64 227.98 258.45 – – 268.90 300.09

More than 5 years – 10.42 – – – – – 10.42

Total 70.68 69.41 293.11 293.81 150.00 50.00 513.79 413.22

7 Other Long Term Liabilities

        As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Advances from customers 0.01 0.63

Premium on redemption of debentures 0.97 –

Total 0.98 0.63

8 Long term provisions

        As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Provision for employee benefits :

Leave Entitlement 0.59 –

Gratuity 5.46 4.10

Employee Stock Appreciation Rights Scheme (Refer Note 40) 1.09 5.96

7.14 10.06

Others:

Provision for equalisation of rent expenses (Refer note (a) below) 2.26 2.03

Provision for site restoration cost (Refer note (b) below) 1.07 1.26

Provision for contingent consideration (Refer note (c) below) – 28.58

3.33 31.87

Total 10.47 41.93
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 a Provision for equalisation of rent expenses represents provision made towards additional liability created to 
recognise rent expenses on straight line basis over the lease period.

 b Movement in Provision for site restoration cost 

        As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Balance as at the beginning of the year 1.50 1.52

Additions during the year 0.22 0.03

Amounts used during the year – (0.05)

Unused amounts reversed (0.12) –

Balance as at the end of the year 1.60 1.50

Classified as Non-current: 1.07 1.26

Classified as current: (Refer Note 12) 0.53 0.24

Total 1.60 1.50

  Provision for site restoration cost represents estimates made for probable liability towards the restoration of 
leased premises, at the end of the lease period.

 c During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Group acquired the skin care business of Derma Rx in Singapore 
and Malaysia. As per the agreement, the total contingent consideration of Rs. 56.60 Crore (SGD 16,000,000 
converted at the exchange rate as at March 31, 2011), is payable over the three years period commencing 
from May 25, 2010 upon achievement of certain milestones such as turnover, profits etc.

  Based on the assessment of the performance of Derma Rx business since the acquisition, the management had 
assessed that it is more than probable that a consideration of Rs. 45.99 Crore (SGD 13,000,000 converted 
at the exchange rate as at March 31, 2011) would be payable. Accordingly, the Group had considered the 
provision of the said amount during the year ended March 31, 2011.

  Based on the actual achievement of turnover and profit milestones as envisaged for each year after the 
acquisition, the company paid the following amounts as consideration :

For the year ended: SGD Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012 2,500,000 9.54

March 31, 2013 3,000,000 12.69

  The company has estimated the final payment for year three at 7,900,000 SGD and has therefore provided 
an additional amount of Rs. 1.75 crores (400,000 SGD converted at the year end exchange rate) towards the 

consideration payable.

  Movement in Provision for contingent consideration

        As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Balance as at the beginning of the year 42.87 45.99

Add: Provision made during the year 1.75 –

Less: Provision utilised during the year 12.69 9.54

Add: Net exchange loss on transaction and translation 2.64 6.42

Balance as at the end of the year 34.57 42.87

Classified as Non-current: – 28.58

Classified as current: (Refer Note 12) 34.57 14.29

Total 34.57 42.87
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9 Short-term borrowings

 As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Secured

From banks :

Cash credit 12.74 0.18

Pre-shipment credit in foreign currency
(Secured by hypothecation of inventory and debtors)

– 35.62

12.74 35.80

Unsecured

From banks:

- Buyers’ credit in foreign currency

(These are loans taken for a term of twelve months and carry interest rate 
of LIBOR plus applicable spread ranging from 0.05% to 1.5% per annum 
(previous year 0.05% to 1.50% per annum))

17.82 111.22

- Pre-shipment credit in foreign currency
(These borrowings are for a term of six months and carry interest rate of LIBOR 
plus applicable spread ranging from 1.30% to 2% per annum (previous year 
1.30% to 2% per annum))

59.71 30.52

- Overdraft in foreign currency – 22.88

- Other term loans in foreign currency
(Overdraft and Other term loans availed in the current year carry interest 
rate of 3 months LIBOR plus applicable spread ranging from 0.70% to 2.30% 
(previous year 0.7% to 2.3% per annum) per annum and interest rate ranging 
from 3% to 13.65% (previous year 3% to 13.65%) (where interest is not linked 
to LIBOR))

133.00 171.16

- Cash credit 92.31 –

302.84 335.78

From others :

- Commercial papers
(Commercial papers have been borrowed for a term of 12 months and carried 
interest rate ranging from 7% to 10% per annum.) 
Less: Deferred interest

45.00 –

Less: Deferred interest 2.50 –

42.50 –

345.34 335.78

Total 358.08 371.58

10 Trade payables 

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Trade Payables (Refer note below) 478.47 358.37

Total 478.47 358.37

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013



48

MARICO LIMITED

 The Company has certain dues to suppliers registered under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development 

Act, 2006 (‘MSMED Act’). The disclosures pursuant to the said MSMED Act are as follows:

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Principal amount due to suppliers registered under the MSMED Act and remaining 
unpaid as at year end.

 9.58  13.95 

Interest due to suppliers registered under the MSMED Act and remaining unpaid 
as at year end.

0.04 0.09

Principal amounts paid to suppliers registered under the MSMED Act, beyond the 
appointed day during the year.

– –

Interest paid other than under Section 16 of MSMED Act to suppliers registered 
under the MSMED Act, beyond the appointed day during the year.

– –

Interest paid under Section 16 of MSMED Act to suppliers registered under the 
MSMED Act beyond the appointed day during the year.

– –

Interest due and payable towards suppliers registered under MSMED Act for 
payments already made.

– –

Further interest remaining due and payable for earlier years. 0.09 0.01

 This information as required to be disclosed under the MSMED Act has been determined to the extent such parties 

have been identified on the basis of information available with the Company.

11 Other current liabilities

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Current maturities of long-term debt (Refer note 6 (a) ) 81.16 22.55

Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 1.63 1.20

Unclaimed dividends 0.17 0.16

Book overdraft 2.42 10.55

Other payables:

Provision for contractual liabilities 38.57 29.67

Advances from customers 93.19 87.15

Statutory dues including provident fund and tax deducted at source 24.86 21.41

Forward / derivative contracts payables 5.22 -

Creditors for capital goods 4.89 2.45

Security deposits from customers and others 0.30 0.36

Employee benefits payable 39.73 31.91

Others 1.13 0.78

Total 293.27 208.19
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12 Short term provisions

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Provision for employee benefits:

Gratuity 2.47 0.41

Leave entitlement 13.09 9.97

Employee Stock Appreciation Rights Scheme (Refer note 40) 9.46 –

Others 1.19 2.46

26.21 12.84

Others:

Income tax - (net of advance tax and other tax payment of Rs. 476.84 Crore 

(Previous year Rs. 354.64 Crore)

30.82 9.08

Interim dividend – 24.60

Dividend distribution tax on Interim dividend 0.36 4.28

Provision for contingent consideration (Refer note 8(c)) 34.57 14.29

Disputed indirect taxes (Refer note (a) below) 17.97 11.78

Provision for equalisation of rent expenses (Refer note 8(a)) 0.38 0.50

Provision for lease termination cost (Refer note (b) below) 0.06 0.13

Provision for site restoration cost (Refer note 8(b)) 0.53 0.24

Total 110.90 77.74

 a Provision for disputed indirect taxes represents claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts, where 

management has assessed that unfavourable outcome of the matter is more than probable.  

  Movement in provision for disputed indirect taxes  

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Balance as at the beginning of the year 11.78 8.74

Add: Additions during the year 6.19 4.27

Less: Unused amounts reversed during the year – 1.23

Balance as at the end of the year 17.97 11.78

 b Provision for lease termination cost represent estimates made for probable liability arising on account of 

closure of Kaya Life operations and close down of seven clinics of Kaya Skin in the earlier years. 

  Movement in provision for lease termination cost  

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Balance as at the beginning of the year 0.13 0.22

Less: Amounts used during the year 0.07 0.09

Balance as at the end of the year 0.06 0.13

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013
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MARICO LIMITED

14 Goodwill on consolidation

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Balance as at the beginning of the year 395.49 397.59

Add : Arising on acquisition during the year (Refer note 35) 110.63 0.64

Less : Adjustments during the year (Refer note 36 (a)) 110.60 2.74

Balance as at the end of the year 395.52 395.49

15  Non current investments

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Long term Non-trade investments (valued at cost unless stated otherwise)

Investment Property (at cost less accumalated depreciation / amortization)

Cost of land use right and building 24.86 5.82

Less : Accumalated depreciation / amortisation (0.46) (0.14)

Net block 24.40 5.68

Other Investments :  

Investments in Government Securities

Unquoted

National Savings Certificates (Deposited with the Government authorities). 0.01 0.01

Others

Quoted

Indian Infrastructure Finance Company Ltd,
(Nil (1,000) Unsecured, 6.85% Non-convertible, tax-free Bonds of face value of 
Rs. 1,00,000/- each, guaranteed by the Government of India, redeemable on 
22nd January, 2014).

– 10.08

Power Finance Corporation Limited
(28,479 (28,479) Secured, Redeemable, Tax free Non-convertible Bonds, 8.20%, 
face value of Rs. 1,000/- each, redeemable on 1st February, 2022).

2.85 2.85

Indian Railway Finance Corporation
(21,751 (21,751) Secured, Redeemable, Tax free Non-convertible Bonds, 8.00%, 
face value of Rs. 1,000/- each, redeemable on 23rd February, 2022).

2.18 2.18

 

National Highways Authority of India
(24,724 (24,724) Secured, Redeemable, Tax free Non-convertible Bonds, 8.20%, 
face value of Rs. 1,000/- each, redeemable on 25th January, 2022).

2.47 2.47

Rural Electrification Corporation Limited
(61,238 (61,238) Secured, Redeemable, Tax free Non-convertible Bonds, 8.12%, 
face value of Rs. 1,000/- each, redeemable on 29th March, 2027).

6.12 6.12

 

13.63 23.71

Total 38.03 29.39

Aggregate amount of quoted investments 13.62 23.70

Market Value of quoted investments 14.39 23.61

 Aggregate amount of unquoted investments  24.41  5.69

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013
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MARICO LIMITED

16 Deferred tax assets/liabilities (net)

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Deferred tax assets:

Provision for doubtful debts / advances that are deducted for tax purposes when 

written off

1.17 2.16

On intangible assets adjusted against Capital Redemption Reserve and Securities 

Premium Reserve under the Capital Restructuring scheme implemented in an 

earlier year (Refer note 13(c))

21.73 27.49

Liabilities / provisions that are deducted for tax purposes when paid 12.71 7.69

Others 1.48 6.74

37.09 44.08

Deferred tax liability:

Additional depreciation/amortisation on fixed assets for tax purposes due to 

higher tax depreciation rates

42.88 21.74

42.88 21.74

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) (net) (5.79) 22.34

17 Long term loans and advances 

As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Unsecured, considered good (unless stated otherwise)

Capital Advances

Considered good 26.30 33.13

Considered doubtful – 0.50

26.30 33.63

Less : Provision for doubtful advances – 0.50

26.30 33.13

Other loans and advances:

Deposits with public bodies and others

Considered good 23.59 24.88

Considered doubtful 0.50 0.50

24.09 25.38

Less : Provision for doubtful deposits 0.50 0.50

23.59 24.88

Loans to employees 2.52 2.70

Prepaid expenses 0.87 1.39

Balance with statutory/government authorities 15.09 12.75

Advances to vendors 1.28 1.28

Inter-corporate deposits 10.00 –

Loans and advances to Welfare of Mariconions Trust (Refer note 40(c)) 36.54 19.92

Less: Provision towards doubtful loan (Refer Note 40 (e)) (0.81) –

35.73 19.92

Restricted deposit - HSBC Escrow Account – 25.00

Advance income tax (net of provision for income tax of Rs. 7.04 Crore
(Rs. 2.41 Crore) )

4.01 3.34

Total 119.39 124.39
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18 Other non current assets 

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Security deposits 0.02 –

Fringe benefit tax payments (net of provisions of Rs. 5.85 Crore (previous year 
Rs. 5.85 Crore))

0.55 0.55

MAT credit entitlement 131.15 117.84

Long term deposits with banks with maturity period of more than twelve months 
(Refer note below)

10.83 4.96

Interest accrued on long-term deposits with banks 0.07 0.06

Total 142.62 123.41

 Long term deposits with banks includes Rs. 0.13 Crore (Rs. 0.13 Crore) deposited with sales tax authorities and 

Rs. 3.57 Crore (Rs. 4.83 Crore) held as lien by banks against guarantees issued on behalf of the Company.

19 Current investments

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Current portion of long term investments

Quoted

Indian Infrastructure Finance Company Ltd,
(1,000 (Nil) Unsecured, 6.85% Non-convertible, tax-free Bonds of face value of 
Rs. 1,00,000/- each, guaranteed by the Government of India, redeemable on 
22nd January, 2014).

10.08 –

–

10.08 –

Current investments (At lower of cost and fair value) –

Unquoted

Investment in subsidiaries

Investment in Marico Kaya Enterprises Limited (wholly owned) (Refer Note 45)
100,000 (Nil) equity shares of Rs. 10 each

0.10 –

Investments in Mutual Funds

Birla Sunlife Dynamic Bond Fund-Retail-Growth
1,306,807 (Nil) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

2.50 –

DSP Blackrock FMP-Series 81-12M-Growth
10,000,000 (Nil) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

10.00 –

HDFC Income Fund-Growth
1,908,040 (Nil) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

5.00 –

Kotak Bond Scheme Plan A - Growth
1,514,623 (Nil) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

5.00 –

Reliance Short Term Fund-Growth
1,184,289 (Nil) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

2.50 –

SBI Magnum Insta Cash Fund Liquid Floater-Reg-Growth
42,728 (Nil) Units of Rs. 1,000 each fully paid

8.50 –

JM High Liquidity Fund-Regular Plan-Bonus Option
3,979,357 (Nil) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

3.90 –

Peerless Ultra Short Term Fund Super Institutional Growth
15,463,480 (Nil) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

20.00 –

ICICI Prudential Ultra Short Term Regular Plan Growth
16,918,086 (Nil) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

20.02 –

Baroda Pioneer Liquid Fund Plan A daily dividend reinvestment
67,024 (Nil) Units of Rs. 1,000 each fully paid

9.00 –
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As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Reliance Liquid Fund-Treasury Plan Growth
24,546 (Nil) Units of Rs. 1,000 each fully paid

7.00 –

JP Morgan India Liquid Fund Super Institutional Growth
2,304,551(Nil) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

3.50 –

JP Morgan India Treasury Fund Super Institutional Growth
3,960,009 (Nil) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

6.50 –

UTI Money Market Fund Institutional Plan Growth
8 (Nil) Units of Rs. 1,000 each fully paid [Rs. 10,052 (Previous year Rs. Nil)]

– –

Religare Liquid Fund Growth
6 (Nil) Units of Rs. 1,000 each fully paid [Rs. 10,051 (Previous year Rs. Nil)]

– –

Kotak Liquid Scheme Plan A Growth
4 (Nil) Units of Rs. 1,000 each fully paid [Rs. 10,050 (Previous year Rs. Nil)]

– –

Peerless Liquid Fund Super Institutional Growth
784 (Nil) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid [Rs. 10,049 (Previous year Rs. Nil)]

– –

JM High Liquidity Fund Growth Option
315 (Nil) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid [Rs. 10,049 (Previous year Rs. Nil)]

– –

JM High Liquidity Fund Growth Option
147 (Nil) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid [Rs. 4,638 (Previous year Rs. Nil)]

– –

Templeton India Ultra Short Bond Fund Super Institutional Plan - Growth
Nil (720,132) Units of Rs.10 each fully paid

– 1.00

Tata Liquidity Management Fund-Growth
Nil (69,662) Units of Rs.1,000 each fully paid

– 10.05

Tata Liquid Super High Investment Fund-Appreciation
Nil (36,647) Units of Rs.1,000 each fully paid

– 7.25

ICICI Prudential Money Market Fund-Cash Option
Nil (1,367,539) Units of Rs.100 each fully paid

– 20.27

IDFC Ultra Short Term Fund-Growth
Nil (10,129,181) Units of Rs.10 each fully paid

– 15.00

Kotak Liquid-Institutional Premium-Growth
Nil (689,915) Units of Rs.10 each fully paid

– 1.50

DWS Treasury Fund - Cash - IP - Growth
Nil (1,732,972) Units of Rs.100 each fully paid

– 20.73

Reliance Liquid Fund-Treasury Plan-IP-Growth
Nil (7,957,279) Units of Rs.10 each fully paid

– 20.77

Birla Sun Life Floating Rate Fund-STP-IP-Growth
Nil (366,604) Units of Rs.100 each fully paid

– 5.22

Birla Sunlife Short Term FMP Series 29-Payout
Nil (15,000,000) Units of Rs.10 each fully paid

– 15.00

DSPBR FMP -Series 33-3M-Dividend Payout
Nil (15,000,000) Units of Rs.10 each fully paid

– 15.00

JM Floater Fund-Short Term Plan-Growth
Nil (5,914,217) Units of Rs.10 each fully paid

– 10.02

L & T FMP-V-(December 368D A ) -Growth
Nil (8,000,000) Units of Rs.10 each fully paid

– 8.00

L & T Ultra Short Term Fund- Institutional-Cum-Org
Nil (2,314,830) Units of Rs.10 each fully paid

– 4.01

SBI Magnum Income Fund FR Saving Plus Bond-Growth
Nil (9,039,227) Units of Rs.10 each fully paid

– 15.04

103.52 168.86

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013



55

MARICO LIMITED

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Other Investments

Quoted

91 days Certificate of deposit of Punjab National Bank of face value of Rs. 100 
Crore expiring on June 26, 2012 with coupon rate of 11.345%

– 97.40

– 97.40

Total 113.60 266.26

Aggregate amount of quoted investments 10.08 97.40

Market Value of quoted investments 9.89 97.44

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 103.52 168.86

20 Inventories 

 (Refer note 3(j), for basis of valuation) 

As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Raw materials (includes in-transit: Rs. 10.26 Crore (Rs. 12.72 Crore)) 308.07 290.55

Work-in-progress 184.96 113.24

Finished goods (includes in-transit: Rs. 0.08 Crore (Rs. 0.75 Crore)) 249.44 220.06

Stock-in-trade (Traded goods) 41.17 12.85

Stores and spares 7.55 8.62

Others:

Packing materials 69.73 71.17

By-products 1.77 3.73

Total 862.69 720.22

21  Trade receivables 

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Unsecured

Outstanding for a period exceeding six months from the date they are due for 
payment

Considered good 7.95 1.34

Considered doubtful 3.66 2.97

11.61 4.31

Less: Provision for doubtful debts (3.66) (2.97)

7.95 1.34

Outstanding for a period less than six months from the date they are due for 

payment

Considered good 188.60 206.94

Considered doubtful 3.73 0.49

192.33 207.43

Less: Provision for doubtful debts (3.73) (0.49)

188.60 206.94

Total 196.55 208.28
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22 Cash and bank balances 

As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Cash and cash equivalents :

Cash on hand 1.84 3.34

Remittance in-transit 0.44 0.12

Bank balances

In current accounts 47.39 44.93

Demand deposits (less than 3 months maturity) 55.30 12.35

104.97 60.74

Other bank balances:

Fixed deposits with maturity more than three month but less than twelve months 161.61 71.20

Unclaimed dividend account 0.17 0.16

Total 266.75 132.10

23 Short term loans and advances  

As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Unsecured, considered good (unless otherwise stated)

Loans and advances to related parties (Refer note 43) 0.11 0.65

0.11 0.65

Others:

Advances to vendors and others 42.04 26.73

Loans and advances to employees 7.56 6.25

Prepaid expenses 14.63 12.47

Balances with statutory/government authorities 13.87 12.73

Deposits with public bodies and others 8.39 6.28

Loans and advances to Welfare of Mariconions Trust (Refer note 40(c)) 40.71 –

Others 0.47 –

Deposit with Leave Encashment plan 8.30 –

Inter-corporate deposits – 10.00

135.97 74.46

Total 136.08 75.11

24 Other current assets  

As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Unsecured, considered good (unless otherwise stated)

Interest accrued and due on loans / deposits 6.51 4.19

Insurance receivables 0.06 2.63

Accrued export incentives 0.73 1.54

Assets held for disposal 0.64 0.01

Forward/ derivative contracts receivables – 7.53

Others 5.62 2.29

Total 13.56 18.19

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013



57

MARICO LIMITED

25 Revenue from operations 

For the year ended March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Sale of products:

Finished goods *  4,233.60  3,689.29

By-product sales  89.58  63.36

4,323.18 3,752.65

Less:

Excise duty  2.80  1.36

4,320.38  3,751.29

Sale of services  263.96  216.91

Other operating revenues:

Export incentives  7.79  9.08

Sale of scraps  4.05  2.39

11.84 11.47

Total  4,596.18  3,979.67

 * Including traded goods

26 Other income  

For the year ended March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Interest Income:

On Non current investments  1.13  0.85

On current investments  0.69  –

On loans, deposits, etc.  21.09  16.70

22.91 17.55

Dividend Income

On current investments  8.46  12.15

8.46 12.15

Net gain on sale of current investments  4.74  1.20

Other non-operating income:

Lease rental income  0.41  0.42

Profit on sale of assets (net) –  0.15

Miscellaneous income  1.01  0.60

Excess provisions no longer required written back –  0.50

1.42 1.67

Total  37.53  32.57

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013



58

MARICO LIMITED

27 Cost of materials consumed, Purchases of stock-in-trade, Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-

in-progress and stock-in-trade - (increase) / decrease

For the year ended March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

A Cost of materials consumed

Raw materials consumed

Opening inventories 290.55 220.64

Add : Purchases (net) 1,852.05 1,906.74

Less : Inventories at the end of the year 308.07 290.55

Cost of raw materials consumed during the year 1,834.53 1,836.83

Packing materials consumed

Opening inventories 71.17 73.16

Add : Purchases (net) 384.82 326.06

Less : Inventories at the end of the year 69.73 71.17

Cost of packing materials consumed during the year 386.26 328.05

2,220.79 2,164.88

B Purchases of stock-in-trade 116.60 17.44

C Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and 
stock-in-trade - (increase) / decrease

Opening inventories

Work-in-progress 113.24 93.05

Finished goods 220.06 200.50

By-products 3.73 1.91

Stock-in-trade 12.85 3.64

Total A 349.88 299.10

Less: Closing inventories

Work-in-progress 184.96 113.24

Finished goods 249.44 220.06

By-products 1.77 3.73

Stock-in-trade 41.17 12.85

Total B 477.34 349.88

(Increase) / decrease in inventories (A-B) (127.46) (50.78)

28 Employee benefit expenses 

For the year ended March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Salaries, wages and bonus 335.09 271.30
Contribution to provident and other funds 15.82 11.15
Employees stock option charge / (reversal) (Refer note 4(d)) (0.02) (0.04)

Stock appreciation rights expenses (Refer note 40(d)):
Star Grant Expenses - Gross 14.69 5.94
Less: Accretion in amounts recoverable from trust (10.10) –

4.59 5.94
Staff welfare expenses 25.08 18.94
Total 380.56 307.29
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29 Finance costs 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore
Interest on long-term and short-term borrowings

Long-term borrowings 7.54 7.57
Short-term borrowings 30.11 18.54

Other borrowing costs 3.65 0.42
Bank and other financial charges 8.24 9.59
Applicable net loss on foreign currency transactions and translation 8.48 6.27
Total 58.02 42.39

30 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore
Depreciation on tangible assets 65.57 58.47
Amortisation on intangible assets 19.86 13.06
Amortisation on investment property 0.32 0.14
Provision for impairment 0.87 0.85
Total 86.62 72.52

31 Other Expenses 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore
Consumption of stores and spare parts 55.28 47.12
Power, fuel and water 19.13 13.54
Contract manufacturing charges 167.00 134.43
Rent and storage charges 80.00 66.87
Repairs to:

Building 12.86 10.61
Machinery 17.51 11.71
Others 4.27 4.58

Freight, forwarding and distribution expenses 186.81 153.69
Advertisement and sales promotion 597.94 425.82
Rates and taxes 47.10 35.66
Commission to selling agents 9.28 8.46
Communication expenses 11.34 11.09
Printing and stationery 2.94 3.22
Travelling, conveyance and vehicle expenses 42.87 38.18
Royalty 0.30 0.24
Insurance 4.56 3.08
Payments to the auditors 3.96 3.28
Net loss on foreign currency transactions and translation (other than 
considered as finance cost)

7.17 1.17

Commission to Non-executive directors 0.96 0.42

Provision for doubtful debts and advances 0.76 –
Add: Bad debts written off 0.28 0.51
Less: Advances no longer required written back – (0.08)

1.04 0.43
Miscellaneous expenses (Refer note below) 107.59 82.84
Total 1,379.91 1,056.44
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 Miscellaneous expenses include : 

For the year ended March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Labour charges 13.52 7.87

Training and seminar expenses 8.82 6.76

Outside services 4.41 3.28

Legal and professional charges 40.83 34.47

Donation 3.47 0.09

Payments to consultants 13.58 13.90

Net Loss on sale of assets 0.39 0.73

Total 85.02 67.10

32 Contingent liabilities: 

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Disputed tax demands / claims:

Sales tax 30.16 13.69

Income tax 3.74 10.33

Service tax 0.55 0.37

Customs duty 0.40 0.40

Agricultural produce marketing cess 9.58 8.84

Employees state insurance corporation 0.18 0.13

Excise duty on subcontractors 0.41 0.35

Excise duty on CNO dispatches (Refer note (a) below) 364.09 278.92

Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts 0.79 1.39

Total 409.90 314.42

 a The contingent liability pertains to a possible excise duty obligation in respect of pure coconut oil packs up to 

200 ml. This claim has been contested and a legal opinion in the matter has been obtained. Based on the 

legal opinion and in its assessment, the management believes that the probability of success in the matter 

is more likely than not and accordingly, the possible excise obligation has been treated as a contingent 

liability in accordance with requirements of Accounting Standard (AS) 29 “Provisions, Contingent Liability and 

Contingent Asset”. The possible excise duty obligation of Rs. 242.32 Crore (Rs. 157.15 Crore) for the clearances 

made after June 3, 2009 (i.e. the date of issue of Board circular) till March 31, 2013 and Rs. 121.77 Crore 

(Rs. 121.77 Crore) for clearances made prior to June 3, 2009 has been disclosed as contingent liability to the 

extent of the time horizon covered by show cause notices issued by the excise department within the normal 

period of one year (from the date of clearance) as per the excise laws.

   The Company will continue to review this matter during the coming accounting periods based on the 

developments on the outcome in the pending cases and the legal advice, that it may receive from time to time.
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33 Capital and other commitments

 Capital commitments: 

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account 
and not provided for (net of advances)

76.11 72.04

Consideration payable for Paras acquisition (Refer note 35). – 740.00

Contingent consideration for acquisition of skin care business of Derma Rx. 
(Refer note 8(c))

11.38 12.25

Total 87.49 824.29

 Other commitments: 

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Lease termination cost - representing lock-in-period rental under rental 
agreements.

11.10 22.57

Amount outstanding towards Letters of Credit. 82.75 14.13

Total 93.85 36.70

34. The audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2013 comprised the audited financial 

statements of Marico Limited, Kaya Limited, Marico Bangladesh Limited, MBL Industries Limited, Marico Middle East 

FZE, Kaya Middle East FZE, Marico South Africa Consumer Care (Pty) Limited, Marico South Africa (Pty) Limited, 

Marico Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., MEL Consumer Care SAE, Egyptian American Investment & Industrial Development 

Company, Marico Egypt Industries Company, Wind Company, Derma Rx International Aesthetics Pte. Ltd, The DRx 

Clinic Pte. Ltd, The DRx Medispa Pte. Ltd, DRx Investments Pte. Ltd, DRx Aesthetics Sdn. Bhd., Marico Consumers 

Care Limited and Halite Personal Care India Private Limited and unaudited financial statements of International 

Consumer Products Corporation, Beauté Cosmétique Societé Par Actions and Thuan Phat Foodstuff Joint Stock 

Company which have been approved by the respective Board of Directors of these companies.

35. On May 29th, 2012, the Company concluded the effective acquisition of the personal care business of Paras 

Pharmaceuticals Limited (“PPL”) for a consideration of Rs. 745.60 Crore. The acquisition was effected through 

Marico Consumer Care Limited (“MCCL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. MCCL was incorporated 

on April 20, 2012 and it acquired 100 % equity stake in Halite Personal Care India Private Limited (“Halite”) 

from Halite’s erstwhile owners. The personal care business had been demerged from PPL into Halite effective 

March 1, 2012 under a Scheme of amalgamation and arrangements approved by the High Court of Punjab 

and Haryana.

 The shareholders of the Company, at their meeting held on May 2, 2012, approved issue of equity shares on 

preferential allotment basis aggregating Rs. 500 Crores at a price of Rs. 170 per equity share to two overseas 

investors for funding a part of the Halite acquisition. Subsequently, the Company allotted 29,411,764 equity 

shares of face value Re. 1 each at a share premium of Rs. 169 each to these investors on 16th May 2012. This 

resulted in increase of Equity share capital by Rs. 2.94 Crores and Securities premium reserve by Rs. 497.06 

Crores. The proceeds of the issue together with internal accruals were infused by Marico as equity investment in 

MCCL. MCCL utilized the equity proceeds for acquiring 100% equity stake in Halite on May 29, 2012.
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36. a) The shareholders of Halite vide a special resolution at their extra ordinary general meeting held on January 

18, 2013, resolved that the company be voluntarily liquidated. The shareholders also appointed a liquidator. In 

view of the liquidation, the liquidator, on March 25, 2013, distributed the assets of Halite to MCCL, being the 

sole shareholder of Halite. MCCL has taken over assets of Halite at fair values, determined by an independent 

valuer, as applicable. On distribution, MCCL received assets in excess of its Equity investment in Halite, resulting 

in profit of Rs. 5.91 Crore as mentioned below, which is shown as an exceptional item in the Statement  

of Profit and Loss. (Refer Note 38).

Particulars Rs. in Crore

Assets recognised on account of liquidation of Halite

Tangible assets (net) 0.73

Intangible assets 729.80

Cash and bank balance 20.98

Total (A) 751.51

Assets de-recognised on account of liquidation of Halite

Goodwill (Refer note 13) 616.10

Goodwill on Consolidation (Refer note 14) 110.60

Other assets 18.90

Total (B) 745.60

Profit arising on liquidation of Halite (A - B) 5.91

 b) The shareholders of MCCL, at their meeting held on April 1, 2013 decided to adjust the carrying costs of 

acquired intellectual property right upon voluntary liquidation of Halite, directly against net worth of the 

company, in accordance with the provisions of Section 78 (read with sections 100 to 103) of the Companies 

Act, 1956. The said capital reduction is subject to the approval of the Hon’ble High Court of Judicature at 

Bombay. MCCL has filed a petition in this regard with the High Court.

37. a) Additional information on assets taken on lease:

  The Company’s significant leasing arrangements are in respect of residential flats, office premises, Skin clinics, 
warehouses, vehicles etc taken on lease. The arrangements range between 11 months to 9 years and are 
generally renewable by mutual consent or mutually agreeable terms. Under these arrangements refundable 

interest-free deposits have been given.

March 31, 2013
(Rs. Crore)

March 31, 2012
(Rs. Crore)

Lease rental payments recognised in the Statement of Profit 

and Loss.

72.62 60.76

In respect of assets taken on non cancelable operating lease:

Lease obligations

Future minimum lease rental payments payable

- not later than one year 42.69 42.59

- later than one year but not later than five years 73.13 74.38

- later than five years 10.42 2.05

Total 126.24 119.02
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 b) Additional information on assets given on lease:

March 31, 2013
(Rs. Crore)

March 31, 2012
(Rs. Crore)

Lease rental payments recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 0.41 0.42

(Rs. Crore)

Asset Cost as at
March 31

Depreciation for 
the year ended 

March 31

Accumulated 
Depreciation as 

at March 31

Net Book Value 
as at March 31

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Plant and equipment 
(Refer note 13)

2.03 2.03 (0.16) 0.01 1.79 1.95 0.24 0.08

  Depreciation for the year ended March 31, 2013 is including reversal of depreciation due to change of method 

of depreciation from WDV to SLM of Rs. 0.18 Crores which is shown as exceptional items.

38. Details of Exceptional items disclosed in the Statement of Profit and Loss are as under:

March 31, 2013
(Rs. Crore)

March 31, 2012
(Rs. Crore)

Surplus on change in method of depreciation (Refer Note (a) below) 37.45 –

Impairment loss relating to Kaya Skin Clinics in India / Middle East (Refer 
note (b) below)

(17.45) (1.75)

Incremental provision towards contingent consideration relating to DRx 
entity- Singapore (Refer Note 8 (c))

(1.75) –

Profit on distribution of assets by Halite to MCCL on voluntary liquidation 
(Refer Note 36)

5.91 –

Reversal of impairment loss on “Fiancee” trademark (Refer Note (c) below) 9.05 –

Total 33.21 (1.75)

 a) Effective January 1, 2013, the Company has retrospectively changed its method of providing depreciation on 
Factory Building and Plant & Machinery from the ‘Written Down Value Method’ to ‘Straight Line Method’ at 
the rates prescribed in Schedule XIV to the Companies Act, 1956. This change results in a more appropriate 
presentation and will give a systematic basis of depreciation charge, representative of the time pattern in 
which the economic benefits flow to the Company. Accordingly, the Company has recognised the surplus of 
Rs. 37.45 Crores arising from this retrospective change.

  Had the previous method of depreciation been followed, depreciation charge for the quarter and year ended 
March 31, 2013 would have been higher by Rs. 2.96 Crores and the profit before tax for the current quarter 

and year ended March 31, 2013 would have been lower by of an equivalent amount.

 b) The management has, as in the previous year, carried out impairment testing in respect of Skin business 
at the clinic level, which the management considers as the relevant cash generating unit. While the overall 
future potential of the business as a whole is promising, for some of the clinics likely future performance is not 
adequate to justify and cover the value in use. This resulted in an impairment provision of Rs. 17.45 Crore 
(Rs. 1.75 Crore) which is included in “Exceptional Items” in the Statement of Profit and Loss. The management 
has considered a pre-tax discount rate of 19% for Kaya Skin clinics in India and 12% for Kaya Skin clinics in 
Middle East for determining value in use during the year.

 c) During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company had recognised an impairment loss of Rs. 13.88 
Crores towards brand “Fiancee”. During the current year, the Company has reassessed the value in use and 
accordingly reversed an impairment loss of Rs. 9.05 Crores. The management has considered a pre-tax 

discount rate of 17.40% for determining value in use during the year.
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39. Derivative transactions –

 a) The total derivative instruments outstanding as on year end March 31, 2013 are Plain Forwards, Plain Vanilla 

Put Option, Cross currency swap and Interest rate swap:

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Currency Notional 
Amount 

in Foreign 
Currency

Equivalent 
Amount in Rs. 

at the year 
end *

(Rs. Crore)

Notional 
Amount 

in Foreign 
currency

Equivalent 
Amount in 
Rs. at the 

year end *
(Rs. Crore)

Forward contracts outstanding

Exports: USD 7,739,273 42.01 8,238,974 41.92

Foreign currency loans: USD 15,182,985 82.41 34,861,622 177.36

Creditors: USD 18,049,383 97.97 10,586,215 53.86

Creditors: AUD 760,000 4.30 – –

Loan to subsidiary: ZAR 18,749,500 11.02 22,000,000 14.59

Options Contracts outstanding

Exports USD 5,993,000 32.54 8,100,000 41.21

Creditors USD 1,059,500 5.72 - –

Currency Swap USD 10,000,000 55.00 10,000,000 50.88

  * Converted into the exchange rate at the year end.

  Out of the above, the following have been designated as cash flow hedges:

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Currency Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Fair Value
(Rs. Crore)

Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Fair Value
(Rs. Crore)

Forward contracts USD 25,788,656 106.77 18,825,189 97.37

Forward contracts AUD 760,000 4.31 – –

Options contract USD 7,052,500 0.49 8,100,000 0.89

  Details of Interest rate swaps which the Company has entered into for hedging its interest rate exposure on 

borrowings in foreign currency

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Currency Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Fair Value
(Rs. Crore)

Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Fair Value
(Rs. Crore)

Borrowings in Foreign currency USD 27,000,000 3.08 30,750,000 1.55

  - The Cash flows are expected to occur and impact the Statement of Profit and Loss within the period of 1 year 
except interest rate swap, in respect of which Cash flows are expected to occur and impact the Statement of 

Profit and Loss within the period of 1 to 4 years (1 to 5 years).

  - All the derivative contracts entered by the Company were for hedging purpose and not for any speculative 

purpose.
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 b) Net foreign currency exposures not hedged as at the year end are as under: 

Currency March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Equivalent 
Amount in Rs. 
at the year end 

(Rs. Crore)

Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Equivalent 
Amount in Rs. 
at the year end 

(Rs. Crore)

a. Amount receivable 
in foreign currency 
on  accoun t  o f 
following :

- Export of goods AED 4,988 0.01 4,988 0.01

USD 5,061,074 27.47 196,514 1.00

b. Amount (payable) 
/ rece i vab le  in 
foreign currency 
on  accoun t  o f 
following :

(i)  Import of goods       
and Services

AUD 27,007 0.15 12,342 0.06

EUR (56,339) (0.39) 30,611 0.21

GBP (36,094) (0.30) (74,111) (0.60)

THB – – 635,418 0.10

USD (4,390,145) (23.83) (6,797,096) (34.58)

SGD 587,441 2.57 (537,419) (2.19)

(ii) Capital imports CHF 680 0.01 680 0.01

GBP – – 800 0.01

(iii) Loan payables * USD (14,000,000) (75.99) (22,480,947) (114.37)

c. Bank Balances USD 1,176,291 6.38 (858,245) (4.37)

EUR – – 593 0.01

GBP – – 129 0.01

VND 584,291 0.01 1,183,114 0.01

d.   Other receivables 

/ (payables) 

USD 18,355 0.10 2,298,018 11.69

AED (469) (0.01) 553 0.01

AUD 2,400 0.01 2,400 0.01

EUR 55,159 0.38 724,556 4.92

THB 95,147 0.02 – –

GBP 9,703 0.08 – –

  * Excludes Loans payable of Rs. 293.11 Crore [USD 54,000,000] (Rs. 293.81 Crore [USD 57,750,000]) 

assigned to hedging relationship against highly probable forecast sales. The Cash flows are expected to 

occur and impact the Statement of Profit and Loss within the period of 1 to 4 years (1 to 5 years).
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 c) Pursuant to the Announcement of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India’s (ICAI) “Accounting for 

Derivatives” on encouraging the early adoption of Accounting Standard (AS) 30, “Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement”, the Company had in previous year ended March 31, 2009, decided an 

early adoption of AS 30 to the extent it does not conflict with existing mandatory accounting standards and 

other authoritative pronouncements, Company Law and other regulatory requirements. Accordingly, the net 

unrealised gain / (loss) of Rs. (52.49) Crore [Rs. (33.92) Crore] in respect of outstanding derivative instruments 

and foreign currency loans at the year end which qualify for hedge accounting, is standing in the ‘Hedge 

Reserve’, which would be recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss when the underlying transaction or 

forecast revenue arises.

40. a) The Corporate Governance Committee has granted Stock Appreciation Rights (“STAR”) to certain eligible 

employees pursuant to the Company’s Employee Stock Appreciation Rights Plan, 2011 (“Plan”). The grant 

price is determined based on a formula as defined in the Plan. There are three schemes under the Plan with 

different vesting period. Under the Plan, the respective employees are entitled to receive excess of the maturity 

price over the grant price subject to fulfillment of certain conditions. The Plan is administered by Corporate 

Governance Committee comprising independent directors.

 b) Details of Star Grant Scheme are as below:

Star Scheme I Star Scheme II Star Scheme III

Grant Date
Grant Price (Rs.)
Vesting Date

March 28, 2011
129.15

September 30, 2013

December 1, 2011
148.53

November 30, 2014

December 1, 2012
213.91

November 30, 2014

December 1, 2012
213.91

November 30, 2015

As at March 31 As at March 31 As at March 31 As at March 31

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Number of grants 
outstanding at the 
beginning of the year

3,051,600 3,411,600 1,095,000 – – – – –

Add : Granted during the 
year

360,000 – 38,100 1,107,600 200,300 – 1,746,900 –

Less : Forfeited during the 
year

515,200 360,000 81,000 12,600 8,900 – 7,000 –

Less : Exercised during the 
year*

230,700 – 75,000 – – – – –

Number of grants at the 
end of the year

2,665,700 3,051,600 977,100 1,095,000 191,400 – 1,739,900 –

  *Pursuant to a resolution passed by the Corporate Governance Committee approving vesting in respect of 

certain employees.

Rs. Crore

Star Scheme I Star Scheme II Star Scheme III

As at March 31 As at March 31 As at March 31 As at March 31

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Total Provision 17.23 5.64 3.42 0.32 – – – –

Less: Accretion in amounts 
recoverable from the Trust

7.77 – 2.33 – – – – –

(Also refer note (c) and (d) 
below)

Net Provision 9.46 5.64 1.09 0.32 – – – –

Classified as long-term – 5.64 1.09 0.32 – – – –

Classified as short-term 9.46 – – – – – – –
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 c) The Company has formed “Welfare of Mariconians Trust” (The trust) for the implementation and administration 

of Plans that are notified or may be notified from time to time by the Company under the Plan as at March 

31, 2013. The Company has advanced Rs. 76.44 Crore (Rs. 19.92 Crore) to the Trust for purchase of shares 

under the Plan, out of which Rs. 35.73 Crore is included under “Long term loans and advances” (Refer note 

17) and Rs. 40.71 Crore is included under “Short term loans and advances” (Refer note 23). As per the Trust 

Deed and Trust Rules, upon maturity, the Trust shall sell the Company’s shares and hand over the proceeds to 

the Company. The Company, after adjusting the loan advanced, shall utilize the proceeds towards meeting 

its STAR value obligation.

 d) The difference between the market price of the Company’s shares as at the year end and the grant price 

after adjusting for the difference between the amounts due from the Trust and the loan advanced to the Trust 

is recognized as an expense over the vesting period and accordingly an amount of Rs. 4.59 Crore (Rs. 5.94 

Crore) is charged in the Statement of Profit and Loss (Refer Note 28).

 e) As on March 31, 2013, the market price of the Company’s shares on the stock exchanges was lower than 

the average price at which the Trust had bought the shares under one of the STAR schemes. This has resulted 

in diminution in the recoverable value of loan advanced to the Trust. Accordingly, the Company has charged 

an amount of Rs. 0.81 Crore (Nil) to the Statement of Profit and Loss.

 f) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) in January 2013 amended the SEBI (ESOS and ESPS) 

Guidelines 1999, vide which it mandated that no ESOS/ESPS schemes shall involve acquisition of securities of 

the Company from the secondary market. The Company had approached SEBI for a clarification whether the 

amendment also covered non-ESOS employee welfare trust such as WEOMA trust. SEBI had clarified that the 

clarification corrected secondary market purchases by the WEOMA Trust. Many companies, including Marico 

Limited, had made a representation to SEBI requesting SEBI to allow the employee trusts to continue holding 

the shares. After hearing the representations of these companies in a joint meeting convened by SEBI, SEBI 

had indicated that it will come out with a clarification in this matter. The Company awaits further guidance 

from SEBI.

41. Earnings per share: 

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Profit for the year as per the Statement of Profit and Loss/ Profit available 
to equity shareholders (Rs. Crore)

395.86 317.11

Equity shares outstanding as at the year end 644,771,799 614,934,387

Weighted average number of equity shares used as denominator for 
calculating basic earnings per share

640,971,596 614,748,262

Weighted average number of equity shares used as denominator for 
calculating diluted earnings per share

641,232,987 615,210,810

Nominal value per equity share Re. 1 Re. 1

Basic earnings per equity share Rs. 6.18 Rs. 5.16

*Diluted earnings per equity share Rs. 6.17 Rs. 5.15

 *Diluted EPS has been calculated after taking into account options granted to certain eligible employees as referred 

in note 4(d).

 Reconciliation of Basic and Diluted Shares used in computing earnings per share

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Number of shares considered as basic weighted average shares 
outstanding

640,971,596 614,748,262

Add: Effect of dilutive stock options 261,391 462,548

Number of shares considered as weighted average shares and potential 
shares outstanding

641,232,987 615,210,810

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013



68

MARICO LIMITED

42. Segment Information

 The Group regards business segment as the primary segment. The composition of this segment is given below.

Business segments Type of products and services

Consumer Products Coconut oils, other edible oils, hair oils and other hair care products, male grooming 
products, fabric care products, healthy foods, soaps, health care products, female beauty 
care products.

Others Skin care

 a. “Consumer Products” segment comprises consumer product business of Marico Limited, Marico Bangladesh 

Limited, MBL Industries Limited, Marico Middle East FZE, MEL Consumer Care SAE, Marico Egypt Industries 

Company, Egyptian American Investment & Industrial Development Company, Wind Company, Marico South 

Africa Consumer Care (pty) Limited, Marico South Africa (Pty) Limited, Marico Malaysia Sdn. Bhd, International 

Consumer Prouducts, Beauté Cosmétique Societé Par Actions, Thuan Phat Foodstuff Joint Stock Company, 

Marico Consumer Care Limited and Halite Personal Care India Private Limited.

 b. “Skin care” segment comprises operations of Kaya Limited, Kaya Middle East FZE, Kaya operations of Marico 

Bangladesh Limited, Derma – Rx International Aesthetics Pte. Ltd., The DRx Clinic Pte. Ltd., The DRx Medispa 

Pte. Ltd., DRx Investments Pte. Ltd. and DRx Aesthetics sdn. Bhd.

  The Company has bifurcated the financial results of its Consumer Product business segment into India Business 

and International Business, by way of providing supplementary information.

  During the year, the Company has categorised certain corporate/ common expenses and assets/ liabilities as 

un-allocable having regard to the nature of such items, which hitherto were allocated to consumer product 

business segment. Consequently previous period/ year figures have been reclassified to conform to the current 

period figures.

  The discontinuing operations on account of the proposed demerger (Refer Note 45) relate to the skin care 

segment.

  i) Primary segment information 

Consumer Products Skin Care * Total

Domestic International

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

Segment revenue 3,252.57 2,765.94 1,007.60 935.46 336.01 278.27 4,596.18 3,979.67

Segment results
Profit/(loss)

581.23 444.28 66.41 79.93 0.76 (29.07) 648.40 495.14

Unallocable expenses (103.08) (80.39)

Unallocable income 8.46 12.15

Finance costs 58.02 42.39

Interest income 22.91 17.55

Profit before tax, ‘Exceptional 
items’ and Minority interest

518.67 402.06

Exceptional items: (Income)/
expense (net)

(42.85) – (9.35) – 19.20 1.75 (33.00) 1.75

Unallocated Exceptional 
items (Income)/expense 
(net)

(0.21) –
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Consumer Products Skin Care * Total

Domestic International

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

Profit before tax and Minority 
interest

551.88 400.31

Taxation on the above 146.19 78.25

Profit after tax and before 
Minority interest

405.69 322.06

Minority interest in losses / 
(profits) of subsidiaries

9.83 4.95

Profit after taxation and 
Minority interest

395.86 317.11

Other information

Segment assets 1,911.27 895.16 687.60 740.55 299.64 348.63 2,898.51 1,984.34

Unallocable assets 808.72 632.68

Total assets 3,707.23 2,617.02

Segment liabilities 380.38 286.49 202.34 145.59 158.08 156.24 740.80 588.32

Unallocable liabilities 984.93 885.69

Total liabilities 1,725.73 1,474.01

Capital expenditure 81.67 48.50 54.24 26.81 17.56 16.60 ** 153.47 ** 91.91

Depreciation, impairment 
and amortization

49.64 31.12 12.00 20.01 24.98 21.39 *** 86.62 *** 72.52

   * Discontinuing operations

   ** excludes assets acquired on acquisition of new subsidiaries.

   *** excludes provision for impairment of Rs. 17.45 Crore (Rs. 1.75 Crore) reflected in Exceptional items.

  i) Secondary Segment Information

   The Group has identified geographical markets as the Secondary segment.

Geographical Segments Composition

Domestic All over India

International (others) Primarily Middle East, SAARC countries, Egypt, Malaysia, South Africa, 
Singapore and Vietnam.

 (Rs. Crore)

India Others Total

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

Revenue 3,435.64 2,935.77 1,160.54 1,043.90 4,596.18 3,979.67

Carrying amount of 
assets

2,620.43 1,590.35 1,086.80 1,026.67 3,707.23 2,617.02

Capital expenditure 93.09 53.49 60.38 38.42 * 153.47 * 91.91

   * excludes assets acquired on acquisition of new subsidiaries
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  ii) Notes to Segmental information

   a) Segment revenue and expense: Revenues and expenses directly attributable to segments are reported 

under each reportable segment. Revenue and expenses which relate to Group as whole and are not 

allocable to a segment on reasonable basis, have been disclosed under ‘Unallocable’.

   b) Segment Assets and Liabilities: Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment 

comprising intangibles, fixed assets, inventories, debtors, cash and bank balances and loans and 

advances. Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities of the segment comprising creditors and 

other liabilities. Investments, taxes and other assets and liabilities which are not allocable to segment 

on reasonable basis, have been disclosed under ‘Unallocable’.

43. Related Party disclosures

 a) Name of related parties and nature of relationship:

  i) Subsidiary companies (Refer note 2)

   Marico Innovation Foundation (w.e.f March 13, 2013)

   Marico Kaya Enterprises Limited (w.e.f January 19, 2013)

  ii) Key management personnel (KMP) :

   Harsh Mariwala, Chairman and Managing Director

  iii) Relatives of Key management personnel:

   Rishabh Mariwala, son of Harsh Mariwala

  iv) Others - Entities in which KMP has significant influence

   The Bombay Oil Private Limited

   Marico Innovation Foundation (upto March 12, 2013)

 b) Transactions during the year 

(Rs. Crore)

Particulars KMP and their 
relatives

Subsidiary Others

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

Remuneration 4.65 4.03 – – – –

Rent paid – – – – 0.08 –

Investments made during 
the year

– – 0.10 – – –

Donation Given – – 1.71 – – –

Loans and advances given – – 0.11 – – 0.65

 c) Balances as at the year end

(Rs. Crore)

Particulars KMP and their 
relatives

Subsidiary Others

March 31, 
2013

March 
31, 2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

Investments – – 0.10 – – –

Dues payable – – – – 0.02 –

Loans and advances – – 0.11 – – 0.65
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 d) Disclosure in respect of transactions which are more than 10% of the total transactions of the same type with 

related parties.

(Rs. Crore)

Particulars Transactions Balances
March 31, 

2013
March 31, 

2012
March 31, 

2013
March 31, 

2012
Rent paid
The Bombay Oil Private Limited 0.08 – 0.02 –
Remuneration
Harsh Mariwala 4.64 4.01 – –
Investment made during the year
Marico Kaya Enterprises Limited 0.10 – 0.10 –
Donation Given
Marico Innovation Foundation 1.71 – – –
Loans and advances given
Marico Innovation Foundation – 0.65 – 0.65
Marico Kaya Enterprises Limited 0.11 – 0.11 –

44. Managerial Remuneration:     

Nature of transactions: March 31, 
2013

Rs. Crore

March 31, 
2012

Rs. Crore
Payments and provisions on account of remuneration to Chairman and 
Managing Director included in the Statement of Profit and Loss
- Salary 2.97 2.60
- Contribution to provident and pension funds 0.34 0.30
- Other perquisites 0.13 0.07
Annual performance incentives 1.20 1.04

4.64 4.01
Remuneration to non-whole time directors (including Sitting fees) 1.10 0.47

 The above remuneration to Chairman and Managing Director does not include contribution to gratuity fund and provision 

for Leave encashment, as these are lump sum amounts for all relevant employees based on actuarial valuation.

45. Information relating to the discontinuing operations:     

 On January 7, 2013, the Board of Directors of Marico Limited approved a Scheme of Arrangement for demerger 

of the business undertaking of Kaya (“Kaya Business”) with effect from appointed date, April 1, 2013 (‘the Scheme’) 

subject to all regulatory and statutory approvals. The Scheme envisages the de-merger of Kaya Business into a 

new company, “Marico Kaya Enterprises Limited (‘MaKE’)”, which was incorporated on January 19, 2013 for the 

purpose. As a consideration, the shareholders of Marico Limited as on the record date shall be issued 1 share of 

MaKE with a face value of Rs. 10 each for every 50 shares of Marico with a face value of Re. 1 each, fully paid up. 

Consequently, the share holding structure of MaKE will mirror the share holding structure of Marico Limited.

 The management of the Company believes that the proposed de-merger will enable value creation for both the 

FMCG and Kaya businesses through focus and flexibility.

 As on March 31, 2013, Marico Limited is the sole shareholder of MaKE. Upon the Scheme becoming effective and 

upon issue of shares by Marico Kaya to the shareholders of Marico Limited, all the shares held by Marico Limited shall 

stand cancelled without any payment. Since the control is intended to be temporary, MaKE has not been considered 

for consolidation in accordance with Accounting Standard 21 (AS 21) ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’.

 The discontinuing operations on account of the proposed demerger relate to the skin care segment and comprise 

results of Kaya Limited, Kaya Middle East FZE, Derma-Rx International Aesthetics Pte. Ltd, Drx Clinic Pte Ltd, DRx 

Medispa Pte. Ltd, DRx Investments Pte. Ltd. And Drx Aesthetics Sdn. Bhd.
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 In view of the proposed de-merger of Kaya’s business from the Company, the shareholders of Marico Middle East 

FZE (MME) at their meeting held on March 18, 2013 approved the disinvestment of 100% stake in Kaya Middle East 

FZE (KME) to Derma Rx International Aesthetics Pte. Ltd (DIAL) for a consideration of 55,050,000 UAE Dirhams. 

The disinvestment was effected through a share purchase agreement between MME and DIAL dated February 7, 

2013 and executed on March 25, 2013, subject to approval from Hamriyah Free Zone Authority (HFZA).

 Carrying amounts as at March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 of the total assets and total liabilities in respect of 

skin care business:

Particulars As at March 31, 2013

(Rs. Crores)

As at March 31, 2012 

(Rs. Crores) 

Total assets 355.03 349.37

Total liabilities 237.07 252.18

 Amount of revenue, expenses, pre - tax profit and tax in respect of the ordinary activities attributable to the 

discontinuing operations:

Particulars For the year ended 

March 31, 2013

(Rs. Crores)

For the year ended 

March 31, 2012

(Rs. Crores)

Revenue 336.16 278.75

Operating expenses 350.08 316.95

Exceptional items (Refer note 38) 19.20 1.75

Pre-tax profits / (loss) (33.12) (39.95)

Tax expenses 3.92 3.83

Post-tax profits / (Loss) (37.04) (43.78)

 Amounts of net cash flows attributable to discontinuing Operations:

Particulars For the year ended 

March 31, 2013

(Rs. Crores)

For the year ended 

March 31, 2012

(Rs. Crores)

Cash flows from Operating activities 25.58 35.76

Cash flows from Investing activities (47.48) (26.36)

Cash flows from Financing activities 32.14 3.65

46. Previous Year Figures

 a) Previous year figures have been re-grouped and reclassified wherever necessary to conform to this year’s 

classification.

 b) The figures in brackets represent those of the previous year.

Signatures to Notes

For Price Waterhouse For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants HARSH MARIWALA Chairman and Managing Director
Firm Registration No. 301112E NIKHIL KHATTAU Director and Chairman of Audit Committee
   MILIND SARWATE Group Chief Financial Officer
UDAY SHAH HEMANGI GHAG Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
Partner  
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Place : Mumbai Place : Mumbai
Date  : April 30, 2013 Date  : April 30, 2013
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To the Members

Your Board of Directors (‘Board’) is pleased to present the Twenty Fifth Annual Report of your Company, Marico Limited, 

for the year ended March 31, 2013 (‘the year under review’, ‘the year’ or ‘FY13’).

In line with the requirements of the Listing Agreement with the BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange of India Limited, 

your Company has been reporting consolidated results – taking into account the results of its subsidiaries. This discussion 

therefore covers the financial results and other developments during April 2012 – March 2013 in respect of Marico 

Consolidated comprising Domestic Consumer Products Business under Marico Limited (Marico) in India, International 

Consumer Products Business comprising exports from Marico and operations of its overseas subsidiaries and the 

Skin Solutions Business of Kaya in India and overseas. The consolidated entity has been referred to as ‘Marico’ or 

‘Group’ or ‘Your Group’ in this discussion.

FINANCIAL RESULTS - AN OVERVIEW

Rs. Crore

Year ended March 31,

2013 2012

Consolidated Summary Financials for the Group

Revenue from Operations 4596.2 3979.7

Profit before Tax  551.9 400.3

Profit after Tax  395.9   317.1

Marico Limited – financials

Revenue from Operations 3407.1 2965.3

Profit before Tax 542.0 399.3

Less: Provision for Tax for the current year  112.9 62.7

Profit after Tax for the current year  429.1  336.6

Add : Surplus brought forward 835.4 602.5

Profit available for Appropriation 1264.5  939.1

Appropriations:

Distribution to shareholders  32.2  43.0

Tax on dividend  5.2 7.0 

37.4  50.0

Transfer to General Reserve 42.9  33.7

Debenture Redemption Reserve   21.3  20.0

Surplus carried forward  1162.8  835.4

Total 1264.5 939.1

DISTRIBUTION TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS

Your Company’s distribution policy has aimed at sharing your Company’s prosperity with its shareholders, through a 

formal earmarking / disbursement of profits to shareholders.

Keeping in mind the increase in the profits made by the Company over the last five years and in an endeavor to maximize 

the returns to its shareholders, the Company increased its dividend payout favourably during the year to 100% as 

compared to 70% during FY12. Your Company’s distribution to equity shareholders during FY13 comprised the following:

First interim dividend of 50% on the equity base of Rs 64.46 Crore

Second interim dividend of 50% on the equity base of Rs. 64.48 Crore

The total equity dividend for FY13 was at 100% amounting to (including dividend tax) Rs. 74.93 Crore. The overall 

dividend payout ratio hence is 19.3% as compared to 15.8% during FY12.
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

An Annexure to this Report contains a detailed Management Discussion and Analysis, which, inter alia, covers the following:

• Industry structure and development

• Opportunities and Threats

• Risks and Concerns

• Internal control systems and their adequacy

• Discussion on financial and operational performance

• Segment-wise performance

• Outlook

In addition, a Review of Operations of your Company has been given in this report.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During FY13 Marico registered revenue from operations of INR 4,596 Crore, a growth of 15% over the previous year. 

This was contributed by 12% expansion in volumes (includes 4% inorganic growth) accompanied by 3% through price 

increases and sales mix. The top line increase was accompanied by a bottom-line growth of 25%. Profit After Tax (PAT) 

including exceptional items during the year was at INR 396 Crore as against INR 317 Crore in FY12. The financial 

statements of FY13 and FY12 include certain exceptional items. The growth in PAT after excluding the impact of such 

items is healthy 18%. The details about the exceptional items is provided under section “Results of Operations”.

The Company has demonstrated steady growth on both the top line and the bottom line. Over the last 5 years, they 

have grown at a Compounded Annual Growth Rate of 19% each.

Consumer Products Business: India

The Consumer Products Business in India (CPB) achieved a turnover of INR 3,253 Crore during FY13, a growth of about 

18% over FY12. The organic domestic volume growth was about 11% in an environment of subdued demand. The 

healthy volume growth reflects strong equity of the Company’s brands in consumers’ minds.

Marico participates in the INR 2800 crore (USD 518 million) branded coconut oil market through Parachute, Nihar and 

Oil of Malabar. Parachute coconut oil in rigid packs, the focus part of its portfolio, grew by 10% in volume as compared 

to FY12. During the 12 month period ended March 2013 Parachute along with Nihar improved its market share by 

about 240 basis points (bps) over the same period last year to 57.6%

Marico’s hair oil brands (Parachute Advansed, Nihar and Hair & Care) have performed well over the past few years. 

These brands continued to record very healthy growths and market share gains during FY13. The volume growth rate 

was 24% for FY13. Marico’s basket of hair oil brands achieved market leadership position in the Value Added Hair Oils 

space and now have about 27% share (for 12 months ended March 31, 2013) in the INR 4500 crore (USD 834 million) 

market. This compares to a share of about 17%-18% about 5-6 years ago.

The Saffola refined edible oils franchise grew by about 7% in volume terms during FY13 compared to FY12. The 

deceleration in the growth can be attributed to two reasons: a softer demand environment in premium packaged foods 

that are discretionary in nature and inflation in the safflower oil and rice bran oil being at significantly higher levels 

compared to inflation in sunflower oil. This had led to expansion in premium of Saffola vis-à-vis the other refined edible 

oils. Though the Company doesn’t believe that Saffola’s existing consumers are down trading there is a deceleration in 

the rate at which new consumers are upgrading into the Saffola brand, leading to a lower growth rate. The Company 

has initiated some price reduction in select packs in order to bring the premium back to sustainable levels.

Saffola oats, including its savory variants, are now available on a national basis. Saffola has an exit market share of 
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about 13% by volume in the Oats category and has emerged as the number two player in the category showing a fast 

paced growth of 30% per annum. Besides offering oats Saffola strengthened its position in the breakfast category by 

introducing Muesli on a national basis. The market size of Muesli is estimated to be around INR 80 crore to INR 100 

crore (USD 14.8 million to USD 18.5 million) growing rapidly at rates in excess of 40%. Saffola Muesli has already 

become a number 3 player with an exit market share of about 9%.

Parachute Advansed Body Lotion has achieved a market share of over 7% (moving 12 months basis) within a short 

period of time and has become the number 3 participant in the market. The brand gained about 320 bps in market 

share during the current season as compared to the last season.

The acquired portfolio of the youth brands has completed its first financial year in Marico’s hands (even though this year 

was of 9 months as the transaction was completed in end of May 2012). The overall performance thus far is tracking 

better than the company’s acquisition assumptions. The turnover achieved from the youth brands during the year was 

INR 139 crore (USD 25.7 million), a growth of 18% over the corresponding period in FY12.

International FMCG Business

The year FY13 has been a mixed year for the international FMCG business. The overall business environment in 

international business remained challenging throughout the year. There were some pockets of the business that performed 

well whereas at the same time some faced challenges. The overall performance was subdued during the year mainly 

on account of de-growth in Middle East region.

During FY13, the Company’s international business recorded a turnover growth of 8% over FY12. Without considering 

the impact of adverse performance in GCC region, the international business grew by 17%.  

Kaya

Kaya offers skin care solutions - its technology led cosmetic dermatological services and products through 105 clinics: 

83 in India across 26 cities and 18 in the Middle East in addition to the 4 DRx clinics and medispas in Singapore and 

Malaysia.

During the year FY13, Kaya achieved a turnover of INR 336 crore (USD 62.2 million) registering a growth of about 21% 

over FY12. The Kaya business in India and in the Middle East achieved same store sales growth of about 12% during 

FY13 as compared to FY12. Amidst an environment where the discretionary spends are witnessing a deceleration in 

growth rates Kaya business has continued to report growth.

During FY13, Kaya recorded a loss of about INR 18.5 crore (USD 3.4 million) at the PBIT level. This compares with a 

loss of INR 30.8 crore (USD 5.7 million) at PBIT level for FY12 (this includes a financial hit of INR 13 crores of one-time 

adjustment in Kaya Middle East). The losses for the year FY13 also include a financial hit amounting to INR 15 crore 

(USD 2.8 million) on account of impairment of certain clinics in India and Middle East which are not performing as per 

expectation.

Taking the objective of increasing the product sales further, Kaya has introduced a new concept in the month of December 

2012 called “Kaya Skin Bar”. The Company now has three such stores opened in Delhi and Bangalore. The Company 

plans to prototype this concept with 4 or 5 stores and depending upon the response it will decide the future course of 

action.

OTHER CORPORATE DEVELOPMENTS

Completion of acquisition of Personal Care brands of Paras Pharmaceuticals from Reckitt Benckiser

Marico completed the acquisition of Halite Personal Care India Private Limited (the Company that owned personal care 

brands of Paras Pharmaceuticals Limited) from Reckitt Benckiser on May 29, 2012. This acquisition gave Marico an 

access to the male grooming brands Set Wet and Zatak and the post wash hair serum brand Livon. This acquisition is 

in line with the strategy to strengthen our participation in categories of hair care, skin care and male grooming. The 
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acquired business operates in categories such as Hair creams/gels, Leave-on conditioner and Deodorants. While this 

acquisition gives your Company a leadership position in the categories of hair creams and gels and Leave-on conditioners, 

it also provides an entry into the fast growing deodorant category. The Company also expects to leverage synergies in 

the areas of buying (input materials and media) and distribution. There are also reverse distribution synergies of the 

acquired portfolio with Marico’s existing portfolio as the acquired portfolio gives Marico an access to the chemist and 

cosmetic channel of distribution in a much larger way. This year, the Company focused on integrating the operations 

into its own manufacturing, sales and distribution network. The integration process was successful and now complete.

Preferential Allotment of Equity Shares to part fund the acquisition of Personal care business of Paras 

Pharmaceuticals

The shareholders of the Company, at their meeting held on May 2, 2012, approved issue of equity shares on preferential 

allotment basis aggregating Rs. 50,000 lacs at a price of Rs. 170 per equity share to two overseas investors for funding 

a part of the Halite acquisition. Subsequently, the Company allotted 29,411,764 equity shares of face value of Re. 1 

each at a share premium of Rs. 169 each to these investors on May 16, 2012. This resulted in increase of equity share 

capital by Rs. 294.12 lacs and securities premium reserve by Rs. 49,705.88 lacs. The proceeds of the issue together with 

internal accruals were infused by Marico as equity investment in MCCL. MCCL utilized the equity proceeds for acquiring 

100% equity stake in Halite on May 29, 2012.

Restructuring of businesses, corporate entities and organization

The Board of Directors of Marico Limited, at its meeting held on 7th January 2013, passed a resolution approving 

restructuring of Marico’s businesses, corporate entities and organization, effective April 1, 2013.

This restructuring is a proactive step to build on Marico’s sustained value creation, taking into account

• the increasing convergence of businesses in Consumer Products in India (Current CPB) and the International Business 

Group (Current IBG) and

• Kaya’s distinct potential to create value as an independent business.

Marico Limited is currently the apex corporate entity, which effectively owns all businesses in the group. The objective is 

to create two separate companies through partitioning of the current Marico Limited, into an FMCG Business Company 

which is Marico Limited and Marico Kaya Enterprises Limited (MaKE), a newly formed Skin Care Solutions Business 

Company for this purpose.

As a consideration, the shareholders of Marico Limited as on the record date shall be issued 1 share of MaKE with a 

face value of Rs. 10 each for every 50 shares of Marico with a face value of Re. 1 each. Consequently, the shareholding 

structure of MaKE will mirror the shareholding structure of Marico Limited.

The Corporate Entity restructuring is subject to shareholders, creditors, lenders and other contractual, statutory and 

regulatory approvals as may be required.

Subsidiaries of the Company

With effect from March 15, 2013, Marico Innovation Foundation (MIF), a company registered under Section 25 of the 

Companies Act, 1956, as a company limited by guarantee not having share capital, became a wholly owned subsidiary 

of the Company. MIF was set up with an objective to fuel innovation and promote application of qualified innovation in 

all forms of businesses, educational, social, cultural, and creative and sports related enterprises. Your Company would 

continue to make contributions towards CSR through the activities of MIF.

Halite Personal Care India Private Limited (Halite), a step down subsidiary of the Company, is under voluntary liquidation. 

On January 18, 2013, the shareholders of Halite passed a special resolution for voluntarily liquidation and appointment 

of a liquidator. The liquidator distributed the assets of Halite in species to its only shareholder Marico Consumer Care 

Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of your Company.
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MCCL Capital Reduction Scheme 

The shareholders of MCCL, at their meeting held on April 1, 2013 decided to adjust the carrying costs of acquired 

intellectual property right upon voluntary liquidation of Halite, directly against net worth of the company, in accordance 

with the provisions of Section 78 (read with Sections 100 to 103) of the Companies Act, 1956. The said capital reduction 

is subject to the approval of the Hon’ble High Court of Judicature at Bombay. MCCL has filed a petition in this regard 

with the High Court.

Transfer of KME ownership from MME to DIAL

To align the shareholding in Kaya’s skin care business so as to integrate the ownership under Kaya Limited in view of 

the proposed de-merger in Kaya’s skin care business from the Company, the shareholders of Marico Middle East FZE 

at their meeting held on March 18, 2013 approved disinvestment of 100% stake in Kaya Middle East FZE to Derma Rx 

International Aesthetics Pte. Ltd (DIAL) for a consideration of 55,050,000 UAE Dirhams. The disinvestment was effected 

through a share purchase agreement between MME and DIAL dated February 7, 2013 subject to approval from Hamriyah 

Free Zone Authority (HFZA). Post approval it will become a subsidiary of DIAL.

Marico Employee Stock Option Scheme 2007

In pursuance of shareholders’ approval obtained on November 24, 2006, your Company formulated and implemented 

an Employee Stock Options Scheme (the Scheme) for grant of Employee Stock Options (ESOS) to certain employees of 

the Company and its subsidiaries. The Corporate Governance Committee (‘Committee’) of the Board of Directors of 

your Company is entrusted with the responsibility of administering the Scheme and in pursuance thereof, the Committee 

has granted 1,13,76,300 stock options (as at March 31, 2013) comprising about 1.76% of the current paid up equity 

capital of the Company as at March 31, 2013. An aggregate of 3,52,665 options were outstanding as on March 31, 

2013. Additional information on ESOS as required by Securities and Exchange Board of India (Employees Stock Option 

Scheme and Employees Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999 is annexed and forms part of this Report.

None of the Non-executive Directors (including Independent Directors) have received stock options in pursuance of the 

above Scheme. Likewise, no employee has been granted stock options, during the year equal to or exceeding 0.5% of 

the issued capital (excluding outstanding warrants and conversions) of the Company at the time of grant.

The Company’s Auditors, M/s. Price Waterhouse, have certified that the Scheme has been implemented in accordance 

with the SEBI Guidelines and the resolution passed by the members at the Extra-Ordinary General Meeting held on 

November 24, 2006.

Marico Employees Stock Appreciation Rights Plan, 2011

Your Company had implemented a long term incentive plan namely, Marico Stock Appreciation Rights Plan, 2011 

(‘STAR Plan’) in the previous financial year for the welfare of its employees and those of its subsidiaries. Pursuant to 

the STAR Plan the Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors notifies various Schemes granting Stock 

Appreciation Rights (STARs) to certain eligible employees. Each STAR is represented by one equity share of the Company. 

The eligible employees are entitled to receive excess of the maturity price over the grant price in respect of such STARs 

subject to fulfillment of certain conditions and subject to deduction of tax. During the financial year under review the 

Corporate Governance Committee notified Scheme III on December 7, 2012 under the STAR Plan granting additional 

STARs to certain eligible employees. The vesting date of the STARs granted under Scheme III is November 30, 2015. As 

on March 31, 2013, an aggregate of 58,79,800 STARs were outstanding.

Exemption from attaching the Balance Sheets, etc. of the Subsidiary Companies with the Balance Sheet of the 

Company

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) has vide its circular no. 02/2011 dated 8th February, 2011, granted a general 

exemption under Section 212(8) of the Companies Act from attaching copies of the Balance Sheet, Statement of Profit 
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and Loss, Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report of its subsidiary companies with the Balance Sheet of the Company, 

subject to fulfillment of certain conditions.

In terms of the said circular, copies of the Balance Sheet, Statement of Profit and Loss, Report of the Board of Directors 

and the Report of the Auditors of the Subsidiary Companies have not been attached to the Balance Sheet of the Company. 

The Company has presented Consolidated Financial Statements comprising Marico Limited and its subsidiaries duly 

audited by the Statutory Auditors of the Company. The Consolidated Financial Statements prepared by the Company 

are in compliance with the Accounting Standard AS-21 as prescribed by the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 

2006 and the Listing Agreement with the Stock Exchanges. The statement required under Section 212 of the Companies 

Act, 1956 is attached to the annual accounts of the Company. The Annual Accounts and related documents of all the 

Subsidiary Companies shall be made available for inspection to the shareholders of the Company and its subsidiaries 

at the Registered Office of the Company from Monday to Friday during the hours between 11.00 a.m. and 1.00 p.m. 

The Company will also make available physical copies of such documents upon request by any Member of the Company 

or its subsidiaries interested in obtaining the same and the same would also be made available on the website of the 

Company.

PUBLIC DEPOSITS

There were no outstanding Public deposits at the end of this or the previous year. The Company did not accept any 

public deposits during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

Pursuant to Section 217(2AA) of the Companies Act, 1956 (the Act) amended by the Companies (Amendment) Act, 

2000, the Directors confirm that:

♦ In preparation of the Annual Accounts of your Company, the Accounting Standards, laid down by the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants of India from time to time, have been followed and that no material departures have been 

made from the same;

♦ Appropriate accounting policies have been selected and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent judgment 

and estimates have been made so as to ensure that the accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 

your Company as at March 31, 2013 and the profits of your Company for the year ended March 31, 2013;

♦ Proper and sufficient care has been taken for maintenance of appropriate accounting records in accordance with 

the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of your Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and 

other irregularities;

♦ The annual accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis;

♦ The observation(s) and qualification(s) of the Auditors in their report to the Members have been adequately dealt 

with in the relevant notes to the accounts. Hence no additional explanation is considered necessary.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on Corporate Governance has been provided as a separate part of this Report.

DIRECTORS

Directors retiring by rotation

Mr. Rajen Mariwala and Mr. Atul Choksey, Directors of the Company, are liable to retire pursuant to the provisions of 

Section 256 of the Companies Act, 1956 respectively and being eligible offer themselves for re-appointment.
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ADDITIONAL STATUTORY INFORMATION

Information under Section 217(1)(e) of the Act read with the Companies (Disclosure of Particulars in the Report of the 

Board of Directors) Rules, 1988 is annexed and forms part of this Report. Information pursuant to Section 217(2A) of 

the Act read with the Companies (Particulars of Employees) Rules, 1975, as amended by the Companies (Particulars of 

Employees) Amendment Rules, 1999 forms part of this Report. Although in accordance with the provisions of Section 219(1)

(b)(iv) of the Act such information has been excluded from the Report and Accounts sent to the Members, any member 

desirous of obtaining this information may write to the Company Secretary at the Registered Office of the Company.

STATUTORY AUDITORS

M/s. Price Waterhouse, Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors of the Company retire at the ensuing Annual 

General Meeting and have confirmed their eligibility for re-appointment.

COST AUDITORS

Your Company appointed M/s. Ashwin Solanki & Associates, Cost Accountants, Mumbai, to conduct the cost audit for 

the Financial Year ended March 31, 2013 with respect to the products falling under Pharmaceutical, Edible Oil seeds 

and Oils (including Vanaspati) and packaged foods category. The Company has received necessary approval from 

Central Government for appointment of the Cost Auditor. The Cost Audit Report for the year ended March 31, 2013, 

will be submitted to the Central Government in due course.

INTERNAL AUDITORS

Ernst & Young LLP, a Chartered Accountant Firm, has been associated with your Company from the financial year 

2012-13 as its internal auditor partnering your Company in the area of risk management and internal control systems.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The Board takes this opportunity to thank all its employees for their dedicated service and firm commitment to the goals 

of the Company. The Board also wishes to place on record its sincere appreciation for the wholehearted support received 

from shareholders, distributors, bankers and all other business associates, and from the neighbourhood communities 

of the various Marico locations. We look forward to continued support of all these partners in progress.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Place : Mumbai  HARSH MARIWALA

Date  : April 30, 2013  Chairman and Managing Director
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ANNEXURE TO THE DIRECTORS' REPORT
Disclosure of Particulars with respect to Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption and Foreign Exchange earnings 

and outgo as required under the Companies (Disclosure of Particulars in the Report of Board of Directors) Rules, 1988.

A. Conservation of Energy

 Marico continued to emphasize on the conservation and optimal utilization of energy in every manufacturing unit 

of the Company. The energy conservation measures implemented during FY13 are listed below:

 Plant - Kanjikode

 • Installation of VFD in copra silo outlet to ensure optimum load-ability thereby reducing power consumption 

by 84,000 units.

 • Copra cutter process improvement led to significant productivity improvement and utilization, resulting in 

reduction of SPC by 3.5 units/MT copra; thereby reducing power consumption by 73,500 units and GHG 

emission by 75,600 KgCO2/year.

 • A sensor based control was installed in copra cooking kettle to cut off electricity supply when the kettle is not 

loaded leading to reduction in power consumption by 3,750 units.

 • Installation of Solar powered lights in parts of the factory premises and LED lights as a green initiative.

 Plant - Pondicherry

 • Pondicherry Power Task Force Energy Conservation Initiatives have resulted in a reduction of 1,06,620 Units/

Year and reduction of 95 tons of CO2 emission through following initiatives:

 o Maintaining the power factor @ 0.99 by maintaining the capacitor bank and received 4% initiative from EB

 o Conversion of CFL from Sodium Vapor Lamp in Oil Mill.

 o CRT Monitor to LED conversion in Plant.

 o Level controller in the first compartment of cooker.

 • Improvement in productivity led to reduction in SPC by 52,930 units. 

 Plant - Jalgaon

 • Pump rating rationalized basis usage for various pumps used for water pumping as well as oil pumping.

 • Installation of VFD on boiler feed belt to reduce rpm from 1440 to 800 rpm.

 • Temperature controller installed on cooling tower.

 Plant – Paonta

 • VFD installed in manufacturing vessels leading to batch time reduction and thereby reduction in energy 

consumption.

 • Water harvesting done thereby returning 20% of ground water usage.

 • Usage of treated ETP water for gardening purposes.

 • Utilization of the compressed air in transfer pump for SNS thereby decreasing energy consumption.

 • Transfer of SNS/Livon bulk from storage tanks to day tanks through gravity without any transfer pump

thereby eliminating the energy use.

 • Translucent sheets used in roofing for proper utilization of sunlight for illumination.

 • Installation of turbo ventilators for air ventilation instead of conventional air exhausts.

 • Reducing the diesel consumption by introducing the heating rod for heating the LPG cylinders in the FT area.
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 • Faster heating of pasteurized water through direct heating method, thus overall KW consumption reduction.

 • MALT pouch packaging changed from single trek to multi trek, thus reduce the energy and manpower.

 • Cap Bowl feeder pneumatic splashes done on sensor to reduce the overall air usage thus effectively reducing 

overall air consumption.

 Plant – Dehradun

 • Usage of spent steam for heating RCNO in storage tanks during winters (14,580 units saved per annum).

 • Introduction of online cap heater for flip top caps by removing the conventional off-line cap heater, and saving 

power.

 • Through a lean sigma project optimized the Interplant movement from 265 to 133 average movements per 

month, thus saving fuel consumption reducing carbon foot-print.

 • Replacement of 250W mercury lamps with 22W CFL lamps.

 • Reduced the batch manufacturing time of Nihar Shanti Badam batch by 20 minutes, thus saving the agitator 

running time for 20 mins for each batch. On an average 80 minutes of agitator running saved per manufacturing 

tank.

 • Reduced the batch making time of Parachute Body lotion by 95 minutes for each bath, thus saving the use of 

homogenizer and the transfer activity, which in turn saved power.

 • Insulation of steam and chiller pipeline in MGS location.

 • Re-designed the blowing mechanism of the Hot Air Room and reduced the use of 2 heaters of 1KW.

 • Non insulated Batch oil transfer Tanker insulation done to prevent from freezing during winters reducing electric 

energy required for heat tracing and melting of bulk oil.

 • Common preblend in bulk for batch manufacturing to saving time and energy for 4 batches of Nihar Shanti 

Badam.

 • Lux level improvement on shopfloor through glass pan window through utilization of natural light.

 • LLP flushing gun for CIP of batch oil change overs made, thus reducing the cycle time and LLP quantity required 

for flushing.

 • Localized Shanti badam manufacturing to avoid tanker transfer hence reducing the carbon footprint.

 • Installation of roof extractors for better natural light and air circulation thus to avoid electricity consumption 

by exhaust fans.

 • Horizontal stack packed deployment for all EBM bottles leading to higher space and vertical height, truck 

loadibility, cost of corrugated boxes.

 Plant - Goa

 • The following energy conservation initatives led to reduction of 49,798 units of electricity consumption :

o Installation of VFD for Cooker 2 Motor thus by reducing Motor rating from 37KW to 7.4KW

with speed reduction.

o Pre-breaker Motor size reduction from 22KW to 11KW.

o Compressor usage reduction from 173.5 CFM to 105 CFM reducing 15KW.

 o Reducing C21 Motor size from 2.2KW to 1.5KW.

 o SPC reduction in Filling from 40 units /KL to 23 Units / KL with changing line configuration.
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 Plant – Baddi

 • Furnace Oil quality improvement through initiatives like :

o Installation of Bomb calorimeter for CV measurement of Furnace Oil.

o Installation of PHE for heating oil in Post bleaching by using heat of deodorized oil thus saving steam 

consumption by 1 MT per day.

o Changing refining process of KO Oleic from chemical refining and thus saving 5 litres/MT of  Furnace 

oil for KO Oleic.

 • Power usage reduction through initiatives like:

o VFD installation on Cooling tower motor thereby  savings of 25 KW/Hr.

 Plant - Perundurai

 • Elimination of over flow conveyers for both first stage and second stage expellers by providing instrumentation 

controls on cookers and bins and erection of energy efficient conveying systems in copra raw material handling 

section led to savings of 2 units per MT of copra, thereby reducing electricity consumption by 5,100 units per 

month.

 • Idle running of plant machinery eliminated by automation and PLC with SCADA resulting is reduction of 

electricity consumption by 1,200 Units per month.

 • Boiler improvements by way of condensate recovery and design changes have resulted in higher efficiency 

leading to reduction in SFC by 5%, thereby reducing fuel consumption by 1085 liters per month.

 • Other energy conservation initiatives include design of plant to make use of natural lighting and automatic 

lighting systems.

 Marico continued its journey towards effective utilization of energy. Significant reduction in power consumption has 

been achieved and rationalization efforts will continue.

 The details of total energy consumption and energy consumption per unit of production are given in Enclosure ‘A’.

B. Technology Absorption

 I. Research and Development (R&D)

  1. Specific areas in which R&D was carried out by your Company:

   In the past year, R&D has done considerable work to generate indepth insights in Male grooming and 

post wash hair care category. This insighting was done to create new business opportunities in the 

recently acquired business of male grooming category. The group also invested substantial efforts to 

understand  the evolving hair care space in terms of products and solutions. These insights provided 

triggers for  development of new products which found relevance in consumers evolving lifestyle.

   Following are some of the new initiatives in R&D:

   • Consumer Insighting: The quest to understand consumer sensory relating to product usage and 

benefits was continued by employing newer techniques. This has yielded positive results in creating 

sensorially differentiable products.

   • Research for New benefits: The thrust on generation of basic science to explore and unravel newer 

hair and skin care benefits of actives continued. Collaborations with international institutes have 

played a major role in the successful outcome in product development.

   • Open Innovation: The approach to engage the scientific community at large to cocreate new products 

was continued. Several collaborations with individuals as well as companies were established to create 

new science and products.
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  2. Benefits derived as the result of the above efforts:

   • Products based on consumer insights to build consumer appeal.

   • Focus on competition to benchmark the benefit delivery.

   • Creation of new technology platforms to address unmet as well as under-met consumer needs.

   • Collaborations with experts led to substantial progress in the science journey.

   • Co-creation of best in class products and solutions with experts.

  3. Future Plan of Action:

   Your Company’s R&D will work towards continuous innovation in process, product & packaging  technology 

to offer consumers value for money with delightful new product concepts, sensorial and product efficacy.

  4. Expenditure on R&D:

(Rs. Crore)

2012-13 2011-12

a) Capital 0.86 0.78

b) Recurring  5.95 6.37

     Total 6.81 7.15

c) Total R & D expenditure as % to Sales & Services   0.20 0.24

d) Total R & D expenditure as % to PBT  1.26 1.79

 II. Technology absorption, adaptation and innovation

  1. Efforts, in brief, made towards technology absorption, adoption and innovation and benefits derived as 

a result of the same:

   During this year, the team invested substantial efforts in collaborating with external research 

community  under open innovation program. Special efforts were taken to identify new technologies 

which can step jump the new benefits levels in skin and hair products. The collaboration with national 

and international universities has enabled creation of new technology platforms. The Research Advisor 

Committee  established a few years back has given impetus to the science journey. All of this has made 

a huge impact on the quality of the products in terms of benefit level and shorter development time.

  2. Imported technology:

   A few technologies have been sourced through the Open Innovation model. These technologies are 

being offered by the international suppliers to the manufacturers at large. Marico R&D is working with 

these suppliers to create modified versions of the technologies which will be appropriate to the Marico 

products.

C. Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo

 CIF value of imports  

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Raw materials 149.22 131.89

Packing materials 1.18 2.2

Capital goods 0.36 1.17

Stock - in - trade (Traded goods) 0.15 1.09

Total 150.91 136.35 
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 Expenditure in foreign currency  

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Travelling and other expenses 0.50 0.65

Advertisement and sales promotion 5.19 4.78

Interest on other loans 11.19 8.01

Miscellaneous expenses 2.19 1.13

Total 19.07 14.57

 Earnings in foreign currency  

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

FOB value of exports 138.59 192.35

Royalty 6.08 7.62

Dividend 18.71 19.89

Interest 4.10 4.09

Corporate guarantee income 0.70 0.77

Total 168.18 224.72

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Place : Mumbai  HARSH MARIWALA

Date  : April 30, 2013  Chairman and Managing Director
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ANNEXURE TO THE DIRECTORS' REPORT
Auditors’ Certificate regarding compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance 

To the Members of Marico Limited

We have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by Marico Limited (‘the Company’), for 

the year ended March 31,2013, as stipulated in Clause 49 of the Listing Agreements of the said Company with stock 

exchanges in India.

The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 

examination was carried out in accordance with the Guidance Note on Certification of Corporate Governance (as 

stipulated in Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement), issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and was limited 

to procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance of the conditions of 

Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us,   

We certify that the Company has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the above 

mentioned Listing Agreements.

We state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or 

effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.  

 For Price Waterhouse  

  Firm Registration Number: 301112E

 Chartered Accountants

   

Uday Shah 

Place: Mumbai Partner 

Date: April 30, 2013        Membership Number: F-46061
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Disclosure pursuant to the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Board of India

(Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999

Marico Employee Stock Option Scheme 2007 (ESOS 2007)

ANNEXURE TO THE DIRECTORS' REPORT

a) Options granted (as at March 31, 2013) 11,376,300 options aggregating to about 1.85% of the 

paid-up equity capital of the Company (options, net of 

lapsed/forfeited/exercised as at March 31, 2013: 352,665 

options aggregating to about 0.05% of the paid-up capital 

of the Company).

b) The pricing formula The Exercise Price of the options shall be lower of the 

following:

Average of the closing price for last 21 (twenty one) trading 

session(s) on National Stock Exchange (NSE) prior to the date 

on which the Corporate Governance Committee, grants the 

specific number of options to the employees,

Or

The closing price for the last session on National Stock 

Exchange (NSE) prior to the date on which the Corporate 

Governance Committee, grants the specific number of 

options to the employees.

c) Options vested (as at March 31, 2013) 6,673,835

d) Options exercised (as at March 31, 2013) 6,360,035

e) The total number of shares arising as a result of

exercising of option (as at March 31, 2013)

6,360,035

f) Options lapsed/forfeited (as at March 31, 2013) 4,702,465

g) Variation of terms of options -N.A.-

h) Money realised by exercise of options (as at March 

31, 2013)

Rs. 24,624,228

i) Total number of options in force (as at March 31, 

2013)

3,13,800

j) Employee wise details of options granted to : (as at 

March 31, 2013)

i) Senior Managerial Personnel A summary* of options granted to senior managerial 

personnel are as under :

No. of employees covered – 11 (Eleven)

No. of options granted to such personnel(options, net of 

lapsed/forfeited/exercised ) – 751,400 (Seven Lac Fifty One 

Thousand Four Hundred only)

*Only summary given due to sensitive nature of information

ii) any other employee who receives a grant in any one 

year of options amounting to 5% or more of option 

granted during the year

-N.A.-
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iii) identified employees who were granted option, 

during any one year, equal to or exceeding 1% of 

the issued capital (excluding outstanding warrants 

and conversions) of the company at the time of grant

-N.A.-

k) Diluted Earnings per Share (EPS) pursuant to issue of 

shares on exercise of option calculated in accordance 

with the Accounting Standard (AS) 20’ Earnings per 

Share

Rs. 6.69

l) i) Method of calculating employee compensation cost The Company has calculated the employee compensation 

cost using the intrinsic value method of accounting for the 

options granted under the Scheme

ii) Difference between the employee compensation 

cost so computed at (I) above and the employee 

compensation cost that shall have been recognised 

if it had used the fair value of the Options

Rs. 0.31 Crore

iii) The impact of this difference on the profits and on 

EPS of the Company

Had the Company considered ‘fair value’ method then 

the additional employee compensation cost would be

Rs. 0.31 Crore the Profit Before Tax would be lower by the 

same amount and Earning Per Share by Re.0.0048

m) Weighted average exercise price and weighted 

average fair values of options (to be disclosed 

separately for options whose exercise price either 

equals or exceeds or is less than the market price 

of the stock)

Weighted average Exercise Price : Rs. 57.85

Weighted average Fair Value of Option : Rs.25.77

n) Description of method and significant assumptions 

used during the year to estimate the fair values of 

options

Intrinsic Value Method

i) risk – free interest rate

ii) expected life of options

iii) expected volatility

iv) expected dividends

v) closing market price of share on date of option grant
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ANNEXURE TO THE DIRECTORS' REPORT ENCLOSURE 'A'
ENCLOSURE ‘A’

Power & Fuel Consumption
For the year ended March 31

Note: The numbers given below relate to the own manufacturing facilities of the Company. 2013 2012

1. Electricity      

  a. Purchased units (Kwh)     13,886,537  12,246,583 

   Amount (Rs. Crore)   7.41    5.77 

   Average Rate (Rs./ Unit)    5.33   4.71 

  b. Own Generation      

   i. Through Diesel Generator (Kwh)    1,781,465   2,135,953 

    Amount (Rs. Crore)   2.91  3.00 

    Average Rate (Rs./ Unit)   16.31    14.07 

2. Coal     –   –

3. Furnace oil      

  Quantity (KL)    3,670.74  2,702.69 

  Amount (Rs. Crore)    17.90  11.92

  Average Rate (Rs./ KL)    48,758.94   44,122.43 

4. Other Internal Generation (excludes HSD used for electricity generation)    

  L.D.O / H.S.D.    –   – 

  Quantity (KL)    465.84   542.28  

  Amount (Rs. Crore)   2.10  2.02

  Average Rate (Rs./ KL)    45,126.56  37,163.82 

 5. Baggase Consumption      

   Quantity (MT)   5,916.53   6,705.91 

   Amount (Rs. Crore)    1.60  1.49 

   Average Rate (Rs./ MT)    2,711.02  2,225.60

 Consumption per unit of production of edible oils

   Unit

  Electricity  Kwh 128.78 136.03

   Coal  MT – – 

   Furnace oil  KL 0.08 0.03 

   L.D.O./H.S.D.  KL – –  

  Baggase KG 0.52 0.50

 Consumption per unit of production of processed foods

   Unit

  Electricity  Kwh – – 

   Coal  MT  – – 

   Furnace oil  KL – –

   L.D.O./H.S.D.  KL  – –  

 Consumption per unit of production of hair oils & other formulations

   Unit

  Electricity  Kwh     37.69      44.96 

   Coal  MT –        –   

   Furnace oil  KL         – –

   L.D.O./H.S.D.  KL         – –
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This report on Corporate Governance is divided into the following parts:

• Philosophy on Code of Corporate Governance

• Board of Directors

• Audit Committee

• Remuneration Committee / Corporate Governance Committee

• Shareholders' Committee

• General Body Meetings

• Disclosures

• Means of Communication

• General Shareholder Information

I. PHILOSOPHY ON CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

 Basic Philosophy

 Corporate Governance encompasses laws, procedures, practices and implicit rules that determine a management’s 

ability to take sound decisions vis-à-vis all its stakeholders – in particular, its shareholders, creditors, the State and 

employees. There is a global consensus on the objective of Good Corporate Governance: Maximising long-term 

shareholder value.

 Since shareholders are residual claimants, this objective follows from a premise that in well-performing capital and 

financial markets, whatever maximises shareholder value must necessarily maximise corporate value, and best 

satisfy the claims of creditors, employees and the State.

 A company which is proactively compliant with the law and which adds value to itself through Corporate Governance 

initiatives would also command a higher value in the eyes of present and prospective shareholders.

 Marico therefore believes that Corporate Governance is not an end in itself but is a catalyst in the process towards 

maximisation of shareholder value. Therefore, shareholder value as an objective is woven into all aspects of 

Corporate Governance - the underlying philosophy, development of roles, creation of structures and continuous 

compliance with standard practices.

 Corporate Governance as a concept has gained considerable importance of late, primarily because of the proposal 

to enshrine many of the accepted good governance principles into corporate law. For Marico, however, good 

corporate governance has been a cornerstone of the entire management process, the emphasis being on professional 

management, with a decision making model based on decentralisation, empowerment and meritocracy. Together, 

the management & Board ensure that Marico remains a company of uncompromised integrity and excellence.

Risk Assessment and Risk Mitigation Framework

 Marico believes that:

 • Risks are an integral part of any business environment and it is essential that we create structures that are 

capable of identifying and mitigating them in a continuous and vibrant manner.

 • Risks are multi-dimensional and therefore have to be looked at in a holistic manner, straddling both, the 

external environment and the internal processes.

 Marico’s Risk Management processes therefore envisage that all significant activities are analysed across the value 

chain keeping in mind the following types of risks:

 � Business Risks

 � Controls Risks

 � Governance Risks
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 This analysis is followed by the relevant Function(s) in Marico prioritizing the risks basis their potential impact and 

then tracking and reporting status on the mitigation plans for periodic management reviews. This is aimed at 

ensuring that adequate checks and balances are in place with reference to each significant risk.

 The Board and its Audit Committee are periodically presented with all the information under risks management at 

group level and the progress on the risk responses.

 The Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size of the Company and the nature of its 

business. The Audit Committee of the Board has the ultimate authority and responsibility to select, evaluate and, 

where appropriate, replace the independent auditor in accordance with the law. All possible measures must be 

taken by the Committee to ensure the objectivity and independence of the independent auditor. The Committee, 

independent of the executive director and promoter directors of the Company, holds periodic one to one discussions 

with the Internal Auditors to review the scope and findings of audit and to ensure adequacy of internal audit system 

in the Company. The Audit Committee reviews the internal audit plan for every year and approves the same in 

consultation with top management and internal auditor.

 We believe that this framework ensures a unified and comprehensive perspective.

 Cornerstones

 Marico thus follows Corporate Governance Practices around the following philosophical cornerstones:

  Generative Transparency and Openness in Information sharing

  Marico believes that sharing and explaining all relevant information on the Company’s policies and actions 

to all those to whom it has responsibilities, with transparency and openness, generates an ambience which 

helps all stakeholders to take informed decisions about the Company. This reflects externally in making 

maximum appropriate disclosures without jeopardising the Company’s strategic interests as also internally in 

the Company’s relationship with its employees and in the conduct of its business.

  The Company announces its financial results each quarter, usually within a month of the end of the quarter. 

Apart from disclosing these in a timely manner to the stock exchanges, the Company also hosts the results on 

its website together with a detailed information update and media release discussing the results. The financial 

results are published in leading newspapers. The Company also sends an email update to the shareholders who 

have registered their email address with the Company. Marico participates in analyst and investor conference 

calls, one-on-one meetings and investor conferences where analysts and fund managers get frequent access 

to the Company’s senior management. Presentations made by the Company at investor conferences are also 

uploaded on its website. Through these meetings, presentations and information updates the Company shares 

its broad strategy and business outlook. The Company also follows a practice of making public information 

on significant developments through immediate disclosure to the stock exchanges on which it is listed.

  Constructive Separation of Ownership and Management

  Marico believes that constructive separation of the Management of the Company from its owners results in 

maximising the effectiveness of both, by sharpening their respective accountability. Seven out of eight directors 

are non-executive and six of them are independent. The Board does not consist of representatives of creditors 

or banks. The Committees of the Board are chaired by Independent Directors.

  No related party transactions exist except for those with subsidiaries/group companies and for remuneration to 

Chairman and Managing Director (CMD) and relatives of CMD. These can be referred to in Notes to Accounts 

annexed to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2013.

  As and when required, senior management personnel are present at Board / Committee meetings so that the 

Board/ Committees can seek and get explanations as required from them.

  All Directors and employees are required to comply with Marico’s Unified Code Of Conduct (Marico Insider 

Share Dealing Rules) for trading in Company’s securities in addition to concerned SEBI regulations.
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  The Company’s Internal, External or Cost auditors are not related to the Company. 

  Accountability

  The Board plays a supervisory role rather than an executive role. Members of the Board of Directors of the 

Company provide constructive critique on the strategic business plans and operations of the Company. Each 

business unit is headed by a Chief Executive Officer who is responsible for its management and operation 

and is answerable to the Board.

  The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors meet at least once every quarter to consider inter alia, the 

business performance and other matters of importance.

  Discipline

  Marico’s senior management understands and advocates the need for good corporate governance practices. 

The Company places significant emphasis on good corporate governance practices and endeavours to ensure 

that the same is followed at all levels across the Organisation.

  The Company continues to focus on its core businesses of beauty and wellness. In its international business 

too, it is focussed on growing in the Asian and African continents in the near term. This would result in the 

Company building depth in its selected segments and geographies rather than spreading itself thin.

  The Company has always adopted a conservative policy with respect to debt. All actions having financial 

implications are well thought through. Funds are raised for financing activities which add to the business 

performance and not for the purpose of arbitrage. The Company has also stayed away from entering into 

exotic derivative products.

  The Company has also followed a prudent dividend policy and has been declaring cash dividend on a regular 

basis thereby providing a regular return on investment to shareholders.

  Responsibility

  The Group has put in place checks and balances to ensure orderly and smooth functioning of operations and 

also defined measures in case of transgressions by members.

  There exists a Unified Code of Conduct which regulates the behaviour and conduct of the members of the 

Organisation. Swift action is taken against members found in violation of the Code.

  Purchase and sale of shares by members is governed by the Unified Code of Conduct to ensure transparency 

in trading by all members of the Organisation.

  Fairness

  All actions taken are arrived after considering the impact on the interests of all stakeholders including minority 

shareholders. All shareholders have equal rights and can convene general meetings if they feel the need to do 

so. Investor Relations is given due priority. There exists a separate department for handling this function. Full 

disclosures are made in the general meeting of all matters. Notice of the meetings are comprehensive, the 

presentations made at the meetings are informative. Board remuneration does not rise faster than Company’s 

profits.

  Social Awareness

  The Company has an explicit policy emphasising ethical behaviour. It follows a strict policy of not employing 

the under-aged. The Company believes in equality of genders and does not practise any type of discrimination. 

All policies are free of bias and discrimination. Environmental responsibility is given high importance and 

measures have been taken at all locations to ensure that members are educated and equipped to discharge 

their responsibilities in ensuring the proper maintenance of the environment.



92

MARICO LIMITED

  Value-adding Checks & Balances

  Marico relies on a robust structure with value adding checks and balances designed to:

  � prevent misuse of authority

  � facilitate timely response to change and

  � ensure effective management of risks, especially those relating to statutory compliance.

  At the same time, the structure provides scope for adequate executive freedom, so that bureaucracies do not 

take value away from the Governance Objective.

  Board / Committee Proceedings

  The process of the conduct of the Board and Committee proceedings is explained in detail later on in this 

Report.

  Other Significant Practices

  Other significant Corporate Governance Practices followed by Marico are listed below:

  Checks & Balances

  � All directors are provided with complete information relating to operations and Company finances to 

enable them to participate effectively in Board discussions.

  � Proceedings of Board are logically segregated and matters are delegated to Committees as under:

   • Administrative Committee covers routine transactional issues.

   • Investment and Borrowing Committee covers management of funds.

   • Audit Committee covers internal control and audit systems, risk management systems, financial 

reporting and compliance issues.

   • Corporate Governance Committee (erstwhile Remuneration Committee) covers remuneration of 

Directors and their relatives, remuneration of Chairman and Managing Directors and his direct 

reports, Corporate Governance policy and procedures and has been designated as the Compensation 

Committee for the purpose of administration and superintendence of the Marico Employees Stock 

Option Scheme 2007 and Marico Stock Appreciation Rights Plan 2011. However, the powers in 

relation to allotment of shares under Marico Employees Stock Option Scheme 2007 are vested with 

the Securities Issue Committee.

   • Whistle blowing cases are discussed and reviewed in detail by the Corporate Governance Committee 

and the Audit Committee also reviews the effectiveness of this process to ensure that there is an 

environment that is conducive to escalate issues, if any in the system.

   • Share Transfer Committee covers transfer formalities and other share-related procedures.

   • Shareholders’ Committee covers redressal of investor grievances.

   • Securities Issue Committee covers the matters relating to the issue and allotment of securities and 

allied matters.

   • Project Resurgence Committee is a special committee constituted by the Board to take necessary 

decisions as regards implementation of the Scheme of Demerger of Kaya undertaking from the 

Company.

  � Each non-executive director brings value through a specialisation.

  � Directorships held are within the ceiling limits specified.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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  � Committee memberships and chairmanship of directors are within overall limits.

  � Statutory compliance report along with the Compliance Certificate is placed before the Audit Committee/

Board at every meeting.

  � Audit Committee is chaired by an Independent Director to check control systems and review them.

  � All Directors endeavour to attend all the Board/Committee meetings as also the Annual General Meeting. 

The Chairman of the Audit Committee attends the Annual General Meeting to answer queries, if any, on 

accounts.

  � The Chairman of the Board/Committee, in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer and the Company 

Secretary, formalises the agenda for each of the Board Meetings.

  � The Board/Committees, at their discretion, invite Senior Managers of the Company and / or outside 

Advisors to any meeting(s) of the Board/Committee.

  Compliance with Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement

  The Company has complied with the provisions of Clause 49 of the Listing agreement (LA), as revised from 

time to time.

  The Company already has a Unified Code of Conduct for the Board of Directors and Senior Members, and 

a Whistle Blower Policy in place.

  The Unified Code of Conduct prescribes certain do’s and don’ts to the Directors, Senior Management comprising 

key personnel of the Company and other employees of the Company to promote ethical conduct in accordance 

with the stated values of Marico and also to meet statutory requirements.

  The CEO declaration has been included in the CEO Certificate given elsewhere in the Annual Report.

II. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

 (I) Composition and categories of Directors :-

Name Category

Mr. Harsh Mariwala Chairman & Managing Director (Promoter)

Mr. Rajeev Bakshi Non-Executive and Independent

Mr. Atul Choksey Non-Executive and Independent

Mr. Nikhil Khattau Non-Executive and Independent

Mr. Anand Kripalu Non-Executive and Independent

Ms. Hema Ravichandar Non-Executive and Independent

Mr. B. S. Nagesh Non-Executive and Independent

Mr. Rajen Mariwala Non-Executive (Promoter)

  No director is related to any other director on the Board in terms of the definition of ‘Relative’ given under the 

Companies Act, 1956. Mr. Harsh Mariwala and Mr. Rajen Mariwala are related to each other as first cousins.
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 (II) Attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and the last Annual General Meeting:

  7 (Seven) meetings of the Board of Directors were held during the period April 01, 2012 to March 31, 2013 

viz: April 6, 2012, May 3, 2012, August 3, 2012, November 2, 2012, January 7, 2013, February 1, 2013 

and March 15, 2013. The attendance record of all directors is as under: -

Names of Directors No. of  Board Meetings Attendance at Last AGM 

held on August 3, 2012Held Attended

Mr. Harsh Mariwala 7 7 Yes

Mr. Rajeev Bakshi 7 4 No

Mr. Atul Choksey 7 6 No

Mr. Nikhil Khattau 7 5 No

Mr. Anand Kripalu 7 4 No

Mr. Rajen Mariwala 7 7 No

Ms. Hema Ravichandar 7 6 No

Mr. B. S. Nagesh 7 6 Yes

 (III) Number of Board or Board Committees of which a Director is a member or chairperson (#) (Only the 

Membership(s)/Chairmanship(s) of Audit Committee and Shareholders’ Committee is considered as per Clause 

49 of the Listing Agreement) 

Director Number of Outside 

Directorships ($) held

Number of Committee  

Memberships in other 

Companies (*)

Number of 

Committees (*) in 

which Chairperson

Mr. Harsh Mariwala 4 1 1

Mr. Rajeev Bakshi 2 1 Nil

Mr. Atul Choksey 8 Nil Nil

Mr. Nikhil Khattau Nil Nil Nil

Mr. Anand Kripalu 2 Nil Nil

Mr. Rajen  Mariwala 3 1 Nil

Ms. Hema Ravichandar 1 Nil Nil

Mr. B. S. Nagesh 3 1 Nil

  (#) As on March 31, 2013

  ($) Excludes directorship in private limited companies, foreign companies and companies under Section 25 

of the Companies Act, 1956

  (*) Only two committees, namely, Audit Committee and Shareholders’/Investors’ Grievance Committee have 

been considered as per Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement.

III. AUDIT COMMITTEE

 Constitution:

 The Audit Committee was constituted by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on January 23, 2001, in accordance 

with Section 292A of the Companies Act, 1956. The composition of Audit Committee was last re-constituted by the 

Board of Directors on October 26, 2010.
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 The Audit Committee now comprises of the following Members:

 Mr. Nikhil Khattau - Chairman

 Mr. Rajen Mariwala - Member

 Ms. Hema Ravichandar - Member

 Mr. B. S. Nagesh - Member

 Ms. Hemangi Ghag - Secretary to the Committee

 Mr. Harsh Mariwala - Permanent Invitee

 The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are as stated in Clause 49 of the Standard Listing Agreement and 

Section 292A of the Companies Act, 1956 and includes:

 1. Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting process and the disclosure of its financial information to ensure 

that the financial statement is correct, sufficient and credible.

 2. Recommending to the Board, the appointment, re-appointment and, if required, the replacement or removal 

of the statutory auditor and the fixation of audit fees.

 3. Approval of payment to statutory auditors for any other services rendered by the statutory auditors.

 4. Reviewing, with the management, the annual financial statements before submission to the Board for approval, 

with particular reference to:

  a. Matters required to be included in the Director’s Responsibility Statement to be included in the Board’s 

report in terms of clause (2AA) of Section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956

  b. Changes, if any, in accounting policies and practices and reasons for the same

  c. Major accounting entries involving estimates based on the exercise of judgment by management

  d. Significant adjustments made in the financial statements arising out of audit findings

  e. Compliance with listing and other legal requirements relating to financial statements

  f. Disclosure of any related party transactions

  g. Qualifications in the draft audit report.

 5. Reviewing, with the management, the quarterly financial statements before submission to the Board for 

approval.

 6. Reviewing, with the management, the statement of uses / application of funds raised through an issue (public 

issue, rights issue, preferential issue, etc.), the statement of funds utilized for purposes other than those stated 

in the offer document/prospectus/notice and the report submitted by the monitoring agency monitoring the 

utilisation of proceeds of a public or rights issue, and making appropriate recommendations to the Board to 

take up steps in this matter.

 7. Reviewing, with the management, performance of statutory and internal auditors, and adequacy of the internal 

control systems.

 8. Reviewing the adequacy of internal audit function, if any, including the structure of the internal audit department, 

staffing and seniority of the official heading the department, reporting structure coverage and frequency of 

internal audit.

 9. Discussion with internal auditors any significant findings and follow up there on. 

 10. Reviewing the findings of any internal investigations by the internal auditors into matters where there is suspected 

fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a material nature and reporting the matter to 

the Board. 
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 11. Discussion with statutory auditors before the audit commences, about the nature and scope of audit as well 

as post-audit discussion to ascertain any area of concern.

 12. To look into the reasons for substantial defaults in the payment to the depositors, debenture holders, shareholders 

(in case of non payment of declared dividends) and creditors.

 13. To review the functioning of the Whistle Blower mechanism.

 14. Approval of appointment of CFO (i.e., the whole-time Finance Director or any other person heading the finance 

function or discharging that function) after assessing the qualifications, experience & background, etc. of the 

candidate.

 15. Reviewing mandatorily the following information:

  a. Management discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations;

  b. Statement of significant related party transactions, submitted by management; 

  c. Management letters / letters of internal control weaknesses issued by the statutory auditors;

  d. Internal audit reports relating to internal control weaknesses; and

  e. The appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of the Chief internal auditor.

  The Committee had 7 (seven) meetings during the period April 01, 2012 to March 31, 2013 viz: May 3, 

2012, July 6, 2012, August 3, 2012, October 10, 2012, November 1, 2012, January 7, 2013, and January 

31, 2013. 

Names of Directors No. of Audit Committee Meetings

Held Attended

Mr. Nikhil Khattau 7 6

Mr. Rajen Mariwala 7 5

Ms. Hema Ravichandar 7 6

Mr. B. S. Nagesh 7 5

Mr. Harsh Mariwala 7 7

  The Chairman of the Audit Committee was present at the Annual General Meeting to answer shareholder 

queries.

IV. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

 Constitution:

 The Board of Directors had at its meeting held on October 25, 2005, renamed the Remuneration Committee as the 

Corporate Governance Committee with terms of reference relating to overseeing and continuously improving the 

Corporate Governance policies and practices in the Company. The primary purpose of the Corporate Governance 

Committee is ‘to enable’ the Board function effectively in strategic and core issues of management.

 The Corporate Governance Committee reviews and oversees the Remuneration strategy and Performance 

Management Philosophy of Marico, especially for Directors and senior employees. The Committee has also been 

designated as the Compensation Committee for administration and superintendence of the Company’s Employees 

Stock Option Scheme. However, the powers conferred on Corporate Governance Committee for allotment of shares 

under the ESOP Scheme have now been transferred to Securities Issue Committee. The Committee will also act as 

the Nomination Committee, with the details of this role being defined at an appropriate and relevant time in the 

future. The composition of Corporate Governance Committee was last reconstituted by the Board of Directors on 

January 7, 2013.
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 The Corporate Governance Committee comprises of the following Directors:

 Ms. Hema Ravichandar - Chairperson

 Mr. Rajeev Bakshi - Member

 Mr. Anand Kripalu - Member

 Mr. B.S. Nagesh - Member

 Mr. Milind Sarwate - Secretary to the Committee

 Mr. Harsh Mariwala - Permanent Invitee

 The Corporate Governance Committee met 4 (four) times during the period April 01, 2012 to March 31, 2013 

viz: May 2, 2012, August 3, 2012, November 2, 2012 and February 1, 2013.

Names of Directors No. of Corporate Governance Committee 
Meetings

Held Attended

Ms. Hema Ravichandar 4 4

Mr. B. S. Nagesh (appointed w.e.f. January 7, 2013) 4 1

Mr. Anand Kripalu 4 3

Mr. Rajeev Bakshi 4 3

Mr. Harsh Mariwala 4 4

 Details of Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors for the Financial Year Ended March 31, 2013

 The Remuneration paid/payable to Non-Executive Directors for the Financial Year 2012-2013 is as under:

Name Remuneration

(payable annually)

(Rs.)

Sitting Fees (Rs.)

Mr. Rajeev Bakshi 12,00,000 1,40,000

Mr. Atul Choksey 12,00,000 1,00,000

Mr. Nikhil Khattau 12,50,000 2,30,000

Mr. Anand Kripalu 12,00,000 1,20,000

Mr. Rajen Mariwala 12,00,000 2,20,000

Ms. Hema Ravichandar 12,50,000 2,90,000

Mr. B. S. Nagesh 12,00,000 2,30,000

The remuneration paid to Mr. Harsh Mariwala, Chairman & Managing Director, for the financial year 2012-13 is 

as under:

Name Salary and 
Perquisites

(Rs.)

Annual Performance 
Incentive

 (Rs.)

Contribution to Provident 
and Pension Funds

 (Rs.)

Mr. Harsh Mariwala 30,987,176 12,035,001 3,397,600

 For any termination of service contract, the Company and/or the Executive Director is required to give a notice of 

three months.
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 Shareholding of Non Executive Directors

 Name of Non Executive Director No. of Shares held

(As on March 31, 2013)

Mr. Nikhil Khattau 0

Ms. Hema Ravichandar 0

Mr. Anand Kripalu 0

Mr. Atul Choksey 25,268

Mr. B. S. Nagesh 0

Mr. Rajeev Bakshi 0

Mr. Rajen Mariwala 34,43,200

Total 34,68,468

 REMUNERATION POLICY OF THE COMPANY

 Remuneration Policy for Executive Director

 The Marico Board presently consists of only one executive director namely Mr. Harsh Mariwala, Chairman & 

Managing Director (CMD). Therefore, the remuneration policy for executive directors presently covers only the 

CMD.

 The remuneration of the CMD is governed by the agreement dated August 12, 2011 executed between the Company 

and Mr. Harsh Mariwala. The said agreement is valid for a period of 3 years w.e.f. April 1, 2011. The terms of 

this agreement have already been shared with the members. The remuneration to the CMD comprises two broad 

terms – Fixed Remuneration and Variable remuneration in the form of performance incentive.

 The performance incentive is based on internally developed detailed performance related matrix which is verified 

by the HR department.

 Annual increase in fixed remuneration within the band already approved by the shareholders is first reviewed and 

then approved by the Corporate Governance Committee. The Board notes such annual increases.

 Remuneration Policy for Non-Executive Directors

 Non-Executive Directors of a Company’s Board of Directors can add substantial value to the Company through their 

contribution to the Management of the Company. In addition, they can safeguard the interests of the investors at 

large by playing an appropriate control role. For best utilizing the Non - Executive Directors, Marico has constituted 

certain Committees of the Board, viz. Corporate Governance Committee, Audit Committee and Shareholders’ 

Committee.

 Non-Executive Directors bring in their long experience and expertise to bear on the deliberations of the Marico Board 

and its Committees. Although the Non-Executive Directors would contribute to Marico in several ways, including 

off-line deliberations with the Managing Director, the bulk of their measurable inputs come in the form of their 

contribution to Board/Committee meetings. Marico therefore has a structure for remuneration to non-executive 

Directors, based on engagement levels of the Board members linked to their attendance at Board/Committee 

Meetings.

 The shareholders of the Company had on July 28, 2010 approved payment to Non-Executive Directors for a period 

of five years up to a limit of 3% of the net profits of the Company calculated in accordance with the provisions of 

the Companies Act, 1956 with a liberty to the Board of Directors to decide the mode, the quantum, the recipients 

and the frequency of payment of such remuneration within the said limit.

 The Board of Directors at its meeting held on May 3, 2012 had revised remuneration payable to Non – Executive 

Directors as set out below:
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Particulars Remuneration

1. Fixed Remuneration Rs.12,00,000 per annum per Director for the whole 
year’s directorship*

2. Additional Remuneration to Chairpersons of Audit 
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee

Rs.50,000 per annum to Chairperson of each 
Committee*

3. Sitting Fees:

a) For Board Meetings Rs.20,000 per meeting physically attended**

b) For meetings of following Committees of the Board: Rs.20,000 per meeting physically attended**

-Audit Committee

-Corporate Governance Committee

-Shareholders Committee

 * Applicable w.e.f. April 1, 2012

 ** Applicable w.e.f. meetings of the Board/Committees to be held after May 3, 2012.

V. SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMITTEE

 Constitution:

 The Shareholders’ Committee was constituted by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on October 23, 2001 

and its composition was last re-constituted on October 26, 2010.

 The terms of reference of the Shareholders’ Committee are to specifically look into the redressal of shareholders’ 

and investors’ complaints relating to transfer of shares, non-receipt of balance sheet, non-receipt of dividends, etc.

 The Shareholders’ Committee now comprises the following Directors (All Non-Executive):

 Mr. Nikhil Khattau - Chairman 

 Mr. Rajen Mariwala - Member 

 Ms. Hemangi Ghag  - Secretary to the Committee

 Name and Designation of Compliance Officer:

 Ms. Hemangi Ghag, the Company Secretary & Compliance Officer.

 Status Report of Investor Complaints for the year ended March 31, 2013:

 No. of Complaints Received - 37 

 No. of Complaints Resolved - 37

 No. of Complaints Pending - NIL

 All valid requests for share transfer received during the year have been acted upon and no such transfer is pending.

VI. ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE

 Constitution:

 The Administrative Committee was constituted by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on April 27, 1998 and 

its composition was last re-constituted on October 26, 2010.

 The terms of reference of the Administrative Committee are to consider and dispose of any day-to-day matters, with 

a view to ensuring smooth operation and timely action/compliances. The Committee meets at frequent intervals 

and dispose matters which are of routine but urgent in nature without having to wait for the next board meeting or 

resorting of passing of circular resolutions.
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 The Administrative Committee now comprises the following members:

 Mr. Harsh Mariwala - Chairman

 Mr. Rajen Mariwala -  Member

 Mr. Milind Sarwate - Member

 Mr. Vivek Karve - Member

 Mr. Ravin Mody - Member

 Ms. Hemangi Ghag - Secretary to the Committee

 The Administrative Committee met 27 (Twenty Seven) times during the period April 01, 2012 to March 31, 2013.

VII. INVESTMENT AND BORROWING COMMITTEE

 Constitution:

 The Investment and Borrowing Committee was constituted by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on June 

30, 1998 and its composition was last re-constituted on October 26, 2010.

 The terms of reference of the Investment and Borrowing Committee are to invest, borrow or lend monies with a 

view to ensure smooth operation and timely action. The Committee meets at frequent intervals and dispose matters 

which are of routine but urgent in nature without having to wait for the next board meeting or resorting of passing 

of circular resolutions.

 The Investment and Borrowing Committee now comprises the following members:

 Mr. Harsh Mariwala -  Chairman

 Mr. Milind Sarwate -  Member

 Mr. Chaitanya Deshpande -  Member

 Mr. Vivek Karve -  Member 

 Ms. Hemangi Ghag -  Secretary to the Committee

 The Investment and Borrowing Committee met 11 (Eleven) times during the period April 01, 2012 to March 31, 2013. 

VIII. SECURITIES ISSUE COMMITTEE

 Constitution:

 The Securities Issue Committee was constituted by the Board of Directors on April 20, 2006 and was re-constituted 

on February 1, 2013.

 The terms of reference of the Securities Issue Committee relates to overseeing all matters pertaining to issue of 

Securities, other matters incidental to the issue and all such acts/ powers as may be entrusted to it by the Board 

from time to time.

 The Securities Issue Committee now comprises the following members:

 Mr. Harsh Mariwala - Member

 Mr. Nikhil Khattau - Member

 Mr. Rajen Mariwala - Member 

 Mr. Milind Sarwate - Member 

 Mr. Vivek Karve - Member

 Mr. Ravin Mody - Member

 Ms. Hemangi Ghag - Secretary to the Committee

 The Securities Issue Committee met 2 (Two) times during the period April 01, 2012 to March 31, 2013. 
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IX. SHARE TRANSFER COMMITTEE

 Constitution:

 The Share Transfer Committee was constituted by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on April 16, 1990 and 

its composition was re-constituted on February 1, 2013.

 The terms of reference of the Share Transfer Committee is to approve, transfer and transmission of shares and to 

approve sub-division, consolidation and issue of new/duplicate share certificates, whenever requested for by the 

shareholders of the Company.

 The Share Transfer Committee now comprises the following members:

 Mr. Harsh Mariwala - Member

 Mr. Nikhil Khattau  - Member

 Mr. Rajen Mariwala  - Member 

 Mr. Milind Sarwate -  Member 

 Mr. Vivek Karve - Member

 Mr. Ravin Mody - Member

 Ms. Hemangi Ghag - Secretary to the Committee

 The Share Transfer Committee met 2 (Two) times during the period April 01, 2012 to March 31, 2013.

X. PROJECT RESURGENCE COMMITTEE

 The Project Resurgence Committee was constituted by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on January 7, 2013. 

The terms of reference of the Project Resurgence Committee are to make necessary amendments to the Scheme, 

fix the day, date and time of EGM and to do all such acts as may be necessary to give effect to the above.

 The Project Resurgence Committee now comprises the following members:

 Mr. Nikhil Khattau  - Chairman

 Mr. Harsh Mariwala - Member

 Mr. Milind Sarwate -  Member 

XI. GENERAL BODY MEETINGS

 Annual General Meetings

YEAR VENUE DATE TIME

2010 The National Stock Exchange of India Limited, 

‘NSE Auditorium’, Ground Floor, Exchange Plaza, 

Bandra-Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai 

– 400051

July 28, 2010 3.30 p.m.

2011 IES Management College & Research Centre, 

Gate No. 4, Seminar Hall, 6th Floor, Plot No. 

791, S. K. Marg, VMDL Complex, Bandra 

Reclamation, Bandra (West), Mumbai – 400050

July 27, 2011 3.30 p.m.

2012 NSE Auditorium, Ground Floor, Exchange Plaza, 

Bandra-Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai 

– 400051

August 3, 2012 4.00 p.m
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XII. DISCLOSURES

 There has not been any non-compliance, penalties or strictures imposed on the Company by the Stock Exchanges, 

SEBI or any other statutory authority, on any matter relating to the capital markets during the last three years.

 During the year 2012-2013, there were no materially significant related party transactions i.e. transactions of the 

Company of material nature, with its Promoters, the Directors or the Management, their subsidiaries or relatives 

etc. that may have potential conflict with the interest of Company at large.

 The Company has a well-defined Whistle Blower Policy and it is fully implemented by the Management.

 No personnel have been denied access to the Audit Committee. 

 Compliance with mandatory and non-mandatory requirements of Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement

 The Company has complied with mandatory requirements of Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement requiring it to 

obtain a certificate from either the Auditors or Practising Company Secretaries regarding compliance of conditions 

of Corporate Governance as stipulated in this clause and annex the certificate with the Directors’ Report, which is 

sent annually to all the shareholders of the Company. We have obtained a certificate to this effect from the auditors 

and the same is given as an annexure to the Directors’ Report.

 The clause further states that the non-mandatory requirements may be implemented as per our discretion. However, 

the disclosures of the compliance with mandatory requirements and adoption (and compliance) / non-adoption 

of the non-mandatory requirements shall be made in the section on Corporate Governance of the Annual Report. 

We comply with the following non-mandatory requirements:

 Remuneration Committee

 The scope of the Remuneration Committee was expanded and designated as the Corporate Governance Committee 

by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on October 25, 2005. A detailed note on the Committee is provided 

elsewhere in this Report.

 Whistle Blower Policy

 We have established a mechanism for employees to report concerns about unethical behaviour, actual or suspected 

fraud or violation of our Code of Conduct or ethics policy. This mechanism also provides for adequate safeguards 

against victimization of employees who avail of the mechanism and also provide for direct access to the Chairman 

of the Audit Committee in exceptional cases. The guidelines are meant for all members of the Organization from 

the day they join and are designed to ensure that they may raise any specific concern on integrity, value adherence 

without fear of being punished for raising that concern. The guidelines also cover our associates who partner us 

in our organizational objectives and customers for whom we exist.

 The Board and its Corporate Governance Committee are informed periodically on the matters reported with the 

Whistle Blower Ombudsman and the status of resolution of such cases.

XIII. MEANS OF COMMUNICATION

 Quarterly and annual results for Marico Limited as also consolidated financial results for the Marico group are 

published in an English financial daily (Free Press Journal) and a vernacular newspaper (Navashakti). The Company 

also sends an email update of the same to the shareholders who have registered their email address with the 

Company.

 All official news releases and financial results are communicated by the Company through its corporate website - 

www.marico.com. Presentations made to Institutional Investors/ analysts at Investor Meets organized by the Company 

are also put up on the website for wider dissemination.

 The Management Discussion and Analysis Report forms part of the Annual Report.
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XIV. GENERAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

 Details of Directors seeking appointment/reappointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

 Mr. Rajen Mariwala

 

Profile : 

Mr. Rajen Mariwala has done his Masters in Chemical Engineering from Cornell University, USA. He is currently 

the Managing Director of Hindustan Polyamides & Fibres Limited, a leading exporter of specialty chemicals - 

specifically chemicals for fragrances and personal care products. He brings with him a rich experience of over 

16 years in leading a competitive global business in specialty chemicals. He has been on the Board of Directors 

of Patspin India Limited and Village Laundry Services Inc.

He has been on the Board of Directors of Marico Limited since July 26, 2005.

Directorships in other companies(*): Membership / Chairmanship of Board Committees 

in other Companies (*):

Hindustan Polyamides and Fibres Limited

Patspin India Limited

Kaya Limited

Scientific Precision Private Limited

Arctic Investment & Trading Company Private Limited

Rajanjali Estates Private Limited

Mariwala Estates Private Limited

Hindustan Polyamides & Fibres Limited B. V, 

Netherlands

Village Laundry Services Inc

Kaya Limited: Audit Committee – Member

(*) As on March 31, 2013

 Mr. Atul Choksey 

Profile : 

Mr. Atul C Choksey has done his Bachelor’s in Chemical Engineering from Illinois Institute of Technology, 

Chicago, USA and has also done management courses in Finance, Personnel, Micro and Macro Economics, 

etc. He joined Asian Paints (India) Ltd as a Junior Executive in July, 1973. He was subsequently appointed as a 

Wholetime Director of the Company with effect from 1st May, 1979. He served as the Managing Director of the 

Company from 15th April, 1984 to 22nd August, 1997.

He is the Chairman of Apcotex Industries Ltd. and Apco Enterprises Ltd. as well as other group Companies. 

He is a member of the Asian Executive Board of the Wharton Business School of the University of Pennsylvania, 

Philadelphia, USA.

He is also a Director on the Boards of Finolex Cables Ltd and CEAT Ltd. He has been on the Board of Directors 

of the Company since October 23, 2001.
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Directorships in other companies(*): Membership / Chairmanship of Board Committees in 

other Companies (*):

Apco Enterprises Limited

Apcotex Industries Limited (previously known as 

Apcotex Lattices Limited.)

CEAT Limited

Finolex Cables Limited

Mazda Colours Limited

Shyamal Fin-vest (India) Limited

Titan Trading and Agencies Limited

Trivikram Investments & Trading Company Limited

Choksey Chemicals Private Limited

Saldhar Investments and Trading Company Private 

Limited

Propycon Trading and Investments Private Limited

Dhumraketu Investments and Trading Company 

Private Limited

Member – Wharton Asian Executive Board

Trustee – Baif Development Research Foundation

Trustee – Shree Mahalaxmi Temple Charities

Apco Enterprises Limited - Chairman

Apcotex Industries Limited (previously known as Apcotex 

Lattices Ltd.) - Chairman

CEAT Limited - Member

Finolex Cables Limited - Member

Mazda Colours Limited – Member

Shyamal Fin-vest (India) Limited - Chairman

Titan Trading and Agencies Limited - Chairman

Trivikram Investments & Trading Company Limited - 

Chairman

(*) As on March 31, 2013
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Annual General Meeting

Date : Monday, August 12, 2013.

Time : 9.00 a.m.

Venue : Indian Education Society (“IES”), Manik Sabhagriha, 
Vishwakarma’, M. D. Lotlikar Vidya Sankul, Opp. Lilavati 
Hospital, Bandra Reclamation, Mumbai 400 050.

Book Closure Date : Thursday, August 8, 2013 to Monday, August 12, 2013, 
both days inclusive.

Interim Dividend Payment Date : November 30, 2012 ( 1st Interim Equity Dividend 12-13)
May 28, 2013 (2nd Interim Equity Dividend 12-13).

Financial calendar

Financial Year : April 01 - March 31

For the year ended March 31, 2013, results were announced on:

First quarter : May 3, 2012

Half year : November 2, 2012

Third quarter : February 1, 2013

Annual : April 30, 2013

Tentative Schedule for declaration of financial results during the financial year 2013-14

First quarter : August 12, 2013

Half year : October 29, 2013

Third quarter : January 31, 2014

Annual : April 30, 2014

Listing Details

Name of Stock Exchange Stock/ Scrip Code

BSE Limited
Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers, Dalal Street, Mumbai 
400 001

: 531642

The National Stock Exchange of India Limited (NSE)
Exchange Plaza, Bandra Kurla Complex, Mumbai 
400 051

: MARICO

ISIN : INE 196A01026

Company Identification Number (CIN) : L15140MH1988PLC049208

 Transfer of Unclaimed Dividend to Investor Education and Protection Fund (IEPF)

 Pursuant to section 205A of the Companies Act, 1956, unclaimed balance of the dividends lying in the dividend 

accounts in respect of the dividend declared till April 2006 have been transferred to the Investor Education and 

Protection Fund (IEPF) established by the Central Government. The dividends for the following years, which remain 

unclaimed for seven years, will be transferred to the IEPF in accordance with the schedule given below. Shareholders 

who have not encashed their dividend warrants relating to the dividend specified in table below are requested to 

immediately send their request for issue of duplicate warrants. Once unclaimed dividend is transferred to the IEPF, 

no claim shall lie in respect thereof either with the Company or IEPF:
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Financial Year Type of Dividend Rate (%) Date of Declaration Due Date for 
transfer to IEPF

2006-07

1st Interim Dividend 13.50 25/07/2006 30/08/2013

2nd Interim Dividend 15.00 18/10/2006 23/11/2013

3rd Interim Dividend 17.00 19/01/2007 24/02/2014

4th Interim Dividend 20.00 23/03/2007 28/04/2014

2007-08

1st Interim Dividend 13.50 25/07/2007 30/08/2014

2nd Interim Dividend 15.00 24/10/2007 29/11/2014

3rd Interim Dividend 37.00 24/04/2008 30/05/2015

2008-09
1st Interim Dividend 30.00 21/10/2008 26/11/2015

2nd Interim Dividend 35.50 22/04/2009 28/05/2016

2009-10
1st Interim Dividend 30.00 28/10/2009 03/12/2016

2nd Interim Dividend 36.00 28/04/2010 03/06/2017

2010-11
1st Interim Dividend 30.00 26/10/2010 01/12/2017

2nd Interim Dividend 36.00 02/05/2011 07/06/2018

2011-12
1st Interim Dividend 30.00 04/11/2011 10/12/2018

2nd Interim Dividend 40.00 03/05/2012 08/06/2019

2012-13
1st Interim Dividend 50.00 02/11/2012 08/12/2019

2nd Interim Dividend 50.00 30/04/2013 05/06/2020

 Market Price Data

 Month Bombay Stock Exchange Limited

(BSE)

(in Rs.)

National Stock Exchange

(NSE)

(in Rs.)

*High *Low *High *Low

April 2012 184.40 168.15 189.00 168.10

May 2012 183.00 167.05 183.15 166.95

June 2012 185.00 166.25 185.35 165.35

July 2012 199.90 180.25 199.95 180.25

August 2012 201.80 184.10 201.80 183.55

September 2012 208.95 186.25 210.95 186.20

October 2012 214.40 197.60 212.55 197.40

November 2012 232.70 201.10 232.85 200.30

December 2012 250.00 217.40 232.95 200.30

January 2013 238.70 216.00 238.50 216.25

February 2013 232.95 205.10 238.50 204.50

March 2013 240.00 204.20 229.10 204.05
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PERFORMANCE IN COMPARISON: BSE SENSEX, S & P CNX NIFTY AND BSE FMCG

Marico v/s BSE Index
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Share Transfer System : Transfers in physical form are registered by the Registrar and Share Transfer Agents 

immediately on receipt of completed documents and certificates are issued within 15 

days of date of lodgement of transfer.

Invalid share transfers are returned within 15 days of receipt.

The Share Transfer Committee generally meets as may be warranted by the number 

of share transaction requests received by the Company.

All requests for dematerialisation of shares are processed and the confirmation is 

given to respective Depositories i.e. National Securities Depository Limited and Central 

Depository Services (India) Limited, generally within 21 days.

Registrar & Transfer Agents : M/s Link Intime India Pvt Limited (erstwhile Intime Spectrum Registry Limited), (Unit: 

Marico Ltd.) C -13 Pannalal Silk Mills Compound, LBS Road, Bhandup (West), Mumbai 

400 078

Distribution of Shareholding as on March 31, 2013 :

No. of Equity 

Shares held

No. of 

Shareholders

% of Shareholders No. of Shares held % of Shareholding

1- 500 27,263 84.36 29,58,426 0.46

501-1000 1,927 5.97 16,70,273 0.26

1001 -2000 1,075 3.33 17,90,939 0.28

2001-3000 362 1.12 9,64,503 0.15

3001-4000 573 1.77 22,19,830 0.34

4001- 5000 187 0.58 8,95,576 0.14

5001-10000 392 1.21 30,27,013 0.47

10001 & above 538 1.66 63,12,45,239 97.90

Total 32,317 100.00 64,47,71,799 100.00

Categories of Shareholding- as on March 31, 2013 :

Category No. of 

Shareholders

No. of

Shares held

Percentage of 

Shareholding

Promoters 27 38,51,18,520 59.73

Foreign Institutional Investors 138 18,05,01,050 27.99

NRIs /FVC / OCBs 709 2,38,69,258 3.70

Insurance Companies, Banks and other 

Financial Institutions

10 47,21,062 0.73

Mutual Funds, including Unit Trust of India 36 84,83,720 1.32

Bodies Corporate 531 1,87,04,704 2.90

Resident Individuals, Trusts and In Transit 30,866 2,33,73,485 3.63

Total 32,317 64,47,71,799 100.00
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Dematerialization of Shares 

and Liquidity

: As on March 31, 2013, 99.87% of shareholding was held in Dematerialised form 

with National Securities Depository Limited and Central Depository Services (India) 

Limited.

In terms of the notification issued by SEBI, trading in the equity shares of the Company 

is permitted only in dematerialised form with effect from May 31, 1999.

Outstanding GDR / ADR / 

Warrants or any convertible 

instruments, conversion 

date and impact on equity

: The Company has not issued any GDR / ADR / Warrants or any convertible 

instruments.

Plant Locations : Kanjikode, Jalgaon, Goa, Puducherry, Dehradun, Paonta Sahib, Baddi, Paldhi and 

Perundurai

Shareholders / Investors Complaint’s received and redressed :      

The Company gives utmost priority to the interests of the investors. All the requests / complaints of the shareholders have 

been resolved to the satisfaction of the shareholders within the statutory time limits. During the financial year ended 

March 31, 2013, 37 complaints were received from the shareholders as per the details given below;

Nature of Complaint Received Resolved

Non-Receipt of Dividend 33 33

Non-Receipt of Shares lodged for Transfer – –

Others (e.g. non-receipt of Annual Report etc.) 4 4

Total 37 37

Address for correspondence : Shareholding related queries

Company’s Registrar & Transfer Agent:

M/s Link Intime India Pvt Limited

(erstwhile Intime Spectrum Registry Limited)

Unit: Marico Limited

C -13 Pannalal Silk Mills Compound,

LBS Road, Bhandup (West),

Mumbai 400 078.

Tel.: 022 - 25946970, Fax: 022 - 25946969

E-mail: rnt.helpdesk@linkintime.co.in

General Correspondence

Grande Palladium, 7th Floor

175, CST Road, Kalina

Santacruz (East)

Mumbai 400098

Tel.: 022 - 66480480, Fax: 022 - 26500159

E-mail: investor@maricoindia.net
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Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Certification

We, to the best of our knowledge and belief, hereby certify that:

(a) We have reviewed the financial statements and cash flow statement for the year ended March 31, 2013 and to the 

best of our knowledge and belief:

 (i) these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain statements 

that might be misleading;

 (ii) these statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance with 

existing accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations.

(b) There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company during the year, 

which are fraudulent or illegal or violative of the Company’s Code of Conduct.

(c) We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls and that we have evaluated the effectiveness 

of the internal control systems of the Company and we have disclosed to the auditors and the Audit Committee, 

deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls, if any, of which we are aware and the steps we have 

taken or propose to take to rectify these deficiencies.

(d) We have indicated to the auditors and the Audit Committee:

 (i) significant changes in internal control during the year;

 (ii) significant changes in accounting policies during the year and that the same have been disclosed in the Notes 

to the Accounts to the financial statements; and

 (iii) instances of significant fraud of which we have become aware and the involvement therein, if any, of the 

Management or an employee having a significant role in the Company’s internal control system over financial 

reporting.

Yours truly,

For Marico Limited For Marico Limited

Harsh Mariwala Milind Sarwate 

Chairman and Managing Director Group Chief Financial Officer

Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai

Date: April 30, 2013 Date: April 30, 2013

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (CEO) DECLARATION

This is to confirm that the Company has adopted a Code of Conduct for its Board Members and senior management. 

This Code of Conduct is available on the Company’s website.

I confirm that the Company has in respect of the financial year ended March 31, 2013, received from the senior 

management team of the Company and the Members of the Board a declaration of compliance with the Code of 

Conduct as applicable to them.

For the purpose of this declaration, senior management team means personnel as specified in the Annexure to the Code 

of Conduct of the Company.

HARSH MARIWALA

Chairman and Managing Director

Place: Mumbai

Date: April 30, 2013
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AUDITORS' REPORT
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Members of Marico Limited

Report on the Financial Statements

1. We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Marico Limited (the “Company”), which comprise the 

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2013, the Statement of Profit and Loss and Cash Flow Statement for the year then 

ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, which we have signed 

under reference to this report.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

2. The Company’s Management is responsible for the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and 

fair view of the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the 

Accounting Standards referred to in sub–section (3C) of section 211 of ‘the Companies Act, 1956’ of India (the 

“Act”). This responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 

preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those 

Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence, about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 

the auditors consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates 

made by Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

5. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

Opinion

6. In our opinion, and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the accompanying 

financial statements give the information required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair 

view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

 (a) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31,2013 ;

 (b) in the case of the Statement of Profit and Loss, of the profit for the year ended on that date; and

 (c) in the case of the Cash Flow Statement, of the cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

7. As required by ‘the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003’, as amended by ‘the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 

(Amendment) Order, 2004’, issued by the Central Government of India in terms of sub–section (4A) of section 227 

of the Act (hereinafter referred to as the “Order”), and on the basis of such checks of the books and records of the 

Company as we considered appropriate and according to the information and explanations given to us, we give 

in the Annexure a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the Order.
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8. As required by section 227(3) of the Act, we report that:

 (a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were 

necessary for the purpose of our audit;

 (b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as appears 

from our examination of those books;

 (c) The Balance Sheet, Statement of Profit and Loss, and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this Report are in 

agreement with the books of account;

 (d)  In our opinion, the Balance Sheet, Statement of Profit and Loss, and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this 

report comply with the Accounting Standards referred to in sub–section (3C) of section 211 of the Act;

 (e) On the basis of written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2013, and taken on record 

by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31, 2013, from being appointed 

as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub–section (1) of section 274 of the Act.

  For Price Waterhouse
 Firm Registration Number: 301112E
  Chartered Accountants

Uday Shah
Place : Mumbai  Partner
Date  : April 30, 2013  Membership Number :  46061

AUDITORS' REPORT
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ANNEXURE TO AUDITORS' REPORT
Referred to in Paragraph 7 of the Auditors’ Report of even date to the members of Marico Limited on the 

financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2013.

i. (a) The Company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative details and situation, 

of fixed assets.

 (b) The fixed assets are physically verified by the Management according to a phased programme designed to 

cover all the items over a period of two years which, in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size 

of the Company and the nature of its assets. Pursuant to the programme, a portion of the fixed assets have 

been physically verified by the Management during the year and no material discrepancies have been noticed 

on such verification.

 (c) In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, a substantial part of fixed 

assets has not been disposed off by the Company during the year.

ii. (a) The inventory has been physically verified by the Management during the year. In respect of inventory lying with 

third parties, these have substantially been confirmed by them. In our opinion, the frequency of verification is 

reasonable.

 (b) In our opinion, the procedures of physical verification of inventory followed by the Management are reasonable 

and adequate in relation to the size of the Company and the nature of its business.

 (c) On the basis of our examination of the inventory records, in our opinion, the Company is maintaining proper 

records of inventory. The discrepancies noticed on physical verification of inventory as compared to book 

records were not material.

iii. The Company has not granted/taken any loans, secured or unsecured, to / from companies, firms or other parties 

covered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Act. Therefore, the provisions of Clause 4(iii) [(b), (c) 

and (d) / (f) and (g) ] of the said Order are not applicable to the Company.

iv. In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, there is an adequate internal control 

system commensurate with the size of the Company and the nature of its business for the purchase of inventory 

and fixed assets and for the sale of goods and services. Further, on the basis of our examination of the books and 

records of the Company, and according to the information and explanations given to us, we have neither come 

across, nor have been informed of, any continuing failure to correct major weaknesses in the aforesaid internal 

control system.

v According to the information and explanations given to us, there have been no contracts or arrangements that need 

to be entered in the register maintained under Section 301 of the Act, accordingly our commenting on transactions 

made in pursuance of such contracts or arrangement does not arise.

vi. The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning of Sections 58A and 58AA of the 

Act and the rules framed there under.

vii. In our opinion, the Company has an internal audit system commensurate with its size and the nature of its business.

viii. We have broadly reviewed the books of account maintained by the Company in respect of products where, pursuant 

to the rules made by the Central Government of India, the maintenance of cost records has been prescribed under 

clause (d) of sub–section (1) of Section 209 of the Act, and are of the opinion that, prima facie, the prescribed 

accounts and records have been made and maintained. We have not, however, made a detailed examination of 

the records with a view to determine whether they are accurate or complete.

ix. (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the Company examined by us, 

in our opinion, the Company is regular in depositing the undisputed statutory dues, including provident fund, 

investor education and protection fund, employees’ state insurance, income tax, sales tax, wealth tax, service 

tax, customs duty, excise duty and other material statutory dues, as applicable, with the appropriate authorities.
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(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the Company examined by us, there 

are no dues of wealth–tax and excise duty which have not been deposited on account of any dispute. The particulars 

of dues of income tax, sales tax, service tax and customs duty as at March 31, 2013 which have not been deposited 

on account of a dispute, are as follows:

Name of the 
Statute

Nature of dues Amount 
(Rs. in 
Crore )

Period to which 
the  amount 

relates

Forum where the 
dispute is pending

The Central Sales Tax 

Act and Local Sales 

Tax Acts

Sales tax 
including interest 
and penalty as 
applicable

4.76 2005 –06 to

2011–2012

Additional Commissioner – 
Sales tax Appeals

0.87 Various years Deputy Commissioner – 
sales tax Appeals.

8.21 Various years Joint Commissioner –
Sales Tax Appeals

2.92 Various years Sales tax Tribunal 

0.04 1995–96 High Court – U.P.

0.57 2004–05 and
2011–2013

Assistant Commissioner – 
Sales Tax  Appeals 

The Indian Customs 
Act,1962

Export cess 0.09 2004 Deputy Commissioner of 
Customs – Kolkatta

The Indian Customs 
Act,1962

Redemption fine 
and penalty

0.30 2002 to 2004 Customs Excise and Service 
Tax Appellate Tribunal – 
Mumbai

The Indian Customs 
Act,1962

Custom duty 0.01 2008 Assistant Commissioner of 
Customs – Mumbai

Income Tax Act,1961 Income tax 0.47 Block period from 
1991–92 to
1996–97.

Income Tax Appellate 
Tribunal

The Central Excise 
Act, 1944

Service Tax 0.17 2005–10 Commissioner of Customs, 
Central Excise and Service 
Tax

x. The Company has no accumulated losses as at the end of the financial year and it has not incurred any cash 
losses in the financial year ended on that date or in the immediately preceding financial year.

xi. According to the records of the Company examined by us and the information and explanations given to us, the 
Company has not defaulted in repayment of dues to any financial institution or bank or debenture holders as at 
the balance sheet date.

xii. The Company has not granted any loans and advances on the basis of security by way of pledge of shares, 
debentures and other securities. Therefore, the provisions of Clause 4(xii) of the Order are not applicable to the 
Company.

xiii. As the provisions of any special statute applicable to chit fund/ nidhi/ mutual benefit fund/ societies are not 
applicable to the Company, the provisions of Clause 4(xiii) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

xiv. In our opinion, the Company is not dealing in or trading in shares, securities, debentures and other investments. 
Accordingly, the provisions of Clause 4(xiv) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

ANNEXURE TO AUDITORS' REPORT
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ANNEXURE TO AUDITORS' REPORT
xv. In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, the terms and conditions of the 

guarantees given by the Company for loans taken by subsidiaries from banks or financial institutions during the 
year, are not prejudicial to the interest of the Company.

xvi. In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, the term loans have been applied 
for the purposes for which they were obtained.

xvii. According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall examination of the balance sheet of 
the company, we report that the no funds raised on short–term basis have been used for long–term investment.

xviii. The Company has not made any preferential allotment of shares to parties and companies covered in the register 
maintained under Section 301 of the Act during the year. Accordingly, the provisions of Clause 4(xviii) of the Order 
are not applicable to the Company.

xix. The Company issued 1,000, Rated, Listed Unsecured, Zero Coupon Redeemable Non– convertible debentures 
of Rs. 1,000,000 each, aggregating Rs. 100 crore which are outstanding at the year–end, in respect of which it 
is not required to create security or charge.

xx. The Company has not raised any money by public issues during the year. Accordingly, the provisions of Clause 
4(xx) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

xxi. During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company, carried out in accordance with 
the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the information and explanations given to us, 
we have neither come across any instance of material fraud on or by the Company, noticed or reported during 
the year, nor have we been informed of any such case by the Management.

  For Price Waterhouse
 Firm Registration Number: 301112E
  Chartered Accountants

  Uday Shah
Place : Mumbai  Partner
Date  : April 30, 2013  Membership Number : 46061
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BALANCE SHEET

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

As per our attached report of even date.

For Price Waterhouse For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants HARSH MARIWALA Chairman and Managing Director
Firm Registration No. 301112E NIKHIL KHATTAU Director and Chairman of Audit Committee
   MILIND SARWATE Group Chief Financial Officer
UDAY SHAH HEMANGI GHAG Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
Partner  
Membership No. 46061
Place : Mumbai Place : Mumbai
Date  : April 30, 2013 Date  : April 30, 2013

 As at March 31,

  Note 2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ funds
Share capital 3  64.48  61.49 
Reserves and surplus 4  1,926.95  1,062.63 

 1,991.43  1,124.12 
Non–current liabilities
Long–term borrowings 5  376.83  324.73 
Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 14  3.04  –
Other long term liabilities 6  0.97  – 
Long–term provisions 7  –  5.32 

 380.84  330.05 
Current liabilities
Short–term borrowings 8  279.36  228.42 
Trade payables 9  310.08  244.47 
Other current liabilities 10  152.37  85.72 
Short–term provisions 11  54.19  47.88 

 796.00  606.49 

TOTAL   3,168.27  2,060.66 

ASSETS

Non–current assets
Fixed assets

Tangible assets 12 (A)  322.76  238.08 
Intangible assets 12 (B)  12.47  2.01 
Capital work–in–progress  145.34  36.22 

 480.57  276.31 
Non–current investments 13  1,087.05  405.91 
Deferred tax assets (Net) 14  –  19.08 
Long–term loans and advances 15  139.28  235.81 
Other non–current assets 16  135.34  123.14 

 1,842.24  1,060.25 
Current assets
Current investments 17  229.42  266.26 
Inventories 18  708.98  530.04 
Trade receivables 19  123.85  101.04 
Cash and bank balances 20  22.03  32.26 
Short–term loans and advances 21  233.41  54.46 
Other current assets 22  8.34  16.35 

 1,326.03  1,000.41 

TOTAL   3,168.27  2,060.66 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS
 For the year ended March 31,

  Note 2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Revenue from operations (Gross) 23  3,409.90  2,966.71 

Less : Excise duty  2.80  1.36 

Revenue from operations (Net)  3,407.10  2,965.35 

Other income 24  50.20  51.65 

Total Revenue   3,457.30  3,017.00 

Expenses:

Cost of materials consumed 25 (A)  1,760.09  1,671.92 

Purchases of stock–in–trade 25 (B)  202.61  106.33 

Changes in inventories of finished goods, work–in–progress and stock–
in–trade – (Increase) / decrease

25 (C)  (132.70)  (40.02)

Employee benefits expenses 26  155.69  126.21 

Finance costs 27 43.68  28.34 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 28  33.13  31.49 

Other expenses 29  899.31  693.45 

Total Expenses   2,961.81  2,617.72 

Profit before exceptional and extraordinary items and tax  495.49  399.28 

Exceptional items – income 39  46.50  – 

Profit before tax  541.99  399.28 

Tax expense:

Current tax  103.95  77.55 

Less: MAT credit (entitlement) / utilisation  (13.31)  (22.33)

Net current tax  90.64  55.22 

Deferred tax charge  22.26  7.47 

 112.90  62.69 

Profit for the year   429.09  336.59 

Earnings per equity share (Nominal value per share Re. 1 (Re. 1)) 41

Basic  6.69 5.48

Diluted  6.69 5.47

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

As per our attached report of even date.

For Price Waterhouse For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants HARSH MARIWALA Chairman and Managing Director
Firm Registration No. 301112E NIKHIL KHATTAU Director and Chairman of Audit Committee
   MILIND SARWATE Group Chief Financial Officer
UDAY SHAH HEMANGI GHAG Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
Partner  
Membership No. 46061
Place : Mumbai Place : Mumbai
Date  : April 30, 2013 Date  : April 30, 2013
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
   

For the year ended March 31,

 2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

A CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION AND AFTER EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS 541.99 399.28

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 33.13 31.49

Surplus on change in method of depreciation (37.45) –

Reversal of impairment loss on “Fiancee” trademark (9.05) –

Finance charges 43.68 28.34

Interest income (10.59) (8.11)

Loss / (Profit) on sale of assets – (net) 1.35 0.67

(Profit) / Loss on sale of investments (net) (4.73) (0.14)

Dividend income (26.35) (31.81)

Employees stock option charge/ (reversal) (0.02) (0.04)

Stock appreciation rights expenses 2.37 5.30

Provision for doubtful debts, advances, deposits and others no longer 
required written back

1.14 (0.58)

(6.52) 25.12

Operating profit before working capital changes 535.47 424.40

Adjustments for:

(Increase)/ Decrease in inventories (178.95) (75.82)

(Increase)/ Decrease in sundry debtors (23.13) 18.02

(Increase)/ decrease in loans and advances, other current and non–current 
assets and other bank balances

103.13 (24.06)

Increase/( Decrease) in current liabilities and provisions 95.01 97.37

Changes in Working Capital (3.94) 15.51

Cash generated from Operations 531.53 439.91

Taxes paid (net of refunds) (87.18) (76.84)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 444.35 363.07

B CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of fixed assets (192.42) (61.44)

Sale of fixed assets 0.19 0.14

Purchase of investment property (18.83) –

Purchase of investments (156.33) (278.88)

Sale of investments 281.07 77.20

Investment in Subsidiary (745.80) –

Inter–corporate deposits placed – (10.00)

Advance to WEOMA Trust (56.52) (19.92)

Refund / (deposit) in escrow account for acquisition 25.00 (25.00)

Loans and advances repaid by related parties 76.15 66.44

Loans and advances given to related parties (202.06) (65.40)

Dividend income received 26.36 31.81

Interest received 10.14 7.89

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (953.05) (277.16)
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended March 31,

 2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

C CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of Share capital (ESOP + Preferencial allotment)
after adjusting share issue expenses (net of Share issue expenses)

499.19 3.09

Issue / (Redemption) of commercial papers (net) 42.50 (92.99)

Issue of Debentures / (redemption) 100.00 (30.00)

Other borrowings (repaid) / taken (net) (10.87) 103.84

Finance charges paid (43.32) (30.30)

Equity dividend paid (inclusive of dividend distribution tax) (66.05) (47.28)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 521.45 (93.64)

D NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C) 12.75 (7.73)

E Cash and cash equivalents – opening balance (as at April 1) (Note 20) 5.96 13.69

F Cash and cash equivalents – closing balance (as at March 31) (Note 20) 18.71 5.96

Notes

1 The above Cash Flow statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in Accounting Standard 
3 (AS 3) ‘Cash Flow Statements’ as specified in Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules , 2006

The figures for the previous year have been regrouped where necessary to conform to current year’s classification.2

As per our attached report of even date.

For Price Waterhouse For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants HARSH MARIWALA Chairman and Managing Director
Firm Registration No. 301112E NIKHIL KHATTAU Director and Chairman of Audit Committee
   MILIND SARWATE Group Chief Financial Officer
UDAY SHAH HEMANGI GHAG Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
Partner  
Membership No. 46061
Place : Mumbai Place : Mumbai
Date  : April 30, 2013 Date  : April 30, 2013
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. The Company and nature of its operations:

 Marico Limited (‘Marico’ or ‘the Company’), headquartered in Mumbai, Maharashtra, India, carries on business in 

branded consumer products. Marico manufactures and markets products under brands such as Parachute, Nihar, 

Saffola, Hair & Care, Revive,Mediker, Livon and Set–wet. Marico’s products reach its consumers through retail outlets 

serviced by Marico’s distribution network comprising regional offices, carrying & forwarding agents, redistribution 

centers and distributors spread all over India.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies:

 (a) Basis of preparation of financial statements

  The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) 

in India under the historical cost convention on an accrual basis, except for certain financial instruments which 

are measured at fair values and are in conformity with mandatory accounting standards, as prescribed by the 

Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006, the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 and guidelines 

issued by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI).

  All assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non–current as per the Company’s normal operating 

cycle and other criteria set out in the Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956.

 (b) Use of estimates

  The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the management to make estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported balances of assets and liabilities and disclosures relating to contingent 

assets and liabilities as at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of income and expenses 

during the period. Examples of such estimates include provisions for doubtful debts, future obligations under 

employee retirement benefit plans, income taxes, the useful lives and provision for impairment of fixed assets 

and intangible assets.

  Management believes that the estimates used in the preparation of financial statements are prudent and 

reasonable. Future results could differ from these estimates.

 (c) Tangible assets, intangible assets and capital work–in–progress

  Tangible assets and intangible assets are stated at cost of acquisition, less accumulated depreciation/amortisation 

and impairments, if any. Cost includes taxes, duties, freight and other incidental expenses related to acquisition 

and installation. Borrowing costs attributable to acquisition, construction of qualifying asset are capitalised 

until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. Other pre–operative expenses for 

major projects are also capitalised, where appropriate.

  Capital work–in–progress comprises cost of fixed assets that are not yet ready for their intended use at the year end.

 (d) Depreciation and amortisation

  I. Tangible assets

   (i) Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis at higher of the rates based on useful lives of the assets 

as estimated by the management or those stipulated in Schedule XIV to the Companies Act, 1956. The 

depreciation rates considered for the following items are higher than the rates stipulated in Schedule XIV 

to the Companies Act, 1956:

Asset Rates (p.a.)

Computer hardware and related peripherals 33.33%

Moulds 16.21%

Office equipment 10% to 50%

Furniture and fixtures 12.50%

Vehicles 20%

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013
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   (ii) Extra shift depreciation is provided on “Plant” basis.

   (iii) Assets individually costing Rs. 5,000 or less are depreciated fully in the year of acquisition.

   (iv) Leasehold land is amortised over the primary period of the lease.

   (v) Fixtures in leasehold premises are amortised over the primary period of the lease.

   (vi) Depreciation on additions / deletions during the year is provided from the month in which the asset is 

capitalised / up to the month in which the asset is disposed off.

   (vii) The company has during the year changed the method of depreciation on certain assets (Refer note 39 (a))

  II. Intangible assets

   Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis at the rates based on estimated useful lives of respective 

assets, but not exceeding the rates given here under:

Asset Rates (p.a.)

Trademarks, copyrights and business and commercial rights 10%

Computer software 33.33%

   A rebuttable presumption that the useful life of an intangible asset will not exceed ten years from the date when 

the asset is available for use is considered by the management.

 (e) Assets taken on lease

  (i) The assets taken on finance lease are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of 

the leased asset and present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding amount is shown as 

lease liabilities. The principal component in the lease rental is adjusted against the lease liability and the interest 

component is charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss.

  (ii) Operating lease payments are recognised as expenditure in the Statement of Profit and Loss as per the terms 

of the respective lease agreement.

 (f) Asset given on lease

  In respect of Plant and equipment and Investment property given on operating lease basis, lease rentals are 

accounted on accrual basis in accordance with the respective lease agreements.

 (g) Investments

  (i) Long term investments are valued at cost. Provision for diminution, if any, in the value of investments is made 

to recognise a decline in value, other than temporary.

  (ii) Current investments are valued at lower of cost and fair value, computed individually for each investment. In 

case of investments in mutual funds which are unquoted, net asset value is taken as fair value.

  (ii) Investment property: Investment in buildings that are not intended to be occupied substantially for use by, or in 

the operations of, the Company, is classified as investment property. Investment properties are carried at cost 

less accumulated amortization.

 (h) Inventories

  (i) Raw materials, packing materials, stores and spares are valued at lower of cost and net realizable value. 

However, these items are considered to be realizable at cost if the finished products in which they will be used 

are expected to be sold at or above cost.

  (ii) Work–in–progress, finished goods and stock–in–trade (traded goods) are valued at lower of cost and net 

realizable value.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013
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  (iii) By–products and unserviceable / damaged finished goods are valued at estimated net realizable value.

  (iv) Cost is ascertained on weighted average method and in case of work–in–progress includes appropriate production 

overheads and in case of finished goods includes appropriate production overheads and excise duty, wherever 

applicable.

 (i) Research and Development

  Capital expenditure on research and development is capitalised and depreciated as per the accounting policy 

mentioned in para 2(c) and 2(d) above. Revenue expenditure is charged off in the year in which it is incurred.

 (j) Revenue recognition

  (i) Domestic sales are recognised at the point of dispatch of goods to the customers, which is when substantial 

risks and rewards of ownership passed to the customers, and are stated net of trade discounts, rebates, sales 

tax, value added tax and excise duty.

  (ii) Export sales are recognised based on the date of bill of lading which is when substantial risks and rewards of 

ownership passed to the customers.

  (iii) Revenue from services is recognised on rendering of services.

  (iv) Interest and other income are recognised on accrual basis.

  (v) Income from export incentives such as premium on sale of import licences, duty drawback etc. are recognised 

on accrual basis to the extent the ultimate realisation is reasonably certain.

  (vi) Dividend income is recongnised when right to receive dividend is established.

  (vii) Revenue from royalty income is recognised on accrual basis.

 (k) Retirement and other benefits to employees

  (i) Gratuity

   Liabilities with regard to the gratuity benefits payable in future are determined by actuarial valuation at each 

Balance Sheet date using the Projected Unit Credit method and contributed to Employees Gratuity Fund. Actuarial 

gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in the Statement of Profit and 

Loss in the period in which they arise.

  (ii) Superannuation

   The Company makes contribution to the Superannuation Scheme, a defined contribution scheme, administered 

by ICICI Prudential Life Insurance Company Limited. The Company has no obligation to the scheme beyond 

its monthly contributions.

  (iii) Leave encashment / Compensated absences

   The Company provides for the encashment of leave with pay subject to certain rules. The employees are entitled 

to accumulate leave subject to certain limits, for future encashment / availment. The liability is provided based 

on the number of days of unutilized leave at each balance sheet date on the basis of an independent actuarial 

valuation.

  (iv) Provident fund

   Provident fund contributions are made to a trust administered by the Company. The Company’s liability is 

actuarially determined (using the Projected Unit Credit method) at the end of the year and any shortfall in the 

fund balance maintained by the Trust set up by the Company is additionally provided for. Actuarial losses and 

gains are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the year in which they arise.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013
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 (l) Foreign currency transactions

  (i) Transactions in foreign currencies are recognised at the prevailing exchange rates on the transaction dates. 

Realised gains and losses on settlement of foreign currency transactions are recognised in the Statement of 

Profit and Loss.

  (ii) Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities at the year end are translated at the year end exchange rates 

and the resultant exchange differences except those qualifying for hedge accounting are recognised in the 

Statement of Profit and Loss.

  (iii) In case of forward contracts with underlying assets or liabilities, the difference between the forward rate and 

the exchange rate on the date of inception of a forward contract is recognised as income or expense and is 

amortised over the life of the contract. Exchange differences on such contracts are recognised in the Statement 

of Profit and Loss in the year in which they arise. Any profit or loss arising on cancellation or renewal of forward 

exchange contracts are recognised as income or expense for the period.

  (iv) The Company uses forward and options contracts to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency transactions 

relating to certain firm commitments and forecasted transactions. The Company also uses Interest rates swap 

contracts to hedge its interest rate risk exposure. The Company designates these as cash flow hedges. These 

contracts are marked to market as at the year end and resultant exchange differences, to the extent they 

represent effective portion of the hedge, are recognised directly in ‘Hedge Reserve’. The ineffective portion of 

the same is recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

  (v) Exchange differences taken to Hedge Reserve account are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss upon 

crystallization of firm commitments or occurrence of forecasted transactions or upon discontinuation of hedge 

accounting resulting from expiry / sale / termination of hedge instrument or upon hedge becoming ineffective.

  (vi) Non–monetary foreign currency items are carried at cost / fair value and accordingly the investments in shares 

of foreign subsidiaries are expressed in Indian currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the time when the 

original investments are made or fair values determined.

  (vii) Exchange differences arising on monetary items that in substance form part of Company’s net investment in a 

non–integral foreign operation are accumulated in a ‘Foreign Currency Translation Reserve’ until the disposal 

of  the net investment. The same is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss upon disposal of the net 

investment.

 (m) Accounting for taxes on income

  (i) Provision for current tax is made, based on the tax payable under the Income Tax Act, 1961. Minimum Alternative 

Tax (MAT) credit, which is equal to the excess of MAT (calculated in accordance with provisions of Section 115JB 

of the Income tax Act, 1961) over normal income–tax is recognised as an asset by crediting the Statement of 

Profit and Loss only when and to the extent there is convincing evidence that the Company will be able to avail 

the said credit against normal tax payable during the period of ten succeeding assessment years.

  (ii) Deferred tax on timing differences between taxable income and accounting income is accounted for, using the 

tax rates and the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted as on the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets 

on unabsorbed tax losses and unabsorbed tax depreciation are recognised only when there is a virtual certainty 

of their realisation. Other deferred tax assets are recognised only when there is a reasonable certainty of their 

realisation.

 (n) Impairment

  The Company reviews the carrying values of tangible and intangible assets for any possible impairment at 

each balance sheet date. An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
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recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of net selling price and value in use. In assessing 

the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value at appropriate discount 

rates. If at the balance sheet date there is an indication that a previously assessed impairment loss no longer 

exists, the recoverable amount is reassessed and the asset is reflected at the recoverable amount.

 (o) Employee Stock Option Plan

  In respect of stock options granted pursuant to the Company’s Employee Stock Option Scheme, the intrinsic 

value of the options (excess of market value of shares over the exercise price of the option at the date of grant) 

is recognised as Employee compensation cost over the vesting period.

 (p) Employee Stock Appreciation Rights Scheme

  In respect of Employee Stock Appreciation Rights granted pursuant to the Company’s Employee Stock 

Appreciation Rights Plan, 2011, the intrinsic value of the rights (excess of market value as at the year end and 

the Grant price) is recognised as Employee compensation cost over the vesting period after adjusting amount 

recoverable from the Trust (refer note. 45)

 (q) Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

  Contingent Liabilities are disclosed in respect of possible obligations that arise from past events but their 

existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 

wholly within the control of the Company or where any present obligation cannot be measured in terms of 

future outflow of resources or where a reliable estimate of the obligation cannot be made.

  A provision is made based on a reliable estimate when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits will be required to settle an obligation and in respect of which a reliable estimate can be 

made. Provision is not discounted and is determined based on best estimate required to settle the obligation 

at the year end date. Contingent Assets are not recognised or disclosed in the financial statements.

 (r) Utilization of Securities Premium Reserve

  The Securities Premium Reserve is utilized for paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued as fully 

paid bonus shares, writing off preliminary expenses, writing off expenses on issue of shares or debentures 

and writing of premium on redemption of any redeemable preference shares or debentures of the Company.

 (s) Cash and Cash Equivalents

  In the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, demand deposits with banks, 

other short–term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

 (t) Earnings Per Share

  Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity 

shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period. Earnings 

considered in ascertaining the Company’s earnings per share is the net profit for the period after deducting 

preference dividends and any attributable tax thereto for the period. The weighted average number of equity 

shares outstanding during the period and for all periods presented is adjusted for events, such as bonus 

shares, other than the conversion of potential equity shares, that have changed the number of equity shares 

outstanding, without a corresponding change in resources. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings 

per share, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted average 

number of shares outstanding during the period is adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.
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3 Share capital

          As at March 31,

2013 2012

Rs. Crore Rs. Crore

Authorised

1,150,000,000 (650,000,000) equity shares of Re. 1/– each  115.00  65.00 
100,000,000 (150,000,000) preference shares of Rs. 10/– each 100.00  150.00

Total  215.00  215.00
Issued, subscribed and paid–up
644,771,779 (614,934,387) equity shares of Re. 1/– each fully paid–up 64.48  61.49 

Total 64.48 61.49

 a Reconciliation of number of shares

  Equity Shares :

Particulars As at March 31,
2013 2012

 Number of
shares 

 Rs. Crore  Number of 
shares 

 Rs. Crore 

Balance as at the beginning of the year 614,934,387 61.49 614,399,550 61.44

Shares Issued during the year – ESOP 
(Refer note (d) below)

425,648 0.05 534,837 0.05

Shares issued on Preferential allotment 
basis (Refer note 37)

29,411,764 2.94 – –

Balance as at the end of the year 644,771,799 64.48 614,934,387 61.49

 b Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to shares :

  Equity Shares: The Company has one class of equity shares having a par value of Re.1 per share. Each 

shareholder is eligible for one vote per share held. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject 

to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting, except in case of interim dividend. 

In the event of liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company 

after distribution of all preferential amounts, in proportion to their shareholding.

 c Details of shares held by shareholders holding more than 5% of the aggregate shares in the Company

Name of Shareholder As at March 31,
2013 2012

 No. of 
Shares held 

% of 
Holding 

No. of 
Shares held

% of 
Holding 

Equity Shares of Re. 1/– each fully 
paid–up
Harsh C Mariwala (As a representative of 
Valentine Family Trust)

73,376,000 11.38 73,376,000 11.93

Harsh C Mariwala (As a representative of 
Aquarius Family Trust)

73,376,000  11.38  73,376,000  11.93 

Harsh C Mariwala (As a representative of 
Taurus Family Trust)

73,376,000 11.38 73,376,000 11.93

Harsh C Mariwala (As a representative of 
Gemini Family Trust)

73,376,000 11.38 73,376,000 11.93

Arisaig Partners (Asia) Pte Ltd 35,353,269 5.48 35,353,269 5.75

Oppenheimer Developing Markets Fund
(Royal Bank of Scotland)

30,483,651 4.73 30,906,283 5.03
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 d Shares reserved for issue under options :

  The Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors of Marico Limited has granted Stock Options 

to certain eligible employees pursuant to the Marico ‘Employees Stock Options Scheme 2007’ (“Scheme”). 

Each option represents 1 equity share in the Company. The Vesting period and the Exercise Period, both range 

from 1 year to 5 years.

  The Scheme administered by the Corporate Governance Committee comprising independent Directors. The 

Scheme closed on February 1, 2013.

        As at March 31,

2013 2012

Weighted average share price of options exercised 57.85 56.98

Number of options granted, exercised, and forfeited 

Balance as at beginning of the year 778,313 2,388,050

Granted during the year  –    –   

Less : Exercised during the year 425,648 534,837

         Forfeited / lapsed during the year  – 1,074,900

Balance as at end of the year 352,665 778,313

Percentage to current paid–up equity share capital 0.05% 0.13%

  The Company has applied the intrinsic value based method of accounting for determining compensation 

cost for its stock based compensation plan and has accordingly reversed Rs. 0.02 Crore (Rs. 0.04 Crore) as 

compensation cost under the ‘intrinsic value’ method (Refer note 26). Had the Company considered ‘fair value’ 

method for accounting of compensation cost, the Company’s net income and Basic and Diluted earnings per 

share as reported would have reduced to the pro–forma amounts as indicated:

Particulars For the year ended March 31,

2013 2012

Net Profit after tax as reported (Rs. Crore) 429.09 336.59

Less : Stock–based employee compensation expense (Rs. Crore) 0.31 0.32

Adjusted pro–forma (Rs. Crore) 428.78 336.27

Basic earnings per share as reported Rs. 6.69 Rs. 5.48

Pro–forma basic earnings per share Rs. 6.69 Rs. 5.47

Diluted earnings per share as reported Rs. 6.69 Rs. 5.47

Pro–forma diluted earnings per share Rs. 6.69 Rs. 5.47

  The following assumptions were used for calculation of fair value of grants:

As at March 31,

2013 2012

Risk–free interest rate – Vest 1 (%) 6.61% 6.61%

Risk–free interest rate – Vest 2 (%) 7.27% 7.27%

Expected life of options (years) 5 years 5 years

Expected volatility – Vest 1 (%) 35.32% 35.32%

Expected volatility – Vest 2 (%) 36.92% 36.92%

Dividend yield 1.20% 1.20%
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4 Reserves and surplus

        As at March 31,
2013 2012

Rs. Crore Rs. Crore

Securities Premium Reserve
Balance as at the beginning of the year 46.54 43.50
Add : Receipt on issue of shares on preferential allotment basis (Refer note 37) 497.06 –
Add : Receipt on exercise of Employees stock options 2.42 3.03
Less: Amount adjusted towards share issue expenses (net of tax effect of Rs. 0.18) (3.10) –
Less: Premium on redemption of Debentures (net of tax effect of Rs. 0.31) (0.66) –
Add : Transferred from Employee Stock Options outstanding 0.02 0.01
Balance as at the end of the year 542.28 46.54
Debenture Redemption Reserve
Balance as at the beginning of the year 21.67 31.67
Add : Amount transferred from Surplus in the Statement of Profit and Loss 21.30 20.00
Less: Amount transferred to General Reserve on redemption – (30.00)
Balance as at the end of the year 42.97 21.67
Employee Stock Options Outstanding Account (Refer note 3 (d))
Balance as at the beginning of the year 0.02 0.07
Less : Transferred to Securities Premium Reserve on exercise of stock options 0.02 0.01
Less : Forefeited / lapsed – 0.04
Balance as at the end of the year – 0.02
General Reserve
Balance as at the beginning of the year 186.85 123.19
Add : Transferred from Surplus in the Statement of Profit and Loss 42.91 33.66
Add : Amount transferred from Debenture Redemption Reserve on redemption – 30.00
Balance as at the end of the year 229.76 186.85
Hedge Reserve (Refer note 40 (c))
Balance as at the beginning of the year (33.92) 4.99
Adjustments during the year (18.57) (38.91)
Balance as at the end of the year (52.49) (33.92)
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (Refer note below )
Balance as at the beginning of the year 6.04 5.74
Exchange gain/(loss) on translation during the year (4.45) 0.30
Balance as at the end of the year 1.59 6.04
Surplus in the Statement of Profit and Loss    
Balance as at the beginning of the year 835.43 602.52
Add : Profit during the year 429.09 336.59
Less: Appropriations :

Interim dividend 32.24 43.04
Dividend distribution tax on Interim dividend 5.23 6.98
Transfer to Debenture Redemption Reserve 21.30 20.00
Transfer to General Reserve 42.91 33.66

Balance as at the end of the year 1,162.84 835.43
Total 1,926.95 1,062.63

 The Company has advanced long term loans to its wholly owned subsidiary, Marico South Africa Consumer Care 
(pty) Limited, which is outstanding as at the year end. The operations of the said subsidiary are classified as ‘Non 
– integral foreign operations’. Accordingly, as per the requirements of Accounting Standard 11 ‘The effect of 
changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’, exchange gain of Rs. 1.59 Crore (Rs. 6.04 Crore) arising on revaluation of 
the said loan is accumulated in ‘Foreign Currency Translation Reserve’, to be recognised as income or expenses 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss upon disposal of the net investment in said subsidiary.
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5 Long–term borrowings

        As at March 31,

2013 2012

Rs. Crore Rs. Crore

Secured
Term loans

From banks

External commercial borrowing from The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking 

Corporation Limited 

(Loan carries interest @ LIBOR plus 2.1% (Previous year LIBOR plus 2.1%) and is 

secured by (i) Pledge of shares of International Consumer Products Corporation 

( a Subsidiary company) (ii) First ranking pari passu charge over all current and 

future plant and machinery and (iii) Mortgage on land and building situated at 

Andheri, Mumbai.)

276.83 274.73

The loan is repayable over a period of 6 years commencing from February 28, 

2011 as under:– 

1st installment – USD 3 million – payable at the end of 36 months

2nd installment – USD 3 million – payable at the end of 42 months

3rd installment – USD 6 million – payable at the end of 48 months

4th installment – USD 6 million – payable at the end of 54 months

5th installment – USD 9 million – payable at the end of 60 months

6th installment – USD 12 million – payable at the end of 66 months

7th installment – USD 15 million – payable at the end of 72 months

Total Amount – USD 54 million

Loan amount outstanding of USD 3 million as at March 31, 2013 has been 

disclosed under Other current liabilities as current maturities of long term debt 

(Refer note (a) below and note 10).

276.83 274.73

Unsecured
Debentures

500, 10.05%, Rated Taxable Unsecured Redeemable Non–convertible debentures 

of face value of Rs. 10,00,000/– each

(The above debentures were issued on March 30, 2011 and are reedeemable at 

par after 30 months from the date of issue i.e. by September 30, 2013. Interest 

on these debentures is payable at an interval of 12 months. The debentures are 

listed on National Stock Exchange and have been disclosed as current maturities 

of long term borrowings in the current year (Refer note (a) below and note 10).

– 50.00

1,000, Rated, Listed Unsecured, Zero Coupon Redeemable Non–convertible 

debentures of face value of Rs. 10,00,000/– each 

(The above debentures were issued on February 22, 2013 at Par and are 

reedeemable at premium after 3 years from the date of issue i.e. by February 

22, 2016 with a put/call option at the end of 2 years i.e. February 20, 2015. The 

debentures are listed on National Stock Exchange. The yield on redemption is 

8.95% p.a, on XIRR basis).

100.00 –

100.00 50.00

Total 376.83 324.73
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 a The scheduled maturity of long term borrowings is summarized as under:

Rs. Crores

ECB from HSBC / SCB Debentures Total

As on March 31 As on March 31 As on March 31

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Within one year (Refer note 10 – 
Current maturities of long term debt)

16.28 19.08 50.00 – 66.28 19.08

After 1 year but within 2 years 48.85 16.28 100.00 50.00 148.85 66.28

After 2 year but within 5 years 227.98 258.45 – – 227.98 258.45

Total 293.11 293.81 150.00 50.00 443.11 343.81

6 Other long term liabilities

        As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Premium on redemption of Debentures 0.97 –

Total 0.97 –

7 Long term provisions

        As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Provision for employee benefits :

Employee Stock Appreciation Rights Scheme (Refer note 45) – 5.32

Total – 5.32

8 Short–term borrowings

 As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Secured

From banks :

– Cash credit 12.74 0.18

– Pre–shipment credit in foreign currency

(Secured by hypothecation of inventory and debtors)

– 35.62

12.74 35.80

Unsecured

From banks:

– Buyers’ credit in foreign currency

(These borrowings are for a term of twelve months and carry interest rate 

of LIBOR plus applicable spread, ranging from 0.05% to 1.5% per annum 

(Previous year 0.05% to 1.5% per annum)).

17.82 111.22

– Pre–shipment credit in foreign currency

(These borrowings are for a term of six months and carry interest rate of LIBOR 

plus applicable spread, ranging from 1.30% to 2% per annum (Previous year 

1.30% to 2% per annum)).

59.71 30.52
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 As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

– Other term loans in foreign currency

(These loans have been availed for a term of 12 months and carry interest rate 

of 3 months LIBOR plus spread of 2.3% per annum (Previous year 3 months 

LIBOR plus spread of 2.3% per annum)).

54.28 50.88

– Cash credit 92.31 –

224.12 192.62

From others :

– Commercial papers

(Commercial papers have been borrowed for a term of 12 months and carry 

interest rate ranging from 8% to 10% per annum.)

45.00 –

Less: Deferred interest 2.50 –

42.50 –

266.62 192.62

Total 279.36 228.42

9 Trade payables 

As at March 31,

2012
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Trade Payables 310.08 244.47

Total 310.08 244.47

 The Company has certain dues to suppliers registered under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development 

Act, 2006 (‘MSMED Act’). The disclosures pursuant to the said MSMED Act are as follows:

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Principal amount due to suppliers registered under the MSMED Act and remaining 

unpaid as at year end.

 9.58  13.95 

Interest due to suppliers registered under the MSMED Act and remaining unpaid 

as at year end.

0.04 0.09

Principal amounts paid to suppliers registered under the MSMED Act, beyond the 

appointed day during the year.

– –

Interest paid other than under Section 16 of MSMED Act to suppliers registered 

under the MSMED Act, beyond the appointed day during the year.

– –

Interest paid under Section 16 of MSMED Act to suppliers registered under the 

MSMED Act beyond the appointed day during the year.

– –

Interest due and payable towards suppliers registered under MSMED Act for 

payments already made.

– –

Further interest remaining due and payable for earlier years. 0.09 0.01
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10 Other current liabilities

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Current maturities of long–term debt (Refer note 5 (a)) 66.28  19.08 

Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 1.56 1.20

Unclaimed dividends 0.17 0.16

Other payables

Provision for contractual liabilities 32.42 15.49

Advances from customers 5.64 13.94

Statutory dues, including provident fund and tax deducted at source 14.25 10.19

Forward/ derivative contracts payables 5.22 –

Creditors for capital goods 2.11 2.43

Security deposits from customers and others 0.30 0.31

Employee benefits payable 24.14 22.69

Others 0.28 0.23

Total 152.37 85.72

11 Short term provisions

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Provision for employee benefits:

Gratuity (Refer note 46 (A)) 2.12 0.17

Leave entitlement (Refer note 46(B)) 8.37 6.20

Provision for Employee Stock Appreciation Rights Scheme (Refer note 45(b) 

and 45 (d))

17.71 –

Less : Accretion in amounts recoverable from the Trust 10.03 –

7.68 –

Income tax – (net of advance tax and other tax payments for various years

Rs. 396.72 Crore (Previous year Rs. (310.01 Crore))

18.05 1.14

Interim dividend – 24.60

Dividend distribution tax on Interim dividend – 3.99

Disputed indirect taxes (Refer notes (a) and (b) below) 17.97 11.78

Total 54.19 47.88

 a Provision for disputed indirect taxes represents claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts, where 

management has assessed that unfavourable outcome of the matter is more than probable.  

 b Movement in provision for disputed indirect taxes:  

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Balance as at the beginning of the year 11.78 8.74

Add: Additions during the year 6.19 4.27

Less: Unused amounts reversed during the year – 1.23

Balance as at the end of the year 17.97 11.78
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13  Non current investments

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Long term Trade investments (valued at cost unless stated otherwise)
Investments in equity instruments :
Investment in Subsidiaries
Quoted

Marico Bangladesh Limited   0.86   0.86
28,350,000 (28,350,000) equity shares of Bangladesh taka 10 each fully paid 
(Quoted on Dhaka Stock exchange).

  

Unquoted   
Investment Property (at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortisation)   
Cost of building   18.83   –
Less: Amortisation during the year   (0.31)   –
Net block   18.52   –
Kaya Limited (wholly owned)
17,848,975 (14,500,000) equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid
(Refer note 17 and note 47)

   –   73.00

 

Marico Middle East FZE (wholly owned)
22 (22) equity share of UAE dirham 1,000,000 (1,000,000) fully paid

27.99 27.99

Marico South Africa Consumer Care (Pty) Limited (wholly owned)
800 (800) equity shares of SA Rand 1.00 fully paid

25.37 25.37

International Consumer Products Corporation
9,535,495 (9,535,495) equity shares of VND 10,000 fully paid

254.98 254.98

Marico Consumer Care Limited (wholly owned) (Refer note 37)
74,615,000 (Nil) equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid

745.70 –

   1,073.42   382.20
Other Investments :   
Investments in Government Securities   
Unquoted   
National Savings Certificates (Deposited with the Government authorities)   0.01   0.01
Others   
Quoted   
Indian Infrastructure Finance Company Ltd,
(1,000 (1,000) Unsecured, 6.85% Non–convertible, tax–free Bonds of face value 
of Rs. 1,00,000/– each, guaranteed by the Government of India, redeemable 
on 22nd January, 2014).

–

 

  10.08
 

Power Finance Corporation Limited
(28,479 (28,479) Secured, Redeemable, Tax free Non–convertible Bonds, 8.20%, 
face value of Rs. 1,000/– each, redeemable on 1st February, 2022).

  2.85

 

  2.85

 

Indian Railway Finance Corporation
(21,751 (21,751) Secured, Redeemable, Tax free Non–convertible Bonds , 8.00%, 
face value of Rs. 1,000/– each, redeemable on 23rd February, 2022).

  2.18   2.18
  

National Highways Authority of India
(24,724 (24,724) Secured, Redeemable, Tax free Non–convertible Bonds , 8.20%, 
face value of Rs. 1,000/– each, redeemable on 25th January, 2022).

  2.47

 

  2.47

 

Rural Electrification Corporation Limited
(61,238 (61,238) Secured, Redeemable, Tax free Non–convertible Bonds , 8.12%, 
face value of Rs. 1,000/– each, redeemable on 29th March, 2027).

  6.12

 

  6.12

 

   13.63   23.71
 Total   1,087.05   405.91
 Aggregate amount of quoted investments   14.49   24.56
 Market Value of quoted investments   707.46   700.15
 Aggregate amount of unquoted investments   1,072.56   381.35
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14 Deferred tax assets/liabilities (net)

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Deferred tax assets:

Provision for doubtful debts / advances that are deducted for tax purposes when 
written off

1.10 0.95

On intangible assets adjusted against Capital Redemption Reserve and Securities 
Premium Reserve under the Capital Restructuring scheme implemented in an 
earlier year (Refer note 12 (c))

21.73 27.49

Liabilities / provisions that are deducted for tax purposes when paid 6.65 3.80

Other timing differences 3.62 –

33.10 32.24

Deferred tax liability:

Additional depreciation/amortisation on fixed assets for tax purposes due to 
higher tax depreciation rates.

36.14 13.16

36.14 13.16

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (net) (3.04) 19.08

15 Long term loans and advances 

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Unsecured, considered good unless stated otherwise

Capital Advances

Considered good 20.27 10.31

Considered doubtful – 0.50

20.27 10.81

Less : Provision for doubtful advances – 0.50

20.27 10.31

Loans and advances to related parties – Subsidiaries (Refer notes 43 (c)) 46.45 156.59

Other loans and advances :

Deposits with public bodies and others

Considered good 7.85 7.24

Considered doubtful – 0.50

7.85 7.74

Less : Provision for doubtful deposits – 0.50

7.85 7.24

Loans to employees 2.48 2.70

Prepaid expenses 0.13 0.02

Balance with statutory/government authorities 15.09 12.75

Advances to vendors 1.28 1.28

Inter corporate deposits 10.00 –

Loans and advances to Welfare of Mariconians Trust (Refer note 45 (c) ) 36.54 19.92

Less: Provision for doubtful loan (Refer note 45 (e)) (0.81) –

35.73 19.92

Restricted deposit – HSBC Escrow Account – 25.00

Total 139.28 235.81
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16 Other non current assets 

As at March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Fringe benefit tax payments (net of provisions of Rs. 5.85 Crore (previous year 

Rs. 5.85 Crore))

 0.48  0.48 

MAT credit entitlement 131.15 117.84

Long term deposits with banks with maturity period of more than twelve months 
(Refer note below)

3.71 4.82

Total 135.34 123.14

 Long term deposits with bank include Rs. 0.13 Crore (Rs. 0.13 Crore) deposited with sales tax authorities and 

Rs. 3.58 Crore (Rs. 4.69 Crore) held as lien by banks against guarantees issued on behalf of the Company.

17 Current investments (Short term investments)

As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Current portion of long term investments

Unquoted

Investment in subsidiary (Trade investment)

Kaya Limited (wholly owned) (Refer note 47)
17,848,975 (14,500,000) equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid

181.84 –

Quoted

Indian Infrastructure Finance Company Ltd, 10.08 –

(1,000 (1,000) Unsecured, 6.85% Non–convertible, tax–free Bonds of face value 
of Rs. 1,00,000/– each, guaranteed by the Government of India, redeemable 
on 22nd January, 2014).

Current investments (At lower of cost and fair value)
Unquoted

Investment in subsidiaries (Trade investment)

Investment in Marico Kaya Enterprises Limited (wholly owned) (Refer note 47) 0.10 –

100,000 (NIL) equity shares of Rs. 10 each

Investments in Mutual Funds

Birla Sunlife Dynamic Bond Fund–Retail–Growth
1,306,807 (NIL) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

2.50 –

DSP Blackrock FMP–Series 81–12M–Growth
10,000,000 (NIL) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

10.00 –

HDFC Income Fund–Growth
1,908,040 (NIL) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

5.00 –

JM High Liquidity Fund–Regular Plan–Bonus Option
3,979,357 (NIL) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

3.90 –

JM High Liquidity Fund–Growth Option
147 Units (NIL) of Rs. 10 each fully paid (Rs. 4,638 (previous year NIL))

– –

Kotak Bond Scheme Plan A – Growth
1,514,623 (NIL) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

5.00 –

Reliance Short Term Fund–Growth
1,184,290 (NIL) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

2.50 –

SBI Magnum Insta Cash Fund Liquid Floater–Reg–Growth

42,728 (NIL) Units of Rs. 1,000 each fully paid

8.50 –

Templeton India Ultra Short Bond Fund Super Institutional Plan – Growth
NIL (720,132) units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

– 1.00
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As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore
Tata Liquidity Management Fund–Growth
NIL (69,662) Units of Rs. 1,000 each fully paid

– 10.05

Tata Liquid Super High Investment Fund–Appreciation
NIL (36,647) Units of Rs. 1,000 each fully paid

– 7.25

ICICI Prudential Money Market Fund–Cash Option
NIL (1,367,539) Units of Rs. 100 each fully paid

– 20.27

IDFC Ultra Short Term Fund–Growth
NIL (10,129,181) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

– 15.00

Kotak Liquid–Institutional Premium–Growth
NIL (689,915) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

– 1.50

DWS Treasury Fund – Cash – Institutional Plan – Growth
NIL (1,732,972) Units of Rs. 100 each fully paid

– 20.73

Reliance Liquid Fund–Treasury Plan–Institutional Plan–Growth
NIL (7,957,279) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

– 20.77

Birla Sun Life Floating Rate Fund–STP–Institutional Plan–Growth
NIL (366,604) Units of Rs. 100 each fully paid

– 5.22

Birla Sunlife Short Term FMP Series 29–Payout
NIL (15,000,000) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

– 15.00

DSPBR FMP –Series 33–3M–Dividend Payout
NIL (15,000,000) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

– 15.00

JM Floater Fund–Short Term Plan–Growth
NIL (5,914,217) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

– 10.02

L & T FMP–V–(December 368D A ) –Growth
NIL (8,000,000) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

– 8.00

L & T Ultra Short Term Fund– Institutional–Cum–Org
NIL (2,314,830) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

– 4.01

SBI Magnum Income Fund FR Saving Plus Bond–Growth
NIL (9,039,227) Units of Rs. 10 each fully paid

– 15.04

Other Investments

Quoted

91 days Certificate of deposit of Punjab National Bank of face value of Rs. 100 
Crore expiring on June 26, 2012 with coupon rate of 11.345%

– 97.40

Total 229.42 266.26

Aggregate amount of quoted investments 10.08 97.40

Market Value of quoted investments 9.99 97.44

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 219.34 168.86

18 Inventories 

 (Refer note 2 (h), for basis of valuation) 

As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore
Raw materials 248.98 203.91
Work–in–progress 175.57 87.77
Finished goods (includes in–transit Rs. 0.06 Crore (Previous year Rs. 0.75 Crore)) 199.03 168.43

Stock – in – trade (Traded goods) 28.46 12.20
Stores and spares 6.46 5.29
Others :

Packing materials 48.80 48.80
By–products 1.68 3.64

Total 708.98 530.04
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19 Trade receivables 

As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore
Unsecured
Outstanding for a period exceeding six months from the date they are due for 
payment

Considered good 3.04 0.60
Considered doubtful 3.24 2.91

6.28 3.51
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (3.24) (2.91)

3.04 0.60
Outstanding for a period less than six months from the date they are due for 
payment

Considered good 120.81 100.44
Considered doubtful – –

120.81 100.44
Total 123.85 101.04

Refer note 43 (c) for due from subsidiaries

20 Cash and bank balances 

As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore
Cash and cash equivalents :
Cash on hand 0.21 0.17
Remittance in–transit 0.44 0.12
Bank balances in current accounts 18.06 5.67

18.71 5.96
Other bank balances :
Fixed deposits with maturity more than three months but less than twelve months 3.00 26.14
Unclaimed dividend account 0.17 0.16
Demand deposits with maturity upto three months 0.15 –
Total 22.03 32.26

21 Short term loans and advances  

As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore
Unsecured, considered good (unless otherwise stated)
Loans and advances to related parties (Refer note 43 (c)):

Subsidiaries  142.18  18.76 
Others –  0.65 

142.18  19.41 
Others :

Loans and advances to Welfare of Mariconians Trust (Refer note 45 (c))  40.71 –
Advances to vendors and others  27.14  15.33 
Loans and advances to employees  3.06  2.13 
Prepaid expenses  5.17  3.42 
Deposits/Balances with Government authorities/Others  6.85  4.17 
Deposit with Leave Encashment plan  8.30  –   
Inter corporate deposits –  10.00 

91.23  35.05 
Total  233.41  54.46 
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22 Other current assets  

As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Unsecured, considered good (unless stated otherwise)

Interest accrued and due on loans / deposits 
(due from subsidiary Rs. 0.90 Crore (Rs. 1.10 Crore))

 2.84  2.40 

Insurance receivables  0.05  2.50 

Accrued export incentives  0.73  1.54 

Assets held for disposal  0.01  0.01 

Forward / derivative contracts receivables  –    7.53 

Others  4.71  2.37 

Total  8.34  16.35

23 Revenue from operations 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Sale of products:

Finished goods 3,120.44 2,762.66

Traded goods 203.06 136.66

By–product sales 78.13 60.24

3,401.63 2,959.56

Less:

Excise duty 2.80 1.36

3,398.83 2,958.20

Other operating revenues:

Export incentives 4.47 4.91

Sale of scraps 3.80 2.24

8.27 7.15

Total 3,407.10 2,965.35

 a) Details of Sales (Finished goods) 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Edible oils 2,129.06 2,002.36

Hair oils 757.32 578.43

Personal care 44.24 –

Others 189.82 181.87

Total 3,120.44 2,762.66

 b) Details of Sales (Traded goods) 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Oil seeds (Copra) 83.22 111.41

Personal care 95.69 –

Others 24.15 25.25

Total 203.06 136.66
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24 Other income  

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Interest Income

On Non current investments  1.13  0.85 

On current investments  0.69 –

On loans, deposits, etc.  8.77  7.26 

10.59  8.11 

Dividend Income

On current investments  7.64  11.92 

On Non current investments (from a subsidiary)  18.71  19.89 

26.35  31.81 

Net gain on sale of current investments  4.73  0.14 

Other non–operating income :

Lease rental income  1.43  0.42 

Royalty income  6.08  7.62 

Net gain on foreign currency transactions and translation –    2.06 

Miscellaneous income  1.02  0.99 

Excess provisions no longer required written back –    0.50 

Total  50.20  51.65

25 Cost of materials consumed, Purchases of stock in trade, Changes in inventories of finished goods, 

work–in–progress and stock–in–trade – (increase) / decrease

For the year ended March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

A Cost of materials consumed (Refer notes (a) and (c) below)

Raw materials consumed

Opening Inventories  203.91  160.88 

Add : Purchases (net)  1,496.72  1,454.38 

Less : Inventories at the end of the year  248.98  203.91 

Cost of raw materials consumed during the year  1,451.65  1,411.35 

Packing materials consumed

Opening Inventories  48.80  55.67 

Add : Purchases (net)  308.44  253.70 

Less : Inventories at the end of the year  48.80  48.80 

Cost of packing materials consumed during the year  308.44  260.57 

Total  1,760.09  1,671.92 

B Purchases of Stock–in–trade (refer note (b) below)  202.61  106.33 

C Changes in inventories of finished goods, work–in–progress and 
stock–in–trade – (increase) / decrease

Opening inventories

Work–in–progress  87.77  77.73 

Finished goods  168.43  149.65 

By–products  3.64  1.90 

Stock–in–trade  12.20  2.74 

Total A  272.04  232.02 
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For the year ended March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

Less: Closing inventories

Work–in–progress  175.57  87.77 

Finished goods  199.03  168.43 

By–products  1.68  3.64 

Stock–in–trade  28.46  12.20 

Total B  404.74  272.04 

(Increase) / decrease in inventories (A–B)  (132.70)  (40.02)

 a Details of Raw materials consumed 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore
Oil seeds (Copra and Kardi seeds) 662.52 677.95
Raw oils (other than Copra and Kardi seeds) 507.87 450.46
Others 281.26 282.94
Total 1,451.65 1,411.35

 b Details of Purchases of Stock–in–trade 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Oil seeds (Copra) 69.18 93.09

Personal care 119.87 –

Others 13.56 13.24

Total 202.61 106.33

 c Value of imported and indigenous raw materials consumed 

For the year ended March 31,
2013 % 2012 %

Rs. Crore Rs. Crore
Imported 123.15 8.48 126.92 8.99
Indigeneous 1,328.50 91.52 1,284.43 91.01
Total 1,451.65 100.00 1,411.35 100.00

26 Employee benefit expenses 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore
Salaries, wages and bonus 132.34 105.67

Contribution to provident and other funds (Refer notes 46 ) 10.30 6.74

Employees stock option charge/ (reversal) (Refer note 3 (d)) (0.02) (0.04)

Stock appreciation rights expenses (Refer note 45 (d)):

Star Grant Expenses 12.40 5.30

Less: Accretion in amounts recoverable from the Trust (10.03) –

2.37 5.30

Staff welfare expenses 10.70 8.54

Total 155.69 126.21
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27 Finance costs 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Interest on:

Long term borrowings 5.03 5.28

Short term borrowings 26.99 13.95

Other borrowing costs 0.27 0.33

Bank and other financial charges 3.00 2.51

Applicable net loss on foreign currency transactions and translation 8.39 6.27

Total 43.68 28.34

28 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Depreciation on tangible assets (Refer note 2(d) (I)) 31.48 29.33

Amortisation on intangible assets (Refer note 2(d) (II)) 1.55 1.10

Provisions for Impairment of capitalised assets (0.21) 1.06

Amortisation of Investment Property (Refer note 13) 0.31 –

Total 33.13 31.49

29 Other Expenses 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Consumption of stores and spare parts (refer note (a) below) 33.47 26.16

Power, fuel and water 10.03 7.78

Contract manufacturing charges 125.31 101.82

Rent and storage charges 30.25 21.64

Repairs to:

Building 5.25 3.15

Machinery 10.89 7.27

Others 2.01 1.81

Freight, forwarding and distribution expenses 150.71 124.26

Advertisement and sales promotion 382.18 295.93

Rates and taxes 41.92 29.80

Commission to selling agents 5.92 5.31

Communication expenses 5.29 4.40

Printing and stationery 1.65 1.36

Travelling, conveyance and vehicle expenses 23.21 18.52

Royalty 1.51 0.24

Insurance 2.96 2.08

Payments to the auditor as :

Statutory audit fees (including Limited Review under the Listing Agreement) 0.79 0.66

Tax audit fees 0.11 0.10

for other services 0.21 0.23

for reimbursement of expenses 0.01 0.01
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For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Net loss on foreign currency transactions and translation (other than 

considered as finance cost)

5.69 –

Commission to Non–executive directors 0.96 0.42

Provision for doubtful debts and advances 0.33 –

Add: Bad debts written off – –

Less: Provision for doubtful advances no longer required written back – (0.08)

0.33 (0.08)

Miscellaneous expenses (Refer note (b) below ) 58.65 40.58

Total 899.31 693.45

 (a) There is no consumption of imported stores and spares during the current year and the previous year.

 (b) Miscellaneous expenses include : 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Labour charges 11.75 6.74

Training & seminar expenses 5.06 4.70

Outside services 3.14 2.32

Legal & professional charges 24.21 18.59

Donation 3.41 0.09

Loss on sale of assets (net) 1.35 0.67

Total 48.92 33.11

30 Contingent liabilities: 

As at  March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Disputed tax demands / claims :

Sales tax 24.99 13.32

Income tax 0.77 4.14

Customs duty 0.40 0.40

Agricultural produce marketing cess 9.58 8.84

Employees state insurance corporation 0.18 0.13

Excise duty on subcontractors 0.41 0.35

Service Tax 0.17 –

Excise duty on CNO dispatches (Refer note (a) below) 364.09 278.92

Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts. 0.42 0.28

Total 401.01 306.38

 (a) The contingent liability pertains to a possible excise duty obligation in respect of pure coconut oil packs up to 

200 ml. This claim has been contested and a legal opinion in the matter has been obtained. Based on the 

legal opinion and in its assessment, the management believes that the probability of success in the matter is 

more likely than not and accordingly, the possible excise obligation has been treated as a contingent liability in 

accordance with requirements of Accounting Standard (AS) 29 “Provisions, Contingent Liability and Contingent 

Asset”. The possible excise duty obligation of Rs. 242.32 Crore (Rs. 157.15 Crore) for the clearances made 
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after June 3, 2009 (i.e. the date of issue of Board circular) till March 31, 2013 and Rs. 121.77 Crore (Rs. 

121.77 Crore) for clearances made prior to June 3, 2009 has been disclosed as contingent liability to the 

extent of the time horizon covered by show cause notices issued by the excise department within the normal 

period of one year (from the date of clearance) as per the excise laws. 

  The Company will continue to review this matter during the coming accounting periods based on the developments 

on the outcome in the pending cases and the legal advice, that it may receive from time to time. 

31 Capital commitments 

As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital 
account and not provided for (net of advances)

75.72 71.24

Consideration for Paras acquisition (Refer note 37) – 740.00

Total 75.72 811.24

32 Other commitments

As at March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Corporate guarantees given to banks on behalf of subsidiaries for 
credit and other facilities granted by banks. (Credit and other facilities 
availed by the subsidiaries as at the year end – Rs. 70.77 Crore
(Rs. 69.45 Crore)).

113.03 88.90

Stand by Letter of Credit issued by the Company’s banks on behalf 
of subsidiaries for credit and other facilities granted by banks. (Credit 
and other facilities availed by the subsidiaries as at the year end –
Rs. 81.56 Crore (Rs. 132.23 Crore))

181.30 169.42

Letters of credit 37.22 –

Total 331.55 258.32

33 CIF value of imports 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Raw materials 149.22 131.89

Packing materials 1.18 2.20

Capital goods 0.36 1.17

Stock – in – trade (Traded goods) 0.15 1.09

Total 150.91 136.35

34 Expenditure in foreign currency 

For the year ended March 31,
2013

Rs. Crore
2012

Rs. Crore

Travelling and other expenses 0.50 0.65

Advertisement and sales promotion 5.19 4.78

Interest on other loans 11.19 8.01

Miscellaneous expenses 2.19 1.13

Total 19.07 14.57
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35 Earnings in foreign currency 

For the year ended March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

FOB value of exports 138.59 192.35

Royalty 6.08 7.62

Dividend 18.71 19.89

Interest 4.10 4.09

Reimbursement of corporate guarantee commission 0.70 0.77

Total 168.18 224.72

36. Research and Development expenses aggregating Rs. 5.95 Crore (Rs. 6.37 Crore) have been included under the 

relevant heads in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

37. On May 29, 2012, the Company concluded the effective acquisition of the personal care business of Paras 

Pharmaceuticals Limited (“PPL”) for a consideration of Rs. 745.60 Crores. The acquisition was effected through 

Marico Consumer Care Limited (“MCCL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. MCCL was incorporated 

on April 20, 2012 and it acquired 100 % equity stake in Halite Personal Care India Private Limited (“Halite”) from 

Halite’s erstwhile owners. The personal care business had been demerged from PPL into Halite effective March 1, 

2012 under a Scheme of amalgamation and arrangements approved by the High Court of Punjab and Haryana. 

 The shareholders of the Company, at their meeting held on May 2, 2012, approved issue of equity shares on 

preferential allotment basis aggregating Rs. 500 Crores at a price of Rs. 170 per equity share to two overseas 

investors for funding a part of the Halite acquisition. Subsequently, the Company allotted 29,411,764 equity shares 

of face value Re. 1 each at a share premium of Rs. 169 each to these investors on May 16, 2012. This resulted 

in increase of Equity share capital by Rs. 2.94 Crores and Securities premium reserve by Rs. 497.06 Crores. The 

proceeds of the issue together with internal accruals were infused by Marico as equity investment in MCCL. MCCL 

utilized the equity proceeds for acquiring 100% equity stake in Halite on May 29, 2012.

38 a) Additional information on assets taken on lease:

  The Company’s significant leasing arrangements are in respect of residential flats, office premises, warehouses, 

vehicles etc taken on lease. The arrangements range between 11 months to 3 years and are generally renewable 

by mutual consent or mutually agreeable terms. Under these arrangements refundable interest–free deposits 

have been given.

March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

Lease rental payments recognised in the Statement of Profit and 

Loss.

25.81 17.99

In respect of assets taken on non–cancellable operating 

lease:

Lease obligations

Future minimum lease rental payments

– not later than one year 1.79 2.16

– later than one year but not later than five years 1.30 1.28

Total 3.09 3.44
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 b) Additional information on assets given on lease:

March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

Lease rental Income recognised in the Statement of Profit and 
Loss.

1.43 0.42

Rs. Crore

Asset Cost as at
March 31

Depreciation for 
the year ended 

March 31

Accumulated 
Depreciation as 

at March 31

Net Book Value 
as at March 31

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Plant and equipment 
(refer note 12(A))

2.03 2.03 (0.16) 0.01 1.79 1.95 0.24 0.08

Investment Property 18.83 – 0.31 – 0.31 – 18.52 –

  Depreciation for the year ended March 31, 2013 is including reversal of depreciation due to change of method 

of depreciation from WDV to SLM of Rs. 0.18 Crore which is shown as exceptional items.

39. Details of Exceptional Items are as under:

March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

a. Surplus on change in method of depreciation (Refer Note (a) 
below)

37.45 –

b. Reversal of impairment loss on “Fiancee” trademark (Refer Note 
(b) below)

9.05

Total 46.50 –

 a. Effective January 1, 2013, the Company has retrospectively changed its method of providing depreciation on 

Factory Building and Plant & Machinery from the ‘Written Down Value Method’ to ‘Straight Line Method’ at 

the rates prescribed in Schedule XIV to the Companies Act, 1956. This change results in a more appropriate 

presentation and will give a systematic basis of depreciation charge, representative of the time pattern in 

which the economic benefits flow to the Company. Accordingly, the Company has recognised the surplus of 

Rs. 37.45 Crores arising from this retrospective change.

  Had the previous method of depreciation been followed, depreciation charge for the quarter and year ended 

March 31, 2013 would have been higher by Rs. 2.96 Crores and the profit before tax for the current quarter 

and year ended March 31, 2013 would have been lower by an equivalent amount.

 b. During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company had recognised an impairment loss of Rs. 13.88 

Crores towards brand “Fiancee”. During the current year, the Company has reassessed the value in use and 

accordingly reversed an impairment loss of Rs. 9.05 Crores. The management has considered a pre–tax 

discount rate of 17.40% for determining value in use during the year.
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40. Derivative transactions –

 a) The total derivative instruments outstanding as on year end March 31, 2013 are Plain Forwards, Plain Vanilla 

Put Option, Cross currency swap and Interest rate swap:

Currency March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Notional 
Amount 

in Foreign 
Currency

Equivalent 
Amount in Rs. 

at the year 
end *

(Rs. Crore)

Notional 
Amount 

in Foreign 
currency

Equivalent 
Amount in Rs. 

at the year 
end *

(Rs. Crore)

Forward contracts 
outstanding

Exports: USD 7,739,273 42.01 8,238,974 41.92

Foreign currency loans 
(including Interest)

USD 15,182,985 82.41 34,861,622 177.36

Creditors USD 18,049,383 97.97 10,586,215 53.86

Creditors AUD 760,000 4.30 – –

Loan to subsidiary: ZAR 18,749,500 11.02 22,000,000 14.59

Options Contracts 
outstanding

Exports USD 5,993,000 32.53 8,100,000 41.21

Creditors USD 1,059,500 5.75 – –

Currency Swap USD 10,000,000 54.28 10,000,000 50.88

  * Converted into the exchange rate at the year end.

  Out of the above, the following have been designated as cash flow hedges

 

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Currency Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Fair Value
(Rs. Crore)

Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Fair Value
(Rs. Crore)

Forward contracts USD 2,57,88,656 106.77 18,825,189 97.37

Forward contracts AUD 7,60,000 4.31 – –

Options contract USD 70,52,500 0.49 8,100,000 0.89

  Details of Interest rate swaps which the Company has entered into for hedging its interest rate exposure on 

borrowings in foreign currency

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Currency Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Fair Value
(Rs. Crore)

Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Fair Value
(Rs. Crore)

Borrowings in Foreign 

currency

USD 27,000,000 3.08 30,750,000 1.55

  –  The Cash flows are expected to occur and impact the Statement of Profit and Loss within the period of 

1 year except interest rate swap, in respect of which Cash flows are expected to occur and impact the 

Statement of Profit and Loss within the period of 1 to 4 years (1 to 5 years).

  –  All the derivative contracts entered by the Company were for hedging purpose and not for any speculative 

purpose.
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 b) The Net foreign currency exposures not hedged as at the year end are as under:

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Currency Amount 
in Foreign 
Currency

Equivalent 
Amount in Rs. 

at the year 
end

(Rs. Crore)

Amount 
in Foreign 
currency

Equivalent 
Amount in 
Rs. at the 
year end

(Rs. Crore)

a. Amount (payable) /
receivable in foreign 
currency on account 
of following :

(i) Import of goods

    and services AUD 27,007 0.15 12,342 0.06

EUR 190 – 68,430 0.46

GBP (36,093) (0.30) (74,111) (0.60)

SGD 587,441 2.57 (26,554) (0.11)

(ii) Capital imports CHF 680 0.01 680 0.01

GBP – – 800 0.01

(iii) Export of goods AED 4,988 0.01 4,988 0.01

b. Bank balances USD 38,264 0.21 38,308 0.19

VND 584,291 0.01 1,183,114 0.01

c. Other receivable / 
(payable) USD 14,032 0.08 22,778 0.12

AED (468) (0.01) 553 0.01

AUD 2,400 0.01 – –

d. Loans and Advances AED 1,146,839 1.69 2,784,511 3.86

to Subsidiaries TAKA/ BDT 230,286,170 16.00 174,689,865 10.85

including interest USD 78,626 0.43 371,844 1.89

accrued ZAR 61,588,238 36.30 61,718,443 40.94

EGP 577,178 0.46 617,600 0.52

SGD – – 190,247 0.77

 Excludes Loans payable of Rs. 293.11 Crore [USD 54,000,000] (Rs. 293.81 Crore [USD 57,750,000]) assigned 

to hedging relationship against highly probable forecast sales. The Cash flows are expected to occur and impact 

the Statement of Profit and Loss within the period of 1 to 4 years (1 to 5 years).

c) Pursuant to the Announcement of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India’s (ICAI) “Accounting for Derivatives” 

on encouraging the early adoption of Accounting Standard (AS) 30, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement”, the Company had, during the year ended March 31, 2009, decided an early adoption of AS 30 to 

the extent it does not conflict with existing mandatory accounting standards and other authoritative pronouncements, 

Company Law and other regulatory requirements. Accordingly, the net unrealised gain/(loss) of Rs.(52.49) Crore 

[Rs. (33.92) Crore] in respect of outstanding derivative instruments and foreign currency loans at the year end which 

qualify for hedge accounting, is standing in the ‘Hedge Reserve’, which would be recognised in the Statement of 

Profit and Loss when the underlying transaction or forecast revenue arises.
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41. Earnings per share:

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Profit for the year as per the Statement of Profit and Loss/ Profit 
available to equity shareholders (Rs. Crore)

429.09 336.59

Equity shares outstanding as at the year end 644,771,799 614,934,387

Weighted average number of equity shares used as denominator for 
calculating basic earnings per share

640,971,596 614,748,262

Weighted average number of equity shares used as denominator for 
calculating diluted earnings per share

641,232,987 615,210,810

Nominal value per equity share Re. 1 Re. 1

Basic earnings per equity share Rs. 6.69 Rs. 5.48

*Diluted earnings per equity share Rs. 6.69 Rs. 5.47

 *Diluted EPS has been calculated after taking into account options granted to certain eligible employees as referred 

in note 3(d).

 Reconciliation of Basic and Diluted Shares used in computing earnings per share

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Number of shares considered as basic weighted average shares 
outstanding

640,971,596 614,748,262

Add: Effect of dilutive stock options  261,391 462,548

Number of shares considered as weighted average shares and 
potential shares outstanding

641,232,987 615,210,810

42. Segment Information

 The Company has only one reportable segment in terms of Accounting Standard 17 (AS 17) ‘Segment Reporting’ 

mandated by Rule 3 of the Companies (Accounting Standard) Rules 2006, which is manufacturing and sale of 

consumer products and geographical segments are insignificant.

43 Related Party disclosures :

 a) Name of related parties and nature of relationship:

  i) Subsidiary companies

Name of the Company Effective date 
for Acquisition / 
Incorporation

Holding 
Company

Country of 
incorporation

Percentage 
of ownership 
interest as at 

31st March 2013

M a r i c o  B a n g l a d e s h 
Limited (MBL)

September 6, 1999 Marico Ltd Bangladesh 90 (90)

Marico Middle East FZE 
(MME)

November 8, 2005 Marico Ltd UAE 100 (100)

–Kaya Middle East FZE 
(KME)
(Refer Note (a) below)

December 25, 2005 MME UAE 100 (100)

–MBL Industries Limited 
(MBLIL)

August 2, 2003 MME Bangladesh 100 (100)

–MEL Consumer Care SAE 
(MELCC)

October 1, 2006 MME Egypt 100 (100)

–Marico Egypt Industries 
Company (MEIC)

January 1, 2008 MELCC Egypt 100 (100)
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Name of the Company Effective date 
for Acquisition / 
Incorporation

Holding 
Company

Country of 
incorporation

Percentage 
of ownership 
interest as at 

31st March 2013

–Egyp t i an  Amer i can 
Investment & Industrial 
Development Company 
(EAIIDC)

December 19, 2006 MME Egypt 100 (100)

–Marico Malaysia Sdn. 
Bhd. (MMSB)

December 4, 2009 MME Malaysia 100 (100)

Mar i co  Sou th  A f r i ca 
Consumer Care (P ty ) 
Limited (MSACC)

October 17, 2007 Marico Ltd South Africa 100 (100)

–Marico South Africa (Pty) 
Limited (MSA)

November 1, 2007 MSACC South Africa 100 (100)

Kaya Limited March 27, 2003 Marico Ltd India 100 (100)

–Derma – Rx International 
Aesthetics Pte. Ltd. (DIAL)

May 22, 2010 Kaya 
Limited

Singapore 100 (100)

–The DRx Clinic Pte. Ltd. 
(DCPL)

May 25, 2010 DIAL Singapore 100 (100)

–The DRx Medispa Pte. 
Ltd. (DMSPL)

May 25, 2010 DIAL Singapore 100 (100)

–DRx Investments Pte. Ltd. 
(DIPL)

May 25, 2010 DIAL Singapore 100 (100)

–DRx Aesthetics Sdn. Bhd. 
(DASB)

May 25, 2010 DCPL Malaysia 100 (100)

International Consumer 
Products Corporation (ICP)

February 18, 2011 Marico Ltd Vietnam 85 (85)

–Beau te  Cosmet ique 
Societe Par Actions (BCS)

February 18, 2011 ICP 99% 
equity held 

by ICP 
(Previous 

Year : 99%)

Vietnam 84.15 (84.15)

–Thuan Phat Foodstuff 
Joint Stock company (TPF)

February 18, 2011 ICP 99.73% 
equity held 

by ICP 
(Previous 

Year: 
98.6%)

Vietnam 84.77 (84.77)

Marico Consumer Care 
Limited
(Refer Note 37)

April 20, 2012 Marico Ltd India 100 (Nil)

–Halite Personal Care 
India Private Limited (Refer 
Note 37)

May 29, 2012 MCCL India 100 (Nil)

Marico Innovation 
Foundation
(Refer Note (b) below)

March 13, 2013 Marico Ltd India N.A (Nil)

Marico Kaya Enterprises 
Limited
(Refer Note 47)

January 19, 2013 Marico Ltd India 100 (Nil)

 Note

 a) To align the shareholding in Kaya business so as to integrate the ownership under Kaya limited in view of the 

proposed de–merger of Kaya’s business from the Company (also refer Note 47), the shareholders of Marico 
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Middle East FZE (MME) at their meeting held on March 18, 2013 approved the disinvestment of 100% stake 

in Kaya Middle East FZE (KME) to Derma Rx International Aesthetics Pte. Ltd (DIAL) for a consideration of 

55,050,000 UAE Dirhams. The disinvestment was effected through a share purchase agreement between MME 

and DIAL dated February 7, 2013 and executed on March 25, 2013, subject to approval from Hamriyah Free 

Zone Authority (HFZA). Post approval it will become a subsidiary of Derma Rx International Aesthetics Pte. Ltd 

(DIAL).

 b) The Board of Directors of the Company at their meeting held on March 15, 2013, approved Marico Limited 

becoming a member of Marico Innovation Foundation (“MIF”), a company incorporated under Section 25 of 

the Companies Act, 1956 (being a private company limited by guarantee not having share capital) primarily 

with an objective of fuelling and promoting innovation in India and MIF became a wholly owned subsidiary 

of the Company with effect from the said date. Marico Limited controls the composition of the Board of MIF 

and has accordingly appointed two directors as its nominees.

  ii) Subsidiary firm :

   Wind Company. (Through MEL Consumer Care SAE)

  iii) Key management personnel (KMP) :

   Harsh Mariwala, Chairman and Managing Director

  iv) Relatives of Key management personnel :

   Rishabh Mariwala, son of Harsh Mariwala

  v) Others – Entities in which KMP has significant influence :

   The Bombay Oil Private Limited

 b) Transactions during the year

(Rs. Crore)

Particulars Subsidiaries KMP and their relative Others

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 
31, 2012

Sale of goods 109.91 158.43 – – – –
Purchase of goods 73.82 0.13 – – – –
Royalty income 6.08 7.62 – – – –

Dividend income 18.71 19.89 – – – –
Interest income 4.10 4.09 – – – –
Corporate guarantee 
commission

0.70 0.77 – – – –

Expenses paid on behalf of 
subsidiaries

21.13 10.55 – – – –

Expenses paid by 
subsidiary on behalf of 
Marico limited

0.06 – – – – –

Lease Rental Income 1.02 – – – – –
Royalty Expenses 1.27 – – – – –
Claims Settled 11.09 – – – – –
Remuneration – – 4.64 4.01 – –
Loans and advances given 170.53 63.44 – – – –
Loan repaid 76.15 66.46 – – – –
Conversion of loans into 
equity share

108.84 – – – – –
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Particulars Subsidiaries KMP and their relative Others

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 
31, 2012

Investments made during 
the year

745.80 – – – – –

Rent paid – – – – 0.08 –
Donation Given 1.71 – – – – –
Purchase of Fixed Assets 13.15 – – – – –
Sale of Fixed Assets 0.11 – – – – –
Stand by Letter of Credit 
issued to banks

69.48 51.98 – – – –

Stand by Letter of Credit 
discharged

25.44 – – – – –

Corporate guarantee 
discharged

– 58.73 – – – –

Corporate guarantee 
given to banks

17.51 – – – – –

 c) Balances as at the year end     

(Rs. Crore)

Particulars Subsidiaries KMP and their relative Others

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 
31, 2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2013

March 
31, 2012

Investment 1,236.84 382.21 – – – –

Trade payable 0.22 0.15 – – – –

Dues Payable – – – – 0.02 –

Trade receivable 17.79 21.17 – – – –

Short term loans and 
advances

142.18 19.41 – – – –

Long term loans and 
advances

46.45 156.59 – – – –

Interest accrued on loans 
and advances

0.90 1.10 – – – –

Corporate guarantees 
given to banks

113.03 88.90 – – – –

Stand–by Letter of Credit 
given to banks

181.30 169.42 – – – –

 d) Disclosure in respect of transactions which are more than 10% of the total transactions of the same type with 

related parties.

(Rs. Crore)

PARTICULAR For the year ended

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Sale of goods

Marico Bangladesh Limited 84.53 116.71

Marico Middle East FZE 22.63 40.38

Purchase of goods

Marico Egypt Industries Company 0.16 0.13

Halite Personal Care India Private Limited 73.66 –

Royalty income

Marico Bangladesh limited 3.73 3.43
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PARTICULAR For the year ended

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Marico Middle East FZE 1.79 3.70

Dividend income

Marico Bangladesh limited 18.71 19.89

Interest income

Marico South Africa Consumer Care (pty) Ltd 4.10 4.09

Corporate guarantee commission

Derma Rx International Aesthetics Pte. Ltd. 0.70 0.77

Expenses paid on behalf of subsidiaries

Marico Middle East FZE 2.26 2.01

Kaya Limited 12.71 6.54

Expenses paid by subsidiary on behalf of Marico limited

Marico Egypt Industries Company 0.06 –

Lease Rental Income

Kaya Limited 1.02 –

Royalty Expenses

Halite Personal Care India Pvt.Ltd. 1.15 –

Rent paid

The Bombay Oil Private Limited 0.08 –

Investments made during the year

Marico consumer care limited 745.70 –

Others Remuneration

Rishabh Mariwala 0.01 –

Donation Given

Marico Innovation Foundations 1.71 –

Purchase of Fixed Assets

Kaya Limited 13.15 –

Sale of Fixed Assets

Marico Bangladesh Limited 0.11 –

Conversion of loans into equity share

Kaya Limited 108.84 –

Loans and advances given

Kaya Limited 165.37 60.83

Loan and advances repaid

Kaya Limited 56.71 77.29

Stand by Letter of Credit given to banks

Marico Middle East FZE 69.48 26.79

Kaya Middle East FZE – 26.39

Stand by Letter of Credit discharged

Marico Middle East FZE 25.44 –

Corporate guarantee discharged

Derma Rx International Aesthetics Pte. Ltd. – 14.15

Marico South Africa (Pty) Limited – 44.59

Corporate guarantees given to banks

Derma Rx International Aesthetics Pte. Ltd. 17.51 –
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 e) Disclosure in respect of balances which are more than 10% of the total balances of the same type with related 

parties.

 (Rs. Crore)

PARTICULAR Balances as on

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Trade payable

Egyptian American Investment & Industrial Development Company 0.05 0.02

Marico Egypt Industries Company 0.17 0.13

Trade Receivable

Marico Bangladesh Limited 7.42 8.21

Marico Middle East FZE 8.79 12.72

Short term loans and advances

Kaya Limited 117.16 0.85

Marico Bangladesh Limited 17.85 11.07

Marico Middle East FZE 2.71 4.47

Long term loans and advances

Kaya Limited – 102.15

Marico South Africa Consumer Care (pty) Ltd 46.45 54.44

Interest accrued on loans and advances

Marico South Africa Consumer Care (pty) Ltd 0.90 1.10

Corporate guarantee given to banks

Derma Rx International Aesthetics Pte. Ltd. 105.03 80.90

Stand by Letter of Credit given to banks

Marico Middle East FZE 151.44 141.40

Kaya Middle East FZE 23.88 22.38

 f) Clause 32 disclosures

  Loans and advances in the nature of loans to subsidiaries /entity in which KMP has significant influence

March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

Loans to subsidiary: Kaya Limited*

Balance as at the year end 117.15 103.00

Maximum amount outstanding at any time during the year 117.15 115.00

*Interest free and without any repayment schedule

Loans to subsidiary: Marico South Africa Consumer Care 
(pty) Limited

Balance as at the year end 47.35 54.44

Maximum amount outstanding at any time during the year 56.02 63.65

Advances to Marico Innovation Foundation

Balance as at the year end – 0.65

Maximum amount outstanding at any time during the year 1.14 0.65

  The subsidiaries do not hold any shares in the holding company.
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44 Managerial Remuneration:

Nature of transactions: March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

Payments and provisions on account of remuneration to Chairman and 
Managing Director included in the Statement of Profit and Loss

Salary 2.97 2.60

Contribution to provident and other funds 0.34 0.30

Other perquisites 0.13 0.07

Annual performance incentives 1.20 1.04

4.64 4.01

Remuneration to non–whole time directors (including Sitting fees) 1.10 0.47

 The above remuneration to Chairman and Managing Director does not include contribution to gratuity fund and 

provision for Leave encashment, as these are lump sum amounts for all relevant employees based on actuarial 

valuation.

45 a) The Corporate Governance Committee has granted Stock Appreciation Rights (“STAR”) to certain eligible 

employees pursuant to the Company’s Employee Stock Appreciation Rights Plan, 2011 (“Plan”). The grant 

price is determined based on a formula as defined in the Plan. There are three schemes under the Plan with 

different vesting period. Under the Plan, the respective employees are entitled to receive a Star Value which 

is the excess of the maturity price over the grant price subject to fulfilment of certain conditions. The Plan is 

administered by Corporate Governance Committee comprising independent directors.

 b) Details of Star Scheme:

STAR I STAR II STAR III

Grant Date March 28, 2011 December 1, 2011 December 1, 2012 December 1, 2012

Grant Price (Rs.) 129.15 148.53 213.91 213.91

Vesting Date September 30,
2013

November 30, 
2014

November 30, 
2014

November 30, 
2015

As at March 31 As at March 31 As at March 31 As at March 31

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Number of grants 
outstanding at the 
beginning of the 
year

2,661,100 2,838,600 949,900 – – – – –

Add : Granted 
during the year

– – – 956,000 156,800 – 1,489,800 –

Less : Forfei ted 
during the year

137,700 177,500 59,000 6,100 – – 7,000 –

Less : Exercised 
during the year*

230,700 – 75,000 – – – – –

Number of grants 
at the end of the 
year

2,292,700 2,661,100 815,900 949,900 156,800 – 1,482,800 –

  *Pursuant to a resolution passed by the Corporate Governance Committee approving vesting in respect of 

certain employees.
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Rs. Crore

STAR I STAR II STAR III

As at March 31 As at March 31 As at March 31 As at March 31

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Total Provision 17.71 4.92 2.33 0.40 – – – –

Less: Accretion in 
amounts recoverable 
from the Trust (Also 
refer note (c) and (d) 
below)

10.03 – 2.33 – – – – –

Net Provision 7.68 4.92 – 0.40 – – – –

 c) The Company has formed “Welfare of Mariconians Trust” (The Trust) for the implementation of the schemes 

that are notified or may be notified from time to time by the Company under the Plan. The Company has 

advanced Rs. 76.44 Crore (Rs. 19.92 Crore) to the Trust for purchase of the Company’s shares under the Plan, 

of which Rs. 35.73 Crore is included under “Long term loans and advances” (Refer Note 15) and balance 

under “Short term loans and advances” (Refer Note 21). As per the Trust Deed and Trust Rules, upon maturity, 

the Trust shall sell the Company’s shares and hand over the proceeds to the Company. The Company, after 

adjusting the loan advanced, shall utilize the proceeds towards meeting its STAR Value obligation.

 d) The difference between the market price of the Company’s shares as at the year end and the grant price 

after adjusting for the difference between the amounts due from the Trust and the loan advanced to the Trust 

is recognised as an expense over the vesting period and accordingly an amount of Rs. 2.37 Crore (Rs. 5.30 

Crore) is charged in the Statement of Profit and Loss. The total provision of Rs 7.68 Crore (Rs. 5.32 Crore) 

as at March 31, 2013 which relates to STAR Scheme I maturing on September 30, 2013 has been disclosed 

under Short Term provision (Refer Note 11)

 e) As on March 31, 2013, the market price of the Company’s shares on the stock exchanges was lower than 

the average price at which the Trust had bought the shares under one of the STAR schemes. This has resulted 

in diminution in the recoverable value of loan advanced to the Trust. Accordingly, the Company has charged 

an amount of Rs. 0.81 Crore (Nil) to the Statement of Profit and Loss (Refer note 15).

 f) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) in January 2013 amended the SEBI (ESOS and ESPS) 

Guidelines 1999, vide which it mandated that no ESOS/ESPS schemes shall involve acquisition of securities of 

the Company from the secondary market. The Company had approached SEBI for a clarification whether the 

amendment also covered non–ESOS employee welfare trust such as WEOMA trust. SEBI had clarified that the 

clarification corrected secondary market purchases by the WEOMA Trust. Many companies, including Marico 

Limited, had made a representation to SEBI requesting SEBI to allow the employee trusts to continue holding 

the shares. After hearing the representations of these companies in a joint meeting convened by SEBI, SEBI 

had indicated that it will come out with a clarification in this matter. The Company awaits further guidance 

from SEBI.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013



156

MARICO LIMITED

46 The following table sets forth the funded status of the plan and the amounts relating to gratuity and leave encashment 

recognised in the Company’s financials:

 A. Defined Benefit plan:

Provident Fund Gratuity

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012 March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

I. Actuarial assumptions :

Discount rate 8.00% 8.50% 8.00% 8.50%

Rate of return on Plan assets* 8.50% 8.69% 8.70% 8.60%

Future salary rise** – – 12.00% 10.00%

Attrition rate 17.00% 17.00% 17.00% 17.00%

Mortality Published notes under the IC 
(1994–96) Mortality tables

Published notes under the IC 
(1994–96) Mortality tables

  *The expected rate of return on plan assets is based on expectation of the average long term rate of return 

expected on investment of the fund during the estimated term of the obligations.

  **The estimates of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation, seniority, 

promotion, and other relevant factors such as supply and demand factors in the employment market. The 

expected rate of return on plan assets is based on the current portfolio of assets, investment strategy and 

market scenario.

Provident Fund Gratuity

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012 March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

II. Changes in defined 
benefit obligations:

Liability at the beginning of 
the year

60.75 – 11.81 11.64

Interest cost 5.18 – 1.01 0.93

Current service cost 5.45 – 0.73 1.33

Employee contribution 6.87 – – –

Liability Transferred in 1.47 – – –

Liability Transferred out (0.54) – – –

Past service cost (non vested 
benefit)

– – – –

Past service cost (vested 
benefit)

– – – –

Benefits paid (7.16) – (1.40) (1.05)

Actuarial (gain)/loss on 
obligations

– – 2.46 (1.04)

Liability at the end of the year 72.02 – 14.61 11.81
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Provident Fund Gratuity

March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

III. Change in fair value of 
plan assets :

Fair value of plan assets at the 
beginning of the year

60.75 – 11.64 11.46

Expected return on plan assets 5.18 – 1.00 0.98

Contributions 12.32 – 1.11 0.63

Transfer from other Company 1.47 – – –

Transfer to other Company (0.54) – – –

Benefits paid (7.16) – (1.40) (1.05)

Actuarial gain/(loss) on plan 
assets

– – 0.14 (0.38)

Fair value of plan assets at the 
end of the year

72.02 – 12.49 11.64

Total Actuarial (gain)/loss 
to be recognised

– – 2.33 (0.66)

Provident Fund Gratuity

March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

IV. Actual return on plan 
assets :

Expected return on plan 
assets

– – 1.00 0.98

Actuarial gain/(loss) on plan 
assets

– – 0.14 (0.38)

Actual return on plan 
assets

– – 1.14 0.60

Provident Fund Gratuity

March 31, March 31,

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

2013
Rs. Crore

2012
Rs. Crore

2011
Rs. Crore

2010
Rs. Crore

2009
Rs. Crore

V. Amount recognised in 
the Balance Sheet

Liability at the end of the 
year

– – 14.61 11.81 11.64 10.57 9.56

Fair value of plan assets at 
the end of the year

72.02 59.25 12.49 11.64 11.46 11.39 9.02

Present value of benefit 
obligation as at the end of 
the period

(72.02) (59.25) – – – – –

Difference – – 2.12 0.17 0.18 (0.82) 0.54

Unrecognised past service 
Cost

– – – – – – –

(Assets) / Liability recognised 
in the Balance Sheet

– – 2.12 0.17 0.18 (0.82) 0.54
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Provident Fund Gratuity

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012 March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

VI. Percentage of each 
category of plan assets 
to total fair value of plan 
assets.

Administered by HDFC 
Standard Life Insurance / 
Kotak Gratuity Group plan

– – 95.15% 94.13%

Special deposit scheme, 
Fixed deposit scheme and 
others

2.92% 3.56% 4.85% 5.87%

Central Government 
securities

23.27% 23.56% – –

State loan/State government 
Guaranteed Securities

16.43% 18.65% – –

Public Sector Units 48.72% 47.55% – –

Private Sector Units 7.00% 6.68% – –

Others 1.66% – –

Total 100% 100.% 100% 100%

Provident Fund Gratuity

March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

VII. Expenses recognised 
in the Statement Profit and 
Loss :

Current service cost 5.45 – 0.73 1.33

Interest cost 5.18 – 1.01 0.93

Expected return on plan assets (5.18) – (1.00) (0.98)

Net actuarial (gain)/loss to be 
recognised

– – 2.33 (0.66)

Past service cost (non vested 
benefit) recognised

– – – –

Past service cost (vested 
benefit) recognised

– – – –

(Income) / Expense recognised 
in the Statement of Profit and 
Loss

5.45 – 3.07 0.62

Provident Fund Gratuity

March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

VIII. Balance Sheet 
reconciliation

Opening net liability – – 0.17 0.18

(Income) / Expense as above 5.45 – 3.06 0.62

Employers contribution (5.45) – (1.11) (0.63)

Closing net liability – – 2.12 0.17
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Gratuity

March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2011
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2010
Rs. Crore

IX. Experience Adjustments

On Plan liability (gain) / loss 1.33 (0.80) 0.17 (0.34)

On plan asset (loss) / gain 0.13 (0.38) (0.16) 1.53

  As per actuarial valuation report, expected employer’s contribution in next year is Rs. 2.89 Crore (Rs. 1.55 

Crore) for gratuity and Rs. 7.17 Crore for provident fund.

 B. Privileged leave (Compensated absence for employees):

  Amount recognised in the Balance Sheet and movements in net liability:

Particulars March 31, 2013
Rs. Crore

March 31, 2012
Rs. Crore

Opening balance of compensated absences (a) 6.20 5.57

Present value of compensated absences(As per actuary valuation) 
as at the year end (b)

8.37 6.20

(Excess)/ Unfunded liability of Compensated Absences recognised 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss for the year (b–a)

2.17 0.63

  The privileged leave liability is not funded.

 C. Defined contribution plan :

  The Company has recognised Rs. 6.32 Crore (Rs. 5.20 Crore) towards contribution to provident fund,

Rs. 0.41 Crore (Rs. 0.45 Crore) towards contribution to superannuation fund and Rs. 0.39 Crore (Rs. 0.35 

Crore) towards employee state insurance plan in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

  The informatoin in respect of Provident Fund is provided to the extent of available with the Company.

47 a) On January 7, 2013, the Board of Directors’ of Marico Limited approved a Scheme of Arrangement (the 

Scheme) for demerger of the business undertaking of Kaya (“Kaya Business”) with effect from appointed 

date, April 1, 2013 (‘the Scheme’) subject to all regulatory and statutory approvals. The Scheme envisages 

the de–merger of Kaya Business into a new company, “Marico Kaya Enterprises Limited (‘MaKE’)”, which was 

incorporated on January 19, 2013 for the purpose. As a consideration, the shareholders of Marico Limited 

as on the record date shall be issued 1 share of MaKE with a face value of Rs. 10 each for every 50 shares 

of Marico with a face value of Re. 1 each, fully paid–up. Consequently, the share holding structure of MaKE 

will mirror the share holding structure of Marico Limited.

  The management of the Company believes that the proposed de–merger will enable value creation for both 

the FMCG and Kaya businesses through focus and flexibility.

  As on March 31, 2013, Marico Ltd is the sole shareholder of MaKE. Upon the Scheme becoming effective 

and upon issue of shares by MaKE to the shareholders of Marico Limited, all the shares held by Marico Ltd 

shall stand cancelled without any payment.

  In view of the above, the investments and loans and advances pertaining to Kaya business have been considered 

as current / short–term in nature.
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 b) Details of assets and liabilities relating to the Kaya business are as follows:

Assets As at March 31, 
2013

Rs. Crore

As at March 31, 
2012

Rs. Crore

Investment 181.84 73.00

Loan & Other Receivable 117.15 103.00

Loan to Employee deputed to Kaya 0.17 0.25

Balance in fixed deposit 3.00 –

Total Asset 302.16 176.25

Liabilities As at March 31, 
2013

Rs. Crore

As at March 31, 
2012

Rs. Crore

Leave Encashment 0.49 –

Provision for Star Grant Scheme 0.53 0.33

Total Liabilities 1.02 0.33

 c) The cash flows pertaining to the Kaya Business for the year ended March 31, 2013 are as follows.

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2013

Rs. Crores

For the year ended 
March 31, 2012

Rs. Crores

Cash flows from Operating activities (2.23) 0.33

Cash flows from Investing activities (123.00) 9.92

Cash flows from Financing activities – –

 d) The Board of Directors of Kaya Ltd, at their meeting held on March 1, 2013 approved the conversion of the 

entire loan due to Marico Limited as on February 28, 2013, aggregating to Rs. 108.84 Crore, into equity 

capital. In consideration of the conversion of the outstanding loan, Kaya Ltd issued 3,348,975 Equity Shares 

of face value of Rs. 10 each at a premium of Rs. 315 per share on a rights basis to Marico Ltd vide a board 

resolution passed on March 18, 2013.

48 Previous year figures

 a) Previous year figures have been re–grouped and reclassified wherever necessary to conform to this year’s 

classification

 b) The figures in brackets represent those of the previous year.

As per our attached report of even date.

For Price Waterhouse For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants HARSH MARIWALA Chairman and Managing Director
Firm Registration No. 301112E NIKHIL KHATTAU Director and Chairman of Audit Committee
   MILIND SARWATE Group Chief Financial Officer
UDAY SHAH HEMANGI GHAG Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
Partner  
Membership No. 46061
Place : Mumbai Place : Mumbai
Date  : April 30, 2013 Date  : April 30, 2013
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